
 
A meeting of the CABINET will be held in CIVIC SUITE 0.1A 
PATHFINDER HOUSE, ST MARY'S STREET, HUNTINGDON, PE29 3TN 
on THURSDAY, 23 JUNE 2011 at 7:00 PM and you are requested to 
attend for the transaction of the following business:- 
 
 

APOLOGIES 
 
 � 

Contact 
(01480) 

1. MINUTES  (Pages 1 - 4) 
 

 

 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of 
the Cabinet held on 19th May 2011. 
 

Mrs H J Taylor 
388008 

2. MEMBERS' INTERESTS   
 

 

 To receive from Members declarations as to personal and/or 
prejudicial interests and the nature of those interests in relation 
to any Agenda item.  Please see notes 1 and 2 overleaf. 
 

 

3. CONSULTATION ON PLANNING FOR TRAVELLERS SITES 
BY THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT DEPARTMENT  (Pages 5 - 
14) 

 

 

 To receive a report by the Head of Planning on the Council’s 
response to the Government’s consultation on the draft 
planning policy statement – Planning for Travellers Sites. 
 
 

S Ingram 
388400 

4. LOCAL ENTERPRISE  PARTNERSHIP - PROPOSED 
ENTERPRISE ZONE  (Pages 15 - 16) 

 
 

 To consider a report by the Director of Environmental & 
Community Services regarding a proposal submitted to the 
Greater Cambridge – Greater Peterborough Local Enterprise 
Partnership that an area within Huntingdonshire becomes an 
Enterprise Zone. 
 

Mrs H Donnellan 
388263 

5. PRELIMINARY DRAFT COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE 
LEVY CHARGING SCHEDULE  (Pages 17 - 64) 

 
 

 By way of a report by the Head of Planning Services to 
consider a draft Community Infrastructure Levy Charging 
Schedule and to approve it as a basis for further discussion 
and consultation.  
 

S Ingram 
388400 

6. HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY  (Pages 65 - 86) 
 

 

 To consider a report by the Head of Housing Services seeking 
endorsement of the Council’s Homelessness Strategy prior to 

S Plant 
388240 



its submission to full Council. 
 

7. SHARED HOME IMPROVEMENT AGENCY SERVICES  
(Pages 87 - 90) 

 
 

 To consider a report by the Head of Housing Services 
regarding a proposal to establish a shared Home Improvement 
Agency service with Cambridge City and South 
Cambridgeshire District Council. 
 

S Plant 
388240 

8. ONE LEISURE FINANCE  (Pages 91 - 98) 
 

 

 To consider a report of the Overview and Scrutiny Panels 
(Social and Economic Well-Being) on the findings of a Working 
Group into the financial performance of One Leisure. 
 

Mrs C Bulman 
388234 

9. USE OF CONSULTANTS  (Pages 99 - 114) 
 

 

 Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Economic Well-
Being) on the findings of their Working Group on the Council’s 
use of consultants. 
 

Mrs C Bulman 
388234 

10. CONSULTATION PROCESSES  (Pages 115 - 124) 
 

 

 To consider a report by the Overview and Scrutiny (Social 
Well-Being) Panel on their Working Group’s findings of a 
review of the Council’s consultation and engagement policies, 
procedures and practices. 
 

Ms H Ali 
388006 

11. PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT  (Pages 125 - 144) 
 

 

 To consider a report by the Head of People, Performance and 
Partnerships containing details of the Council’s performance 
against its priority objectives. 
 
 
 

D Buckridge 
388065 

12. SENIOR OFFICERS' PANEL - CABINET NOTIFICATION   
 

 

 Report by the Chairman of the Senior Officers’ Panel. 
 

D Monks 
388001 

13. REPRESENTATION ON ORGANISATIONS 2011/12  (Pages 
145 - 154) 

 
 

 To consider a report by the Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services in relation to the appointment/nomination of 
representatives to serve on a variety of organisations.  
 
 

Mrs H J Taylor 
388008 

 Dated this 15 day of June 2011  



 

 

 

 Chief Executive  
 
 
Notes 
 
1.  A personal interest exists where a decision on a matter would affect to a 

greater extent than other people in the District – 
 

(a) the well-being, financial position, employment or business of the 
Councillor, their family or any person with whom they had a close 
association; 

 
 (b) a body employing those persons, any firm in which they are a 

partner and any company of which they are directors; 
 
 (c) any corporate body in which those persons have a beneficial 

interest in a class of securities exceeding the nominal value of 
£25,000; or 

 
 (d) the Councillor’s registerable financial and other interests. 
 
2. A personal interest becomes a prejudicial interest where a member of 

the public (who has knowledge of the circumstances) would reasonably 
regard the Member’s personal interest as being so significant that it is 
likely to prejudice the Councillor’s judgement of the public interest. 

 
 
Please contact Mrs H Taylor, Senior Democratic Services Officer, Tel No. 
01480 388008/e-mail Helen.Taylor@huntingdonshire.gov.uk /e-mail:   if 
you have a general query on any Agenda Item, wish to tender your 
apologies for absence from the meeting, or would like information on 
any decision taken by the Cabinet. 
Specific enquiries with regard to items on the Agenda should be directed 
towards the Contact Officer.  
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting as observers 
except during consideration of confidential or exempt items of business. 
 
 

Agenda and enclosures can be viewed on the District Council’s website – 
www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk (under Councils and Democracy). 

 
 

If you would like a translation of 
Agenda/Minutes/Reports or would like a  

large text version or an audio version  
please contact the Democratic Services Manager 



and we will try to accommodate your needs. 
 
 

Emergency Procedure 
In the event of the fire alarm being sounded and on the instruction of the 
Meeting Administrator, all attendees are requested to vacate the building via 
the closest emergency exit. 

 



HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 
 MINUTES of the meeting of the CABINET held in the Civic Suite 

0.1A, Pathfinder House, St Mary's Street, Huntingdon, PE29 3TN on 
Thursday, 19 May 2011. 

   
 PRESENT: Councillor J D Ablewhite – Chairman. 
   
  Councillors B S Chapman, J A Gray, 

N J Guyatt, T V Rogers and T D Sanderson. 
   
 
 
 
1. MINUTES   
 
 The Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 21st April 2011 

were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

2. MEMBERS' INTERESTS   
 
 No declarations were received. 

 
3. APPOINTMENT OF EXECUTIVE COUNCILLORS   
 
 RESOLVED 

 
(a) that executive responsibilities for the Municipal Year 

2011/12 be allocated as follows:- 
 
Strategic Economic 
Development 

Councillor J D Ablewhite 
Strategic Planning and 
Housing 

Councillor N J Guyatt 
Healthy and Active 
Communities 

Councillor T D 
Sanderson 

Environment Councillor J A Gray 
Resources and 
Customer Services 

Councillor T V Rogers 
Organisational 
Development 

Councillor B S Chapman 
 
 

(b) that the Leader of the Council be appointed to serve as ex-
officio Member of the Employment Panel; and 
 

(c) that Executive Councillors be appointed to serve as ex 
officio Members of the Panels as follows: 
 
Executive Councillor for 
Resources and Customer 
Services 

Corporate Governance 

Executive Councillor for 
Strategic Planning and 
Housing 

Development 
Management Panel. 

Agenda Item 1

1



Executive Councillor for 
Healthy and Active 
Communities 

Licensing and Protection 
Panel/ Licensing 
Committee. 

 
 

4. HINCHINGBROOKE COUNTRY PARK JOINT GROUP   
 
 RESOLVED 

 
that Councillors M G Baker, Mrs M Banerjee, N J Guyatt and 
R J West be appointed to serve on the Hinchingbrooke 
Country Park Joint Group for the ensuing Municipal Year.  

 
5. HUNTINGDONSHIRE TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT AREA JOINT 

COMMITTEE   
 
 RESOLVED 

 
that Councillors S Akthar, M G Baker, D B Dew, N J Guyatt, R 
B Howe and Mrs P Longford be appointed to serve on the 
Huntingdonshire Traffic Management Area Joint Committee 
for the ensuing Municipal Year. 

 
6. DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICY ADVISORY GROUP   
 
 RESOLVED 

 
that Councillors P L E Bucknell, W T Clough, D B Dew, N J 
Guyatt, Mrs P Longford, P Swales and A H Williams be 
appointed to serve on the Development Plan Policy Advisory 
Group for the ensuing Municipal Year. 

 
7. MEMBER DEVELOPMENT WORKING GROUP   
 
 RESOLVED 

 
 that Councillors S Cawley, P J Downes, N J Guyatt, A 
Hansard, P D Reeve, R G Tuplin be appointed to serve on the 
Member Development Group for the ensuing Municipal Year. 

 
8. SAFETY ADVISORY GROUP   
 
 RESOLVED 

 
that Councillors Mrs B Boddington, J W Davies, A Hansard, 
Mrs P A Jordan and T V Rogers be appointed to serve on the 
Safety Advisory Group for the ensuing Municipal Year. 

 
9. DEMOCRATIC STRUCTURE WORKING GROUP   
 
 RESOLVED 

 
that the Democratic Structure Working Group remain in 
abeyance until further notice. 

 

2



10. APPOINTMENT OF DISTRICT COUNCILLORS TO 
NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUMS   

 
 RESOLVED 

 
that the following appointments to the five neighbourhood 
panels/forums be approved for the remainder of the Municipal 
Year:- 
 
Huntingdon   - Councillor S Akthar 
North West Hunts - Councillor E R Butler 
Ramsey   - Councillor P L E Bucknell 
St Ives   - Councillor J W Davies 
St Neots  - Councillor R S Farrer 

 
 

11. ST NEOTS EASTERN EXPANSION STEERING GROUP   
 
 RESOLVED 

 
that Councillors D B Dew, R S Farrer, A Hansard, Mrs P 
Longford, P K Ursell and S M Van De Kerkhove be appointed 
to serve on the St Neots Eastern Expansion Steering Group 
for the ensuing Municipal Year. 

 
12. ST IVES WEST DEVELOPMENT WORKING GROUP   
 
 RESOLVED 

 
that the Councillors D B Dew, Mrs J Dew, J W Davies and A H 
Williams be appointed to serve on the St Ives West 
Development Working Group for the ensuing Municipal Year. 

 
13. RAF BRAMPTON DEVELOPMENT WORKING GROUP   
 
 RESOLVED 

 
that Councillors S Cawley, D B Dew, Mrs P A Jordan and M F 
Shellens be appointed to serve on the RAF Brampton Working 
Group for the ensuing Municipal Year. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 
 

3



4

This page is intentionally left blank



           
COMT     7th June 2011 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY                                                   14th June 2011 
CABINET                23rd June 2011 
 
 

DRAFT PPS – PLANNING FOR TRAVELLER SITES 
(Report by Head of Planning Services) 

 
 
1.   INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Members about and to recommend a 

Council response to the Government’s ‘Planning for Traveller Sites’ 
consultation – responses are due by 6th July 2011. A Member seminar on 
this issue was held on 24th May 2011.   

 
1.2 A response to the consultation is considered necessary as the document 

proposes, and would set the framework for, new Government policy on all 
traveller site issues.  As Members may be aware the Council had 
commenced preparatory work on a Gypsy and Traveller Sites DPD, but 
decided last year that work should be put in abeyance until Government 
policy on this most important local issue had been clarified. 

 
1.3 The matter is of significance to this Council given the widespread community 

concern that has already arisen regarding potential traveller sites. Two recent 
decisions by the Planning Inspectorate have also overturned the Council’s 
refusal of two planning applications, thereby allowing 2 permanent pitches 
near Somersham and 11 pitches on a temporary basis near Bluntisham.  

 
2.   BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 This draft Planning Policy Statement (PPS) was released for consultation on 

13th April 2011.  The Secretary of State Eric Pickles, had in August 2010 
indicated that government would seek to revoke what it regarded as ‘flawed 
guidance’ on travellers and the DCLG website stated that the all the existing 
policy statements would be replaced with new ‘light touch guidance’.  

 
2.2 The draft PPS is described in the material accompanying the draft as the 

promised ‘light touch guidance’.  It has been prepared in advance of any 
other part of a new National Planning Policy Framework, which is scheduled 
to be consulted on this year and completed by April 2012. The introduction 
to the draft PPS says that the policy will eventually be incorporated into 
the Framework although it is not clear how this will be achieved.  

 
2.3 The Government has also announced other measures as part of a package to 

ensure “fair treatment” of those in traveller and settled communities including: 
 

� allowing for traveller sites in the New Homes Bonus scheme, to 
incentivise local planning authorities to provide appropriate sites  

� resuming traveller site provision grant funding from April 2011  
� setting up a cross-Government, ministerial-level working group to 

address the discrimination and poor social outcomes experienced by 
traveller communities  

 
 

Agenda Item 3

5



3.   SUMMARY ISSUES 
 
3.1 The package of measures put forward by the Government recognises the 

significant issues raised by traveller sites and identifies a way forward in 
addressing them. Comments are required on the draft PPS in order to 
suggest improvements to it.    

  
3.2 The style of the draft PPS is one of ‘sparse policy’ with little in the way of 

explanatory text.  It replaces Circular 01/2006 on Gypsies and Travellers and 
Circular 04/2007 on Travelling Showpeople which together total over 50 
pages of advice, with a PPS of less than 10 pages (although the consultation 
document is in total 88 pages).  As a PPS it may be assumed to have a 
greater status, and carry more weight, than that of circulars although this 
effect is not discussed in the consultation document. 

 
3.3 Much of the guidance is the same as that which exists in the current circulars 

although differences arise given the proposed abolition of the regional spatial 
strategies (RSS) via the Localism Bill.  The draft PPS sets out how Councils 
should plan for traveller sites in light of the loss of the previously specific 
RSS policy and targets.  

 
3.4 It is proposed to define ‘travellers’ as including Gypsies and Travellers and 

Travelling Showpeople using definitions as they exist in the circulars.  As 
these definitions have caused some problems it is recommended that this 
Council suggest that amendments are made to make the definition more 
workable in the difficult real world situations that LPAs have to deal with. 

 
3.5 The current circulars refer to Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs 

Assessments (GTANA) as required to form an evidence base of need for 
traveller sites.  Although GTANA are still required under the Housing Act 
2004 (and indeed Huntingdonshire District Council is co-operating with other 
Councils in preparing an updated GTANA under that Act), the draft PPS 
provides more flexibility in identifying what evidence is required to establish 
what is the local need for traveller sites.  This increased flexibility is 
welcomed. 

 
3.6 The setting of targets based on ‘local need in the context of historical 

demand’ is also broadly supported, however the suggested new requirement 
for Councils to identify a ‘five year supply’ of traveller sites as is required for 
other forms of housing is considered inappropriate. Requiring a ‘five year 
supply’ implies identifying sites in advance and monitoring them which is 
problematic in that suitable sites are not often put forward (unlike market 
housing sites) and it is likely to be difficult to get adequate monitoring 
information.  

 
3.7 The proposed sanction for Councils not identifying a ‘five year supply’ is that 

applications for temporary traveller sites are to be ‘considered favourably’. 
This is opposed in that it has the potential to result in poorly located sites 
which will in reality be very difficult to relocate. The new requirement for a 
‘five year supply’ and the sanction of potentially having to approve 
applications if there is not such a supply does not seem to meet the 
Government’s aim of having light touch guidance.  

 
3.8 One of the Government’s stated intentions is to protect the Green Belt.  The 

proposal is to amend the phrasing from that in the circulars with the intention 
of providing greater protection. It is questionable whether the draft PPS 
achieves its aim, but as Huntingdonshire does not have any Green Belt, the 

6



key concern with this is the explicit implication that other areas of ‘open 
countryside’ are therefore preferable (and acceptable) locations. 

 
 
4.  RECOMMENDATION 
 
4.1 It is recommended that the responses to the formal consultation questions as 

set out in Appendix A be endorsed as the formal response of this Council to 
the consultation on the draft PPS: Planning for Traveller Sites. 

 
Appendix A:  Response to Consultation Questions  
 
Background Information 
 
The consultation document is available on the DCLG website under Travellers: 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/travellersi
tesconsultation 
 
Progress on the Gypsy and Traveller Sites DPD and the SHLAA to date is on the 
Council’s website under Planning Policy: 
http://www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/Environment%20and%20Planning/Plan
ning/Planning%20Policy/Pages/Gypsy%20and%20Traveller%20Sites%20D
PD.aspx 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER - enquiries about this report to Steve Ingram, Head of 
Planning Services, on 01480 388400 
 

7



APPENDIX A 
RESPONSE TO DRAFT PPS: PLANNING FOR TRAVELLER SITES 
 
 
1. Do you agree that the current definitions of “gypsies and travellers” and 

”travelling showpeople” should be retained in the new policy?  
 

No. While the current definition of ‘travelling showpeople’ is accepted, the 
current definition of ‘gypsies and travellers’ causes difficulties in the 
context of any planning application as it can exclude ethnic Gypsies who 
have a reasonable desire to return to living in a caravan, while potentially 
allowing applications to be made by speculative developers. The definition 
should be changed to one which is more workable and easier to interpret 
in real world situations. 

 
The interpretation of the current definition by the Planning Inspector in the 
recent appeal approval APP/H0520/A/09/2104200 in respect of two 
pitches near Somersham concluded that one of the intended occupants 
and his family did not fit the definition. This was because he had set up a 
local business and bought a house some years previously and therefore 
did not have a nomadic way of life.  However, he was a Romany Gypsy, it 
was noted that he often travels to reach pre-arranged work laying 
decorative concrete driveways, and he had a clear desire to live on a 
caravan site which was related to his ethnicity.  The interpretation taken in 
this appeal decision may differ from that taken by other inspectors and 
could be considered counter-intuitive when the person would in other 
circumstances be identified as a Gypsy.   

 
In the evidence base for the draft PPS (page 49) it is noted that: ‘Although 
some Gypsies and Travellers travel for some of the year, the vast majority 
do not now travel on a daily basis all year round. Increasingly, as 
traditional seasonal work has declined, Gypsies and Travellers have 
adapted to permanent residential sites where they can more easily access 
a doctor, schools and other services and employment whilst maintaining 
the cultural traditions of being a Gypsy or Traveller’. The definition should 
recognise this evidence and allow people who are ethnically Gypsy to 
return to living on a caravan site where they have a family history of living 
on such sites.   
 
The burden of proof should be on applicants that they are Gypsies or 
Travellers and that they need to live on a caravan site in accordance with 
other legislation which protects the rights of these groups. The following 
suggested definition is adapted from the current definition and that in the 
Housing Regulations 2006: 

 
 (a) Persons who can supply evidence of their recent cultural tradition of 

nomadism involving living in a caravan; and 
(b) All other persons who can supply evidence of a nomadic habit of life, 
whatever their race or oirigin, including: 

i. Such persons who, on grounds only of their own or their family’s or 
dependent’s educational or health needs or old age, have ceased to 
travel temporarily or permanently; and 

ii. Members of an organised group of travelling showpeople or circus 
people (whether or not travelling together as such) 

 
  

8



2. Do you support the proposal to remove specific reference to Gypsy and 
Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessments in the new policy and 
instead refer to a “robust evidence base”?  

 
Yes. Councils should be able to decide for themselves what evidence is 
necessary to support its development plan documents.  Gypsy and 
Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessments (GTANA) may not be the 
only evidence used to identify what provision should be made for Gypsies 
and Travellers in a district or city.  Omitting specific reference enables 
appropriate flexibility as GTANA are prepared under the Housing Act 2004 
and the requirements for them could be subject to change if that 
legislation changed. Nevertheless, a GTANA to update the existing 2006 
needs assessment for this area is currently being prepared in 
Cambridgeshire. It is accepted that GTANA might remain the most 
relevant part of an evidence base if produced well and kept up to date.    

 
3. Do you agree that where need has been identified, local planning 

authorities should set targets for the provision of sites in their local 
planning policies?  

 
Yes, with qualifications. It would be perverse to ignore need that the local 
planning authority identifies.  However, there should be no requirement 
that sites be allocated in a DPD sufficient to meet a target, as instead the 
target may be met over time as ‘windfall’ planning applications come 
forward. 

 
4. Do you think that local planning authorities should plan for “local need in 

the context of historical demand”?  
 

Yes, with qualifications. This authority has consistently put forward the 
view that it should plan to meet its own local need in relation to the 
expressed needs of the Gypsy and Traveller population with defined local 
connections. However, it is possible that this will be defined in different 
ways by different authorities.  The occasional roadside encampment 
having occurred in the past, for example, is not considered to be sufficient 
to suggest that historically there is a need to provide permanent 
residential sites in an area.  

 
5. Do you agree with the proposal to require local planning authorities to 

plan for a five year supply of traveller pitches/plots?  
 

No.  The current system of planning a five year supply of housing sites 
against a target is feasible because authorities can choose from a wide 
range of areas put forward by developers which are available and 
deliverable.  Such areas are usually logical extensions of existing 
urbanised areas, and are therefore more readily accepted by the general 
public.   

 
Traveller sites are different to other housing sites.  The local authority is 
not able to choose from a wide range of areas put forward (in this 
authority very few sites have been put forward despite calls for sites).  Any 
proposed sites will be controversial and the logic of choosing one site 
above another may not be immediately obvious, even if it follows 
accepted sustainability appraisal techniques.  

 
While this authority has considered publicly-owned land stocks and major 
development areas as possible sources of land for traveller sites (in 

9



accordance with Circular 01/2006), suggesting that such land be used has 
been controversial.  This authority welcomes the omission of any specific 
reference in this draft PPS to the need to consider such areas and to the 
possibility of compulsory purchase. However the implication is now that 
only sites which come forward from willing landowners should be 
considered. 

 
Whether all the sites that come forward will realistically be deliverable is a 
matter that is likely to lead to considerable debate, further delaying the 
prospects of establishing a five year supply. 

 
Monitoring a five year supply requires considerable work in gathering 
evidence of completions and forecasts of future building rates for an 
annual monitoring report.  Gathering such information for traveller sites is 
likely to be much less straightforward than with major landowners. 

 
As stated in answer to Question 3, a target for traveller sites should be 
addressed in a DPD but it should not be necessary to allocate sufficient 
sites to meet the target as sites may be found over time as planning 
applications come forward, and there may be insufficient numbers of good 
sites put forward at the plan-making stage. What is more important is for 
the DPD to have a strategy with appropriate policies regarding how the 
target is likely to be met. Monitoring could be undertaken in relation to the 
target without the detail required for a five year supply to be evidenced. 
 
Overall it is considered that this proposal to have a rolling five year supply 
would be a considerable additional ‘top-down’ requirement on Councils 
and does not meet the Government’s objective of being ‘light-touch’. 

 
6. Do you agree that the proposed wording of Policy E (in the draft policy) 

should be included to ensure consistency with Planning Policy Guidance 
2: Green Belts?  

 
No.  Green Belt policy is currently contained in PPG2 and is likely to be 
changed in future in accordance with the government’s intention to 
replace all policy guidance with a new National Planning Policy 
Framework.  Including reference to the Green Belt in this PPS has the 
potential to introduce inconsistencies, rather than ensuring consistency. 

 
Green Belts have historically been defined as a means of preventing 
urban sprawl.  It should be noted that many Green Belts already contain 
established traveller sites as well as other individual uses and areas of 
previously developed land.  Areas within Green Belts may not be 
especially sensitive from a landscape point of view, and indeed may 
‘score’ well in any sustainability appraisal when compared to other 
available land in a district having regard to distances to services and other 
environmental factors.  Extending an existing traveller site in a Green Belt 
or providing for an additional site may be a sustainable way of providing 
for local need. The situation is significantly different from housing in the 
Green Belt which could lead to the urban sprawl that Green Belts are 
drawn up to avoid. Pragmatically, it may also be necessary for Councils 
with large areas of Green Belt to provide for the locally needed traveller 
sites within the Green Belt as their choices are limited.   

 
Although this authority does not have any Green Belt, it does have 
substantial areas of high quality open countryside. Draft Policy C indicates 
that in rural or semi-rural settings, local authorities should ensure that the 

10



scale of the site does not dominate the nearest settled community and 
Policy H reiterates this while adding that local authorities should avoid 
placing an undue pressure on the local infrastructure. While there is scope 
for additional local policy, there may be a need to strengthen the PPS as it 
should not be inferred that traveller sites are preferable in countryside that 
is particularly environmentally or landscape sensitive than sites in Green 
Belt which are not sensitive.   

 
7. Do you agree with the general principle of aligning planning policy on 

traveller sites more closely with that on other forms of housing?  
 

Yes, with qualifications.  The specific needs of Romany Gypsies, Irish 
Travellers and Travelling Showpeople are such that there is a significant 
difference in the type of accommodation sought compared to other forms 
of housing. However, it is accepted that as a general principle planning 
policies should apply to all.  

 
8. Do you agree with the new emphasis on local planning authorities 

consulting with settled communities as well as traveller communities when 
formulating their plans and determining individual planning applications to 
help improve relations between the communities?  

 
Yes. This authority seeks, as a matter of good practice, to consult with 
settled communities as well as traveller communities. 

 
9. Do you agree with the proposal in the transitional arrangements policy 

(paragraph 26 in the draft policy) for local planning authorities to “consider 
favourably” planning applications for the grant of temporary permission if 
they cannot demonstrate an up-to-date five year supply of deliverable 
traveller sites, to ensure consistency with Planning Policy Statement 3: 
Housing?  

 
No.  The draft PPS does not examine the issues surrounding temporary 
permissions which have been granted following the guidance set out in 
Circular 01/2006.  Temporary permissions tend to provide neither the 
security sought by the occupants, nor the environmental outcomes sought 
by the surrounding settled communities. Conditions requiring the standard 
of landscaping expected in respect of a permanent permission, for 
example, may not be able to be imposed.  The Council is also faced with 
the difficulty at the end of the temporary period of ‘ensuring’ relocation and 
the practical reinstatement of the site.  For this authority, of the 17 pitches 
which have been granted temporary permission and implemented in 
accordance with Circular 01/2006, 5 pitches have had their temporary 
permission renewed before the expiry date (the remaining sites have not 
yet reached their expiry date) and no sites have relocated.  A recent 
appeal decision APP/H0520/A/09/2117105 allows for 11 more temporary 
pitches in what the inspector considers to be a generally unsustainable 
location without any recognition of the fact that after families have 
established themselves on the site, any proposed relocation will raise 
substantial obvious issues. 

 
As stated in answer to Question 5, this authority does not agree with the 
proposal to have to demonstrate a five year supply and therefore this 
scenario need not apply. 

 
Decisions should be made on all planning applications based on their 
particular merits and there should not be any suggestion that temporary 

11



applications should be ‘considered favourably’.  Such a phrase could be 
seen to be providing travellers with special rights in a similar way to 
Circular 01/2006 which states that ‘susbstantial weight’ should be given to 
unmet need when considering temporary permission. Arguably the 
proposed wording is more likely to result in the grant of permissions than 
that in the current Circular. The inclusion of this phrase is not considered 
to be consistent with Planning Policy Statement 3 on Housing as there is 
nothing in that PPS relating to temporary permissions in the same way, 
and the consideration of all other housing applications is done in the 
context of all the relevant policies. Suggesting that there will be situations 
where temporary applications will, in effect, be approved even if they are 
deficient, will maintain rather than dispel the ‘widespread perception that 
the system is unfair and that it is easier for one group of people to gain 
planning permission’ referred to in the Ministerial foreword to this draft 
PPS. 

 
10. Under the transitional arrangements, do you think that six months is the 

right time local planning authorities should be given to put in place their 
five year land supply before the consequences of not having done so 
come into force?  

 
No.  Local planning authorities will not be able to identify a five year land 
supply within 6 months. The process of identifying a target will require the 
production of new evidence in accordance with the finalised PPS and 
consideration of this through a DPD process.  As stated in answer to 
Question 5, this authority does not agree with the proposal to have to 
demonstrate a five year supply.  If the Government decides to pursue this, 
two years is a minimum timescale for delivering a DPD which will be 
subject to intense public scrutiny. 

 
11. Do you have any other comments on the transitional arrangements?  
 

No. 
 
12. Are there any other ways in which the policy can be made clearer, shorter 

or more accessible?  
 

In addition to the matters raised earlier, this authority is concerned at the 
parts of the draft PPS which indicate that local connections should not be 
considered (apart from in respect of land that would be managed by a 
Registered Social Landlord). This means that while a target will be based 
on local need that sites may be taken by other travellers thereby leaving 
those that the target was identified to cater for potentially without sites.    

 
Policy F and Policy H are also of concern in that they imply that business 
use should be provided for on many if not all traveler sites.  These should 
also be re-phrased to make it clear that decisions can be made allowing 
for a residential traveller pitch with no provision for business use where 
business is inappropriate on the site due to its location or environmental 
constraints.  
 
The Council also notes that this policy is meant to be incorporated into the 
new National Planning Policy Framework but it is not clear how this will be 
done.  The policy would be clearer, shorter and more accessible if it is 
part of the Framework rather than a stand-alone addition. 

 
___________________________________________________________ 

12



CABINET                23rd June 2011 
 
 

DRAFT PPS – PLANNING FOR TRAVELLER SITES 
(Report by the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Environmental Well-Being)) 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1 At its meeting held on 14th June 2011, the Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

(Environmental Well-Being) considered the report by the Head of Planning 
Services containing a recommended response to the Government’s 
‘Planning for Traveller Sites’ consultation. This report summarises the 
Panel’s discussions. 

 
2. THE PANEL’S DISCUSSIONS 
 
2.1 The Panel has reviewed the proposed responses to the questions posed in 

the consultation document. In doing so, Members have discussed whether 
the same test of sustainability should be applied to travellers’ sites and 
other housing sites. While they recognize public interest in applying 
planning requirements consistently, it may be the case that travellers 
regard sustainability differently owing to the fact that, by definition, they are 
inclined to travel, for example, for work purposes. In addition, Members 
have commented on the need for a more appropriate site operating model 
to be used. In particular, they are of the view that the new model should 
take into account how they address the issue of “separation” from the 
perspectives of both travellers and communities. Members have also 
supported the idea that sites should be limited in their size. It has been 
suggested that the Deputy Leader should make reference to these matters 
in any separate submission he may make to the Government. 

 
2.2 Members have discussed a range of other issues relating to the provision 

of sites for travelers. As a result they have expressed an interest in 
receiving a report on the methodology that will be employed to determine 
travellers’ needs and demand for sites. They have also accepted a 
suggestion that they should discuss the methodology with the County 
Council’s research Officer who will be responsible for conducting the 
assessment. 

 
4. RECOMMENDATION 
 
4.1 The Cabinet is requested to take into consideration the views of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Environmental Well-Being) as set out 
above when considering this item. 

 
 
Contact Officer: A Roberts, Scrutiny and Review Manager 

01480 388015 

13



14

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 This report is tabled in anticipation of the Greater Cambridge – Greater Peterborough Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP), taking the Alconbury site forward as its preferred option for an 
Enterprise Zone.  Alconbury is one of 5 proposed sites under consideration by the LEP with 
only one being taken forward to the national competition at the end of June 2011. 
 

1.2 The Government announced the establishment of 21 Enterprise Zones in the 2011 Budget. 
11 of these zones are earmarked for specific LEP areas; the remaining 10 will be allocated 
through a competitive process. LEPs will be able to apply for these with agreement from their 
constituent partners. 

  
 
2. THE ENTERPRISE ZONE 

 
2.1 Enterprise Zones will benefit from: 
 

• A 100% business rate discount worth up to £275,000 over a five year period, 
for businesses that move into an Enterprise Zone during the course of this 
Parliament; 

• All business rates growth within the zone for a period of at least 25 years will 
be retained and shared by the local authorities in the LEP area to support 
their economic priorities; 

• Government and local authority help to develop radically simplified planning 
approaches in the zone; and 

• Government support to ensure superfast broadband is rolled out in the zone. 
This will be achieved through guaranteeing the most supportive planning 
environment and, if necessary, public funding. 

 
2.2 The Alconbury proposal is for a 150 hectare zone offering a mixture of transformational 

employment uses which will, in simple planning terms, comprise a broad mix of B1 and B2 
employment space.  The emphasis will be upon research and development, technology and 
innovation with key knowledge based sectors particularly targeted such as biotech and life 
science, ICT, advanced manufacturing and engineering. Incubator space for start-up 
businesses and move on space for small businesses will also be created to meet current 
unmet demand. 

 
3. CONCLUSION 
 

3.1   Alconbury Airfield is a considerable land resource in single ownership strategically located at 
the heart of the LEP Area. Its entrepreneurial owners are prepared to invest long term in the 
redevelopment of the site and the introduction of highly sustainable infrastructure.  The 
designation of part of the site as an Enterprise Zone would accelerate and enhance the 
delivery of a strategic growth location within the LEP area and maximise the available returns 
to the local community.  Additionally, the success of this Enterprise Zone designation would 
provide the basis for further growth and interest within the region.   

COMT 
CABINET 

7th June 2011 
23rd June 2011 

 
 

Local Enterprise Partnership ~ Proposed Enterprise Zone 
(Report by the Director of Environmental & Community Services) 

 

Agenda Item 4

15



 
4. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Cabinet is asked to endorse the decision of the LEP to put Alconbury forward to 
Government as its preferred Enterprise Zone  
 
 
Contact Officer: Helen Donnellan Communications & Partnerships 

Manager 
 �     01480 388263 
 

16



        
 
COMT     7th June 2011 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY                                                   14th June 2011 
CABINET                23rd June 2011 
 
 

PRELIMINARY DRAFT  
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)  

CHARGING SCHEDULE  
(Report by Head of Planning Services) 

 
 
1.   INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to introduce the Council’s proposed Preliminary 

Draft  Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (see Appendix 
1) to Cabinet, and seek approval for it to be issued for 6 weeks public 
consultation in Summer 2011. 

 
2.   BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Government introduced the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) in April 

2010 in order to provide for a more equitable scheme for development 
contributions to local infrastructure provision.  CIL enables local authorities to 
make a charge on most new developments to help meet a proportion of the 
costs of identified District wide community infrastructure.  

 
2.2 Local authorities can choose to prepare a CIL Charging Schedule, consult on 

it, and submit it for independent examination prior to 2014 when changes will 
be made to restrict the extent to which the existing Planning Obligations / 
Section 106 Agreement processes will come into force.   

 
2.3 It is intended that the Huntingdonshire CIL Charging Schedule will come into 

effect in Spring 2012, following widespread consultation through the 
remainder of 2011, and an independent examination.  From that point the 
District Council will be able to make a charge on most new development 
including all new dwellings, very large household extensions, and 
employment and retail development. 

 
2.4 The proposed CIL charges that will form the basis of the consultation are 

calculated per square metre of net new floorspace created as follows: 
 
 

Proposed Charge 
Residential  (including C2, 
C3 and C4) 

£98 per square metre 
Office (B1) £0 per square metre 
General Industrial, Storage 
& Distribution ( B2 and B8) 

£0 per square metre 
Hotel (C1) £75 per square metre 
Retail < 1,000 sq m1 (A1/ 
A2 / A3 /A4 / A5) 

£50 per square metre 
Retail > 999 sq m2  (A1/ A2 
/ A3 /A4 / A5) 

£140 per square metre 

                                                
1 DCLG Development Control PS 1/2 statistical definition 2007/8 

Agenda Item 5

17



Community Uses (including 
D1 and D2) 

£0 per square metre 
Sui – Generis £0 per square metre 

 
 
2.5 Small household extensions (below 100 square metres of net additional 

space), community development and developments by charities are exempt 
from CIL along with the development of affordable housing.  

 
3.   SUMMARY OF ISSUES 
 
3.1 The introduction CIL in Huntingdonshire will spread the requirement for 

developer contributions more fairly across most new development.  At 
present, through the Planning Obligations / Section 106 Agreement process, 
only a proportion of new development makes any form of developer 
contribution. 

 
3.2 The proposed CIL charges have been subject to rigorous viability testing so 

the District Council can be confident at examination that it is proposing the 
appropriate level of charge across the District.  The charges will be uniform 
across the District.  

 
3.3 CIL will not generate sufficient funding to pay for all of the District’s major 

infrastructure needs, which are identified on a CIL Projects List, and costed 
at over £1,800 million to 2026.  Therefore, there will need to be a process of 
governance, prioritisation and working with other infrastructure providers to 
identify how CIL is spent.  Huntingdonshire District Council has an 
infrastructure role concerning a number of aspects including open spaces, 
recreation and sports, environmental improvements, economic regeneration 
and community facilities.  The other main infrastructure providers are 
Cambridgeshire County Council (education, transport, libraries and waste), 
the National Health Service (health facilities), Emergency Services, Skills 
Development (Huntingdonshire Regional College) and Utilities providers.    

 
3.4 Planning Obligations / Section 106 Agreements will still be able to be used, 

but in a restricted way.  The proposed approach in Huntingdonshire is to 
retain S106 for particular site specific elements including affordable housing, 
provision of land for open space, and site related highways improvements.  
They will also be used at the District’s strategic large scale major 
development areas (over 200 dwellings) such as St Neots East, St Ives West 
and RAF Brampton.  The scale of these developments is such that they 
generate their own major infrastructure requirements, e.g. new schools. In all 
cases, Section 106 agreements will be used in conjunction with CIL, so most 
developments will pay for both elements. 

 
3.5 As part of the emerging Decentralisation and Localism Bill there will be a 

requirement on authorities that collect CIL to ensure that a meaningful 
proportion of the funds collected are available for use by Town and Parish 
Councils.  It is understood that the Government will issue further information 
on this element in coming months. 

 
3.6 The District Council will be the collecting authority for CIL, and will have a key 

role as the banker and distributor for the collected funds. There will also be a 
significant project management role in ensuring that CIL funded projects are 
developed and implemented efficiently. The corporate governance and 

                                                                                                                            
2 DCLG Development Control PS 1/2 statistical definition 2007/8 

18



operational processes needed to underpin this role are currently being 
considered and will be reported at a future date. 

 
3.7 The Preliminary Draft Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging 

Schedule will be accompanied by a new Draft Developer Contributions 
Supplementary Planning Document that explains the interactions between 
CIL and Section 106 Agreements.  This will be authorised for consultation by 
the Executive Member for Planning and Housing and will be released for 
consultation at the same time as the Preliminary Draft CIL Charging 
Schedule.  The SPD is still being finalised and will come forward in due 
course. 

 
4.  CONSULTATION PROCESS 
 
4.1 The Preliminary Draft Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging 

Schedule will be consulted on widely through a number of means: 
 

• Email to all local planning authorities adjoining the district, the county 
council, parish/town councils, partner consultees, infrastructure providers 
and other organisations and individuals subscribed to the Limehouse 
consultation system 

• Notification to Town Centre Partnerships and business networks 
• Notification to voluntary / community networks 
• Notification at the Neighbourhood Forum meetings 
• Notification to the Local Strategic Partnership 
• Notification to the Local Enterprise Partnership 

 
4.2 The document will also be available for anyone to access at: 
 

• public libraries across the district 
• Customer Service Centres across the district 

 
4.3 Details regarding the consultation will also be made available through a local 

press release.   
 
5. RECOMMENDATION 
 
5.1 It is recommended that: 
 

a) Cabinet approves the Preliminary Draft Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) Charging Schedule for 6 weeks public consultation in Summer 
2011. 

b) the Head of Planning Services be authorised to make any minor 
consequential amendments to the text and supporting documentation, 
after consultation with the Executive Councillor for Strategic Planning and 
Housing. 

 
Appendix A:  Preliminary Draft Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging 
Schedule  
 
Background Papers 
 
• Huntingdonshire Local Investment Framework 2009 
• Core Strategy 2009 
• Huntingdonshire Market Report, August 2010 

19



• Huntingdonshire Viability Testing of Community Infrastructure Levy 
Charges Report, 2011 

• Huntingdonshire Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule Project Plan List 
 
CONTACT OFFICER - enquiries about this report to Steve Ingram, Head of 
Planning Services, on 01480 388400 
 

20



Huntingdonshire Community
Infrastructure Levy - Preliminary

Draft Charging Schedule
Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdonshire Community Infrastructure Levy - Preliminary Draft Charging

Schedule

1
21



1Introduction1

3Policy Background2

9Implementing the Charging Schedule.3

12Next Steps4

Appendices

13Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule1

16Infrastructure Needs2

18Assessment of Viability3

Contents
Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdonshire Community Infrastructure Levy - Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule

22



1 Introduction
1.1 This consultation document is Huntingdonshire District Council’s “Preliminary Draft Community Infrastructure

Levy Charging Schedule”. It is supported by appropriate information and evidence regarding the creation
of a reasonable levy for the locality.

What is the Community Infrastructure Levy?

1.2 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) allows local planning authorities to raise funds from developers
to pay for the infrastructure that is or will be needed as a result of new development. It came into force on
6th April 2010.

1.3 The CIL is an amount payable per net additional m2 of floorspace. The levy set is based on community
infrastructure needs identified in the Huntingdonshire Local Investment Framework which formed part of
the evidence base for the adopted Huntingdonshire Core Strategy. It is further supported by updated
infrastructure modelling which takes other potential funding sources into account, and an analysis of the
impact of any levy on the viability of development across the district.

1.4 Funds raised through the CIL will be used to help pay for a wide range of community infrastructure required
to support the needs of sustainable developments in the District. It will not fund 100% of the costs of the
infrastructure requirements and will therefore be one element in a range of funding opportunities that need
to be used to ensure that community infrastructure is effectively delivered.

Who will have to pay the CIL?

1.5 CIL will be charged on most new development. Liability to pay CIL arises when, on completion of the
development, the gross internal area of new build on the relevant land is 100 square metres or above.
The development of all new dwellings, even if it is less than 100m2, is liable to pay CIL. The levy is
chargeable on the basis of a calculation related to pounds per square metre on the net additional floorspace.

1.6 CIL will not be charged on changes of use that do not involve new additional floorspace or on structures
which people do not regularly go into. Affordable housing development and development by charities is
exempt from charge.

What are the benefits of CIL?

1.7 Most development has some form of impact on the infrastructure needs of an area and, as such, it is fair
that the development contributes towards the cost of the needs. Those needs could be physical, social
and green / environmental infrastructure.

1.8 Whilst the Council has tried to provide more certainty about the way in which infrastructure costs are met
by promoting a Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document, the negotiation of Section
106 Agreements lacks consistency and can be slow and disproportionately resource-intensive.

1.9 The CIL is a fair, transparent and accountable levy which will be payable by the majority of new housing
developments, whether 1 unit or 1000 units, and a range of other development types. The CIL gives
developers a clear understanding of what financial contribution will be expected towards the delivery of
community infrastructure needs, whilst providing the Local Planning Authority with a simple developer
contributions process.

1

Introduction 1
Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdonshire Community Infrastructure Levy - Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule

23



What happens to Section 106?

1.10 The CIL is intended to provide infrastructure to support the development of an area rather than making
an individual planning application acceptable in planning terms (which is the purpose of Section 106
Agreements). CIL does not fully replace Section 106 Agreements. On particular developments some site
specific mitigation requirements may still need to be provided through a Section 106 Agreement in addition
to the CIL levy.

1.11 However, the CIL Regulations have placed limitations on the use of planning obligations by:

Putting three of the five policy tests on the use of planning obligations as set out in Circular 5/05 on
a statutory basis for developments which are capable of being charged the Levy
Ensuring the local use of the CIL levy and planning obligations does not overlap
Limiting pooled contributions from planning obligations from no more than five developments towards
infrastructure which may be funded by the Levy.

1.12 CIL will therefore become themain source of funding available through development management decisions.
The provision of affordable housing lies outside of the remit of CIL and will continue to be secured through
Section 106 Agreements.

1.13 Section 106 Agreements and planning conditions will also continue to be used for local infrastructure
requirements on development sites, such as site specific local provision of open space, connection to
utility services (as required by legislation), habitat protection, access roads and archaeology. The principle
is that all eligible developments must pay towards CIL as well as any site specific requirement to be
secured through Section 106 Agreements. Details on this can be found in the Draft Developer Contributions
SPD, which is also being consulted on at this time and should be read in conjunction with this document.

1.14 Large scale major developments(1) of 200 units or more usually also necessitate the provision of their
own on-site strategic infrastructure, such as schools, which are dealt with more suitably through a
Section106 agreement, in addition to the CIL charge. It is important that the CIL Charging Schedule
differentiates between these infrastructure projects to ensure no double counting takes place between
calculating the district wide CIL rate for funding of infrastructure projects and determining Section 106
Agreements for funding other on-site specific infrastructure projects.

1.15 The large scale major developments identified so far which will necessitate Section 106 Agreements
covering on-site infrastructure in addition to their CIL levy in the District are:

St Neots Eastern Expansion (development site to East of the East Coast mainline railway) as defined
in approved Urban Design Framework
St Ives West (as defined in the emerging Urban Design Framework)
Huntingdon West (as defined in the Area Action Plan)
RAF Brampton (as defined in the emerging Urban Design Framework)
Bearscroft Farm, Godmanchester (as defined in the SHLAA)
Ermine Street (Northbridge), Huntingdon (as defined in the SHLAA)

1.16 This is not an exhaustive list and may change in time, should new large scale major(2) developments come
forward.

1.17 The Local Planning Authority will not be able to charge individual developments for the same items of
infrastructure through both planning obligations and the Levy, as outlined in the infrastructure project list
that will be published on the Huntingdonshire District Council website once a Charging Schedule has been
adopted.

1 DCLG Development Control PS 1/2 statistical definition 2007/8
2 DCLG Development Control PS 1/2 statistical definition 2007/8

2

1 Introduction
Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdonshire Community Infrastructure Levy - Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule

24



2 Policy Background
2.1 This section sets out the evidence the District Council has used to produce this Preliminary Draft Charging

Schedule. The core elements of this are the outline of infrastructure necessary to support development
that will be funded through CIL and the viability assessments that have been carried out to identify the
charge.

2.2 In setting a Community Infrastructure Levy rate, a Charging Authority must comply with both Regulation
14 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 which states:

14.—(1)In setting rates (including differential rates) in a charging schedule, a charging authority must aim
to strike what appears to the charging authority to be an appropriate balance between—

a. the desirability of funding from CIL (in whole or in part) the actual and expected estimated total cost
of infrastructure required to support the development of its area, taking into account other actual and
expected sources of funding; and

b. the potential effects (taken as a whole) of the imposition of CIL on the economic viability of
development across its area.

(2)In setting rates in a charging schedule, a charging authority may also have regard to actual and expected
administrative expenses in connection with CIL to the extent that those expenses can be funded from CIL
in accordance with regulation 61.

and Section 211 (2) and (4) from Part 11 of the Planning Act 2008:

211. (2) A charging authority, in setting rates or other criteria, must have regard, to the extent and in the
manner specified by CIL regulations, to—

a. actual and expected costs of infrastructure (whether by reference to lists prepared by virtue of section
216(5)(a) or otherwise);

b. matters specified by CIL regulations relating to the economic viability of development (which may
include, in particular, actual or potential economic effects of planning permission or of the imposition
of CIL);

c. other actual and expected sources of funding for infrastructure.

211. (4)The regulations may, in particular, permit or require charging authorities in setting rates or other
criteria—

a. to have regard, to the extent and in the manner specified by the regulations, to actual or expected
administrative expenses in connection with CIL;

b. to have regard, to the extent and in the manner specified by the regulations, to values used or
documents produced for other statutory purposes;

c. to integrate the process, to the extent and in the manner specified by the regulations, with processes
undertaken for other statutory purposes;

d. to produce charging schedules having effect in relation to specified periods (subject to revision).

3

Policy Background 2
Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdonshire Community Infrastructure Levy - Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule

25



2.3 The Charging Schedule levy rate should, therefore, strike a balance between the desirability for funding
and the impact any levy may have on the economic viability of development across the whole development
of Huntingdonshire.

Supporting Documents

2.4 Huntingdonshire District Council has considered a range of evidence and policy documents in reaching
the conclusion set out in the Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule.

2.5 TheHuntingdonshire Core Strategy 2009 sets the strategic spatial planning framework for development
in Huntingdonshire to 2026 and contains strategic policies to manage growth and guide new development
in Huntingdonshire based on the Vision that:

2.6 “In 2026 Huntingdonshire will have retained it distinct identity as a predominantly rural area with vibrant
villages and market towns. Residents will be happier, healthier and more active and will enjoy an improved
quality of life with improved access to a wider range of local jobs, housing, high quality services and
facilities and green infrastructure.”

2.7 Core Strategy Policy CS10 outlines contributions to infrastructure required by new developments.

Policy CS 10

Contributions to Infrastructure Requirements

Development proposals will be expected to provide or contribute towards the cost of providing appropriate
infrastructure, and of meeting social and environmental requirements, where these are necessary to make
the development acceptable in planning terms where this complies with the requirements set out in Circular
5/2005 or successor documents.

Contributions may also be required to meet the management and maintenance of services and facilities
provided through an obligation where this complies with the requirements set out in Circular 5/2005. The
appropriate range and level of contributions will be assessed in a comprehensive manner, taking into account

strategic infrastructure requirements and using standard charges where appropriate. Standards and formulae
for calculating contributions will be set out in separate Supplementary Planning Documents or Development
Plan Documents. Where appropriate, the particular requirements of specific sites, including any additional

or special requirements will be set out in other DPDs.

In order to prevent avoidance of contributions any requirement will be calculated on the complete developable
area, rather than the area or number of homes/ floorspace of a proposal, where the proposal forms a
sub-division of a larger developable area.

The nature and scale of any planning obligations sought will be related to the form of development and its
potential impact upon the surrounding area. Where appropriate, any such provision will be required to be
provided on site. Where this is not possible, a commuted payment is likely to be sought. In determining the
nature and scale of any planning obligation, specific site conditions and other material considerations including
viability, redevelopment of previously developed land or mitigation of contamination may be taken into account.
The timing of provision of infrastructure and facilities will be carefully considered in order to ensure that
appropriate provision is in place before development is occupied.

Contributions that may be required include the following:

affordable and key worker housing;
open space and recreation (including leisure and sports facilities);

4

2 Policy Background
Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdonshire Community Infrastructure Levy - Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule

26



strategic green infrastructure and biodiversity enhancement/ mitigation;
transport (including footpaths, bridleways, cycleways, highways, public transport, car parks and travel
planning);
community facilities (including meeting halls, youth activities, play facilities, library and information
services, cultural facilities and places of worship);
education, health and social care and community safety;
utilities infrastructure and renewable energy;
emergency and essential services;
environmental improvements;
drainage / flood prevention and protection;
waste recycling facilities; and
public art, heritage and archaeology.

Contributions will be calculated taking into account provisions of the Community Infrastructure Levy.

2.8 The Huntingdonshire Local Investment Framework (LIF) 2009 is a key supporting document to the
Core Strategy and the development of the Charging Schedule. It identifies the physical, social and green
infrastructure needs arising from the planned growth of Huntingdonshire to 2026 and the potential funding
sources, including planning obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy that could viably be secured
to help meet this need.

2.9 The Huntingdonshire Local Strategic Partnership Sustainable Community Strategy Vision 2008 –
2028 is that:

“The Huntingdonshire Strategic Partnership is working together to achieve a long term vision for
Huntingdonshire as a place where current and future generations have a good quality of life and can –

make the most of opportunities that come from living in a growing and developing district;
enjoy the benefits of continued economic success;
access suitable homes, jobs, services, shops, culture and leisure opportunities;
realise their full potential;
maintain the special character of our market towns, villages and countryside; and
live in an environment that is safe and protected from the effects of climate change and where
valuable natural resources are used wisely.”

2.10 The Cambridgeshire Horizons Integrated Development Plan considers the goals set out in the East
of England Plan and the Regional Economic Strategy and identifies and costs, where possible, project-level
interventions needed to achieve them. These projects are sub-regional in scale and, as such, are strategic
in nature, having greater than district-level impact.

2.11 The Cambridgeshire Local Investment Plan (CLIP) provides the context for future strategic funding
discussions with the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA). The objective of the CLIP is to address the
need for investment across Cambridgeshire whilst encompassing the key objectives of the HCA by
delivering sustainable growth and regeneration, and representing excellent value for money. It summarises
the investment priorities identified by each district to achieve this goal.

2.12 TheGreater Cambridge-Greater Peterborough Local Enterprise Partnershipwas established in 2010
and is based on the complementary functional economic areas of the cities of Cambridge and Peterborough,
together with neighbouring market towns and communities. The LEP area covers Cambridgeshire,
Peterborough City, Rutland, Cambridge, East Cambridgeshire, Fenland, Huntingdonshire and South
Cambridgeshire Districts but beyond these administrative boundaries, the real economic geography
extends into parts of North Hertfordshire, Uttlesford, St Edmundsbury and Forest Heath; South Holland
and King's Lynn & West Norfolk. The LEP mission is to:

5

Policy Background 2
Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdonshire Community Infrastructure Levy - Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule

27



"lead our area's growth to 100,000 significant businesses and create 160,000 new jobs by 2025 in an
internationally renowned low carbon, knowledge-based economy"

2.13 The LEP aims to ensure the delivery of:

A doubling of GVA over a twenty year period - from £30 billion to £60 billion annually
Growth in number of significant businesses (as measured by Inter-Departmental Business Register)
from 60,000 to 100,000 by 2025
Creation of 160,000 net new jobs by 2025
Delivery of 100,000 new homes over a 20 year period

Initial possible CIL rate

2.14 The Local Investment Framework 2009 was the first piece of work undertaken to look at the potential for
introducing a Community Infrastructure Levy across Huntingdonshire and utilised a single hectare
development model to initially assess viability. At that time the viability assessment suggested a maximum
viability rate for residential development at what equated to £217 per square metre() and a maximum
viability rate of £54 per square metre for commercial.

2.15 Economic circumstances have changed since that work was undertaken, a new coalition government has
come into power, the CIL Regulations 2010 and the CIL (Amendment) Regulations 2011 have come into
force, and Parliament is considering the Decentralisation and Localism Bill which contain major potential
planning reforms including neighbourhood planning and the CIL (Amendment) Regulations, linked to this
Bill, are expected to come into force in 2012.

2.16 A review of work undertaken to date was therefore required in order to progress towards a Charging
Schedule for Huntingdonshire. The key evidence review has been:

Huntingdonshire District Council Viability Testing of Community Infrastructure Levy Charges by
Drivers Jonas Deloitte, 2011
Huntingdonshire Market Report by Drivers Jonas Deloitte, August 2010
Huntingdonshire Infrastructure Project Plan List, 2011

2.17 The outcome of this along with the evidence of the adopted Core Strategy 2009 has helped to establish
a new Community Infrastructure Levy being proposed in the Appendix 1: 'Preliminary Draft Charging
Schedule'.

Reviewing the Infrastructure projects suitable for CIL

2.18 The Huntingdonshire Local Investment Framework – the infrastructure development plan supporting the
Huntingdonshire Core Strategy – was adopted in 2009. It provides a full breakdown of the infrastructure
needs of the district based on the projected growth outlined in the Core Strategy, namely from 2001 to
2026, a total of at least 14000 homes will be provided in Huntingdonshire with about 85ha of new land for
employment in order to contribute to the creation of at least 13,000 jobs.

2.19 The LIF looked at a range of infrastructure types. However, development progress has moved on and
been affected by an economic recession. There has also been a change in government and the CIL
Regulations 2010 have gained Royal Assent and one phase of amendments have come into force with a
second phase anticipated by April 2012.

2.20 A review of the list of infrastructure needs identified in the Local Investment Framework has therefore
been undertaken. This has been undertaken with key partners and infrastructure providers specifically
considering potential CIL funded projects, as set out in para 16 of the DCLG Community Infrastructure
Levy Guidance 2010. The revised list has taken into account:

6

2 Policy Background
Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdonshire Community Infrastructure Levy - Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule

28



reviewed housing trajectory
current alternative funding availability
CIL infrastructure projects excluding large scale major site-specific projects, as noted below.

2.21 It is important to remember that whilst CIL will have the potential to raise significant funding for local
infrastructure needs, it should be recognised as one of a range of funding options that can be utilised in
the delivery of infrastructure.

2.22 In reviewing the infrastructure list, further work has been undertaken to consider large scale major
developments(3), those of 200 units or more, in more detail. This is for a number of reasons, as outlined
in the Viability Testing of Community Infrastructure Levy Charges, undertaken by Drivers Jonas Deloitte
on behalf of Huntingdonshire District Council. Primarily, such sites usually necessitate the provision of
their own on-site strategic infrastructure, such as schools, which are dealt with more suitably through a
Section106 agreement, in addition to the CIL charge. It is important that the CIL Charging Schedule
differentiates between these infrastructure projects to ensure no double counting takes place between
calculating the district wide CIL rate for funding of infrastructure projects and determining Section 106
Agreements for funding other on-site specific infrastructure projects.

2.23 The large scale major developments identified so far are:

St Neots Eastern Expansion (development site to East of the East Coast mainline railway) as defined
in approved Urban Design Framework
St Ives West (as defined in the emerging Urban Design Framework)
Huntingdon West (as defined in the Area Action Plan)
RAF Brampton (as defined in the emerging Urban Design Framework)
Bearscroft Farm, Godmanchester (as defined in the SHLAA)
Ermine Street (Northbridge), Huntingdon (as defined in the SHLAA)

2.24 This is not an exhaustive list and may change in time, should new large scale major(4) developments come
forward.

2.25 Taking into account the above, the revised infrastructure list now looks at the infrastructure areas as
identified in the LIF but has excluded certain catergories including certain on-site infrastructure on large
scale major developments and items required by condition. It should be noted that this is not a definitive
list of infrastructure types.

Exclusions from CIL infrastructure definitionInfrastructure type

Excluding local site-related condition requirementsRoads and other transport facilities

Excluding large scale major(5) on-site school provisionSchools and other educational facilities

Excluding large scale major(6) on-site health provisionMedical facilities

Excluding on-site provision of landSporting and recreational facilities

Excluding on-site provision of landGreen Infrastructure Open Spaces / facilities

3 DCLG Development Control PS 1/2 statistical definition 2007/8
4 DCLG Development Control PS 1/2 statistical definition 2007/8
5 DCLG Development Control PS 1/2 statistical definition 2007/8
6 DCLG Development Control PS 1/2 statistical definition 2007/8

7

Policy Background 2
Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdonshire Community Infrastructure Levy - Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule

29



Exclusions from CIL infrastructure definitionInfrastructure type

Excluding large scale major(7) on-site library provision and
community facilities

Social Infrastructure

Excluding office/unit development but including skills development
activities

Economic Regeneration

Excluding large scale major(8) on-site safer neighbourhood team
accommodation provision

Emergency services

Excluding local site related requirementsUtilities

2.26 Further information on this and the project list can be found at Appendix 2: 'Infrastructure Needs'.

7 DCLG Development Control PS 1/2 statistical definition 2007/8
8 DCLG Development Control PS 1/2 statistical definition 2007/8

8

2 Policy Background
Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdonshire Community Infrastructure Levy - Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule

30



3 Implementing the Charging Schedule.
3.1 The calculation of the chargeable amount to be paid by a development is set out in Regulation 40 of the

Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010. This states:

1. The collecting authority must calculate the amount of CIL payable (“chargeable amount”) in respect
of a chargeable development in accordance with this regulation.

2. The chargeable amount is an amount equal to the aggregate of the amounts of CIL chargeable at
each of the relevant rates.

3. But where that amount is less than £50 the chargeable amount is deemed to be zero.

4. The relevant rates are the rates at which CIL is chargeable in respect of the chargeable development
taken from the charging schedules which are in effect—

a. at the time planning permission first permits the chargeable development; and

b. in the area in which the chargeable development will be situated.

5. The amount of CIL chargeable at a given relevant rate (R) must be calculated by applying the following
formula—

R x A x IP

IC

where—

A = the deemed net area chargeable at rate R;
IP = the index figure for the year in which planning permission was granted; and for the year in which planning
permission was granted; and
IC = the index figure for the year in which the charging schedule containing rate R took effect.

6. The value of A in paragraph (5) must be calculated by applying the following formula—

CR x (C - E)

C

where—

CR= the gross internal area of the part of the chargeable development chargeable at rate R, less an amount
equal to the aggregate of the gross internal area of all buildings (excluding any new build) on completion
of the chargeable development which –

a. on the day planning permission first permits the chargeable development, are situated on the relevant
land and in lawful use:

9

Implementing the Charging Schedule. 3
Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdonshire Community Infrastructure Levy - Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule

31



b. will be part of the chargeable development upon completion: and

c. will be chargeable at rate R.

C = the gross internal area of the chargeable development; and
E = an amount equal to the aggregate of the gross internal areas of all buildings which— which—

a. on the day planning permission first permits the chargeable development, are situated on the relevant
land and in lawful use; and; and

b. are to be demolished before completion of the chargeable development.

How will the CIL levy be collected?

3.2 A notice of liability will be issued by Huntingdonshire District Council as soon as practicable after the day
on which a planning permission first permits development stating the chargeable amount in relation to the
development. The responsibility to pay the levy runs with the ownership of land on which the liable
development will be situated and is a local land charge.

3.3 Payment of the levy is due from the date the chargeable development commences. A commencement
notice must be submitted to Huntingdonshire District Council no later than the day before the day on which
the chargeable development is to be commenced. Regulation 69B of the amended Community Infrastructure
Regulations permits a charging authority to allow persons liable to pay CIL to do so by instalments following
the publication of an instalment policy. Huntingdonshire District Council will publish an instalment policy
at the point of adoption of the Charging Schedule. The instalment policy for Huntingdonshire District
Council will be set at the point of adoption of the a Charging Schedule. However the time permitted for
payment will be no less than as stated in the former Regulation 70 of the Community Infrastructure
Regulations 2010 i.e. as follows:

2. Where the chargeable amount is equal to or greater than £40,000, payment of the amount of CIL
payable in respect of D (A) is due in four equal instalments at the end of the periods of 60, 120, 180
and 240 days beginning with the intended commencement date of D.(9) (A) is due in four equal
instalments at the end of the periods of 60, 120, 180 and 240 days beginning with the intended
commencement date of D.

3. Where the chargeable amount is equal to or greater than £20,000 and less than £40,000, payment
of A is due in three equal instalments at the end of the periods of 60, 120 and 180 days beginning
with the intended commencement date of D.

4. Where the chargeable amount is equal to or greater than £10,000 and less than £20,000, payment
of A is due in two equal instalments at the end of the periods of 60 and 120 days beginning with the
intended commencement date of D.

5. Where the chargeable amount is less than £10,000, payment of A is due in full at the end of the
period of 60 days beginning with the intended commencement date of D.

3.4 For developments where the outline planning permission permits development to be implemented in
phases, planning permission first permits a phase of the development on the day of the final approval of
the last reserved matter associated with that phase (Regulation 8 Community Infrastructure Regulations
2010). As such, each phase can be considered as a separate development and CIL will be levied per
agreed phase rather than the site in its entirety.

9 Where D is the chargeable development

10

3 Implementing the Charging Schedule.
Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdonshire Community Infrastructure Levy - Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule

32



3.5 Developments granted planning permission by way of a general consent will first be required to submit a
notice of chargeable development prior to commencement of development (Regulations 5, 8 and 64
Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010).

3.6 From commencement of development, a demand notice will be issued by Huntingdonshire District Council
to the liable person/s requesting payment of the levy amount.

What will the CIL levy collected be spent on?

3.7 CIL resources will be spent on the infrastructure needed to support the new development across
Huntingdonshire. It will fund new infrastructure and will not be used to fund the provision of any deficit in
provision unless this is necessary to meet the need of the new development. The levy can also be used
to expand, repair or refurbish existing infrastructure where necessary for new development. In addition,
it may, in the future, be spent on the ongoing costs of providing infrastructure; and could consider funding
maintenance, operational and promotional activities().

3.8 The Government intends to require charging authorities to allocate a ‘meaningful proportion’ of levy receipts
back to the neighbourhood in which the development has taken place. This will enable the local community
to decide on what infrastructure priorities they have and take control to address them. Huntingdonshire
District Council will provide a proportion of the CIL monies to local neighbourhoods from the adoption of
their Charging Schedule, whether the Localism Bill and Amendment of CIL Regulations (II) have gone
through all necessary parliamentary processes or not by that time.

3.9 As required(10), Huntingdonshire District Council will publish on its website a list of infrastructure projects
or types of infrastructure that it intends will be, or may be, wholly or partly funded by CIL.

3.10 It is anticipated that in the future, through an agreed process working with the Huntingdonshire Strategic
Partnership, the Greater Cambridge Greater Peterborough Local Enterprise Partnership and Town/Parish
Councils, an Annual Business Plan outlining the coming years future infrastructure priorities will be
produced. This would work with a range of other agendas and plans including Neighbourhood Plans /
Development Orders as they come forward, Homes & Communities Agency Local Investment Plan,
Enterprise Zones and Business Improvement Districts.

10 Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010, Regulation 123

11

Implementing the Charging Schedule. 3
Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdonshire Community Infrastructure Levy - Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule

33



4 Next Steps
Future Timetable

4.1 Following this consultation of the Huntingdonshire Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule, all responses will
be considered along with further information to inform the Draft Charging Schedule. The Draft Charging
Schedule will then be published for consultation, as required under Regulation 16. The table below outlines
the time frame for the future steps in this through to adoption by Huntingdonshire District Council.

Timescale(1)

Publish the Draft Charging Schedule, relevant evidence and statement
of the representations procedure for 4 weeks

Autumn 2011

Examination in Public heldWinter 2012

Inspector’s ReportSpring 2012

Adoption of Charging ScheduleSpring 2012

1. subject to change

12

4 Next Steps
Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdonshire Community Infrastructure Levy - Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule

34



Appendix 1: Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule
1.1 This is the Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule for Huntingdonshire and has been prepared in accordance

with:

Part 11, Planning Act 2008
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010
Community Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) Regulations 2011
Community Infrastructure Levy Guidance: Charge setting and charging schedule procedures
Planning Policy Statement 12: Creating strong safe and prosperous communities through Local
Spatial Planning

1.2 Huntingdonshire District Council, as the local Planning Authority, is the Charging Authority and will also
be the Collecting Authority.

Liability to Pay CIL

1.3 A chargeable development, one for which planning permission is granted, that is liable to pay CIL covers
all new developments (Regulation 9).

Exemptions/ Relief to Pay CIL

1.4 A number of new developments are not required to pay CIL for a number of reasons.

If the gross internal area of new build is less than 100 square metres, and does not comprise of
one or more dwellings, then liability to pay CIL does not arise (Regulation 42).
If the owner of a material interest in the relevant development land is a charitable institution, it is
exempt from liability to pay CIL subject to conditions (Regulation 43).
If there is discretionary charitable relief to do so, discretionary charitable relief from liability to pay
CIL may be given for a development that is held by a charitable institution as an investment from
which the profits will be applied for charitable purposes subject to conditions (Regulation 44).
If the chargeable development comprises or is to comprise qualifying social housing (in whole or
in part), it is eligible for relief from liability to pay CIL subject to conditions (Regulation 49).
If there are exceptional circumstances for doing so, relief (“relief for exceptional circumstances”)
from liability to pay CIL may be given subject to conditions (Regulation 55) – see section below.
If the development only concerns a change of use and no additional new floorspace then it will not
be liable to pay CIL, although it could be liable to S106 Developer Contributions.
If the new development is for a building into which people do not normally go or into which people
go only intermittently for the purpose of inspecting or maintaining fixed plant or machinery, it is not
liable to pay CIL, although it could be liable to S106 Developer Contributions (Reg 6).

Discretionary Relief for Exceptional Circumstances

1.5 Regulation 55 of the Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 permit a charging authority to:

grant relief (“relief for exceptional circumstances”) from liability to pay CIL in respect of a chargeable
development (D) if—

a. it appears to the charging authority that there are exceptional circumstances which justify doing so;
and

b. the charging authority considers it expedient to do so.

13

Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule Appendix 1:
Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdonshire Community Infrastructure Levy - Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule

35



1.6 The above may only happen if a planning obligation of greater value than the chargeable amount has
been entered into in respect of the planning permission which permits the chargeable development and
the charging authority considers that payment of the levy would have an unacceptable impact on the
economic viability of the development(11)(12).

1.7 It is the intention of Huntingdonshire District Council to offer such relief. A statement confirming this will
be issued once the Charging Schedule has been adopted, in compliance with Regulation 56.

The CIL Rate

1.8 The charge detailed below will be levied on most new building developments that people would normally
use. It is chargeable in pounds per square metre on the net additional floorspace if that floorspace is more
than 100m2. However, if the development involves the creation of a new dwelling, even if it is less than
100m2, it is still liable to pay CIL.

1.9 Huntingdonshire District Council proposes to set a flat rate across the district of £98 per square metre for
residential development, based on the viability work undertaken – see Appendix 3: 'Assessment of Viability'.

per square metreProposed Charge

£98Residential (including C2, C3 and C4)

£0Office (B1)

£0General Industrial, Storage & Distribution ( B2 and B8)

£75Hotel (C1)

£50Retail < 1,000sq m (13) (A1/ A2/ A3/ A4/ A5)

£140Retail > 999 sq m(14) (A1/ A2/ A3/ A4/ A5)

£0Community Uses (including D1 and D2)

£0Sui Generis

1. Do you agree with the proposed charge for residential development?
2. Do you agree with the proposed zero charge for office development?
3. Do you agree with the proposed zero charge for general industrial, storage and distribution development?
4. Do you agree with the proposed charge for hotel development?
5. Do you agree with the proposed charges for retail development?
6. Do you agree with the proposed zero charge for community uses development?
7. Do you agree with the proposed zero charge for sui generis?

1.10 The rate shown be updated annually for inflation in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered
Surveyors “All In Tender Price Index”.

11 Regulations 55 – 57. Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010
12 DCLG Community Infrastructure Levy Relief Information Document, May 2011
13 DCLG Development Control PS 1/2 statistical definition 2007/8
14 DCLG Development Control PS 1/2 statistical definition 2007/8

14

Appendix 1: Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule
Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdonshire Community Infrastructure Levy - Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule

36



1.11 Site specific contributions may also be required through a Section 106 agreement or as part of the
Conditions attributed to a planning consent. Details on this can be found in the Draft Developer Contributions
SPD, which is also being consulted on at this time and should be read in conjunction with this document.

CIL Geographical Zone

1.12 The proposed levy rates will apply uniformly to all land uses across the whole geographic extent of the
district of Huntingdonshire.

8. Do you agree with the proposal to set flat rate levy according to uses across the whole of
Huntingdonshire?

15

Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule Appendix 1:
Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdonshire Community Infrastructure Levy - Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule

37



Appendix 2: Infrastructure Needs
2.1 In preparing the Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule, the necessary infrastructure, phasing and cost

needs to be ascertained. This is not a definitive list but an indication of the likely infrastructure required
by new development, taking account of any current surpluses – this is in line with CLG Community
Infrastructure Guidance, March 2010.

2.2 Under Section 216 of the Planning Act 2008, infrastructure includes:

roads and other transport facilities,
flood defences’
schools and other educational facilities,
medical facilities,
sporting and recreational facilities,
open spaces
affordable housing.

2.3 It is important to note that the wording used in the act is ‘includes’ and, as such, this is not an exhaustive
list. Regulation 63 of the Community Infrastructure Regulation 2010 has amended this listing to exclude
affordable housing.

2.4 The infrastructure considered within Huntingdonshire is shown in the following table.

Exclusions from CIL infrastructure definitionInfrastructure Type

Excluding local site specific condition requirementsRoads and other transport facilities

Excluding large scale major(15) on-site school provisionSchools and other educational facilities

Excluding large scale major(16) on-site health provisionMedical facilities

Excluding on-site provision of landSporting and recreational facilities

Excluding on-site provision of landGreen Infrastructure Open Spaces / facilities

Excluding large scale major(17) on-site library provision and
community facilities

Social Infrastructure

Excluding office/unit development but including skills development
activities

Economic Regeneration

Excluding large scale major(18) on-site safer neighbourhood team
accommodation provision

Emergency services

Excluding local site related requirementsUtilities

15 DCLG Development Control PS 1/2 statistical definition 2007/8
16 DCLG Development Control PS 1/2 statistical definition 2007/8
17 DCLG Development Control PS 1/2 statistical definition 2007/8
18 DCLG Development Control PS 1/2 statistical definition 2007/8

16

Appendix 2: Infrastructure Needs
Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdonshire Community Infrastructure Levy - Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule

38



8. Do you agree with the infrastructures definition?
9. Do you agree with exclusion of on-site infrastructure for large scale major(19) developments?

Infrastructure Projects

2.5 The Infrastructure plan projects required due to the planned growth across Huntingdonshire up to 2026
have been assessed and costed, as required by Planning Policy Statement: Creating strong safe and
prosperous communities through Local Spatial Planning. The phasing of development, potential other
funding sources and responsibilities for delivery have also been considered. The list is not an exhaustive
list and can change at any time.

2.6 Full details on the project list can be accessed in the Huntingdonshire Infrastructure Project Plan List.

19 DCLG Development Control PS 1/2 statistical definition 2007/8

17

Infrastructure Needs Appendix 2:
Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdonshire Community Infrastructure Levy - Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule

39



Appendix 3: Assessment of Viability
3.1 In deciding the rate of CIL, a Charging Authority is required to have regard to the economic viability of the

area. Regulation 14 Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 states:

14.—(1)In setting rates (including differential rates) in a charging schedule, a charging authority must aim
to strike what appears to the charging authority to be an appropriate balance between—

a. the desirability of funding from CIL (in whole or in part) the actual and expected estimated total cost
of infrastructure required to support the development of its area, taking into account other actual and
expected sources of funding; and

b. the potential effects (taken as a whole) of the imposition of CIL on the economic viability of
development across its area.

10. Do you agree the appropriate balance between the desirability of funding from CIL and impacts on the
economic viability have been met?

3.2 The Local Investment Framework included viability assessments on the area. However, the market has
seen considerable changes in the last 18 months and Huntingdonshire District Council commissioned
Drivers Jonas Deloitte to undertake a market review update and further viability assessments, taking into
account the change in market conditions and the change in the affordable housing landscape and availability
of grant funding support.

3.3 The market review was undertaken in August 2010 and highlights the current position regarding the
residential, employment and retail markets in Huntingdonshire following the global recession. The full
document outlining the affect this has had on housing supply, market prices and incentives and residential
land values can be accessed in the Huntingdonshire Market Report by Drivers Jonas Deloitte, August
2010.

3.4 The global recession and a range of legislative changes has also necessitated an update of viability
assessments. These were undertaken by Drivers Jonas Deloitte on behalf of Huntingdonshire District
Council and completed in May 2011.

3.5 The viability work has taken into account the findings of the Market Report and outlines the methodology
used to assess the viability of residential and commercial development in Huntingdonshire to inform the
setting of the proposed levy in the Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule. In assessing the viability, the
payment periods as noted in Regulation 70 of the Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 were used
namely that:

(2) Where the chargeable amount is equal to or greater than £40,000, payment of the amount of CIL payable
in respect of D (A) is due in four equal instalments at the end of the periods of 60, 120, 180 and 240 days
beginning with the intended commencement date of D.(20) (A) is due in four equal instalments at the end
of the periods of 60, 120, 180 and 240 days beginning with the intended commencement date of D.

(3)Where the chargeable amount is equal to or greater than £20,000 and less than £40,000, payment of A
is due in three equal instalments at the end of the periods of 60, 120 and 180 days beginning with the
intended commencement date of D.

20 Where D is the chargeable development

18

Appendix 3: Assessment of Viability
Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdonshire Community Infrastructure Levy - Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule

40



(4)Where the chargeable amount is equal to or greater than £10,000 and less than £20,000, payment of A
is due in two equal instalments at the end of the periods of 60 and 120 days beginning with the intended
commencement date of D.

(5)Where the chargeable amount is less than £10,000, payment of A is due in full at the end of the period
of 60 days beginning with the intended commencement date of D.

3.6 Full details can be found in the Huntingdonshire District Council Viability Testing of Community Infrastructure
Levy Charges by Drivers Jonas Deloitte.

19

Assessment of Viability Appendix 3:
Huntingdonshire LDF | Huntingdonshire Community Infrastructure Levy - Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule

41



42

This page is intentionally left blank



Huntingdonshire Infrastructure Project List  
 
 
Local Multi-Area Projects 

Multi-Area 
Project Type Project Name Timescale Cost (£) Lead 

CIL or 
S106 

Roads A141/Sawtry Way (B1090) Junction Improvement Not programmed 1,000,000 Highways Agency CIL 
Roads Huntingdon West Link Road 2012-2013 9,971,000 

 
HDC / CCC CIL 

Roads A14 Ellington to Fen Ditton 2015 1,198,000,000 Highways Agency CIL 
Roads A1 Buckden Roundabout Improvement Not programmed 2,000,000 Highways Agency CIL 
Roads A428  Caxton Common to A1 Programmed from 

2021 
380,000,000 
 

Highways Agency CIL 

Bus St Ives to Huntingdon Bus Priority Measures '(Cambridgeshire Guided 
Busway) 

2009 - 2016 5,000,000 CCC CIL 

Bus Cambridge-St Neots Transport Corridor bus priority measures Not programmed 4,580,000 CCC CIL 
Electricity Reinforcement of Grid at Eaton Socon  2012 - 2017 10,000,000 EDF CIL 
Walking & 
Cycling Rural Cycleways 2016 - 2026 2,500,000 CCC  /HDC CIL 
Green 
Corridors Ouse Valley Biodiversity Project (from Barford Rd to Earith)  2011 - 2016 3,000,000 HDC CIL 
Green 
Corridors Grafham Water to Abbots Ripton Corridor  2011 - 2016 2,250,000 HDC CIL 
Green 
Corridors Grafham Water to Brampton Wood link 2011 - 2026 tbc HDC CIL 

Green 
Corridors Ouse Valley Way 2011 – 2026 200,000 HDC CIL 

Major Green 
Sites Grafham Water Ancient and Semi natural woodland Link  2011 – 2026 2,000,000 HDC CIL 

Major Green 
Sites Great Fen Project land acquisition phase 1  2011 - 2016 13,000,000 Great Fen CIL 

Major Green 
Sites Great Fen Masterplan Access delivery  2011 – 2026 4,000,000 Great Fen CIL 

Major Green 
Sites Great Fen Masterplan Visitor facilities development 2011 – 2026 5,000,000 Great Fen CIL 

FE /HE 
Education 

HRC New Technology & Sustainable Energy Centre, California Rd, 
Huntingdon 

2013 – 2014 4,000,000 HRC CIL 
FE /HE 
Edcuation 

HRC New Vocational Centre/Studio School with the disposal of Almond Road 
site, St Neots 

2012 – 2013 2,800,000 HRC CIL 
FE /HE 
Edcuation 

HRC Sports Changing rooms and 3G Pitch, California Rd, Huntingdon 2012 – 2013 700,000 HRC CIL 
FE /HE 
Edcuation 

HRC Garden Centre Social Enterprise, California Rd, Huntingdon 2013 – 2014 1,000,000 HRC CIL 

FE /HE HRC Critical Infrastructure and Internal Reconfiguration Work, California Rd, 2011 - 2016 2,206,000 HRC CIL 

43



Multi-Area 
Project Type Project Name Timescale Cost (£) Lead 

CIL or 
S106 

Edcuation Huntingdon 
FE /HE 
Edcuation 

HRC Sports Science and Health Industries complex, California Rd, Huntingdon 2016 – 2017 1,900,000 HRC CIL 
Strategic 
Health Hinchingbrooke Hospital – Critical Care Centre 2011 - 2016 7,500,000 Hinch. Hospital CIL 

      
  TOTAL COST 1,662,607,000   
   6,041,000 Link road funding  
   13,000,000 Gt Fen HLF funding  

  
 58,000 Skills Funding 

Agency re Sports 
changing rooms 

 

   1,198,000,000 A14 HA  
   2,000,000 A1 Buckden HA  
   380.000,000 A428 Caxton 

Common HA 
 

  
 5,000,000 St Ives to 

Huntingdon Bus 
Priority 

 

  
 1,100,000 Developer 

contribution to bus 
corridor 

 

      
  FUNDING GAP 57,408,000   

 

44



 
Local Huntingdon Projects 

Huntingdon 
Project Type Project Name Timescale Cost (£) Lead 

CIL or 
S106 

Roads A141/A1123/Main Street Junction Improvement 2026 2,000,000 CCC CIL 
Road Additional riverside road ring road lane 2011 – 2021 3,500,000 CCC CIL 

Road Bypass junction safety and capacity improvements 2011 – 2021 845,000 CCC CIL 

Bus Hinchingbrooke Access and Bus Lane 2011 – 2021 tbc CCC CIL 

Bus Bus station improvements 2011 – 2021 900,000 HDC CIL 

Water & 
Sewage New Strategic Sewer 2014 - 2018 400,000 Anglian Water CIL 

Electricity Godmanchester general works 2014 – 2020 3,500,000 EDF CIL 
Gas Mains Reinforcement 2016- 2026 7,500,000 British Gas CIL 
Walking and 
cycling Route 6 Great Stukeley to the Rail Station and Town Centre 2011 – 2021 339,300 CCC CIL 

Walking and 
cycling Route 7 Great Stukeley to St Peter’s Road and Town Centre 2011 – 2021 390,000 CCC CIL 

Major Green 
Sites Huntingdon Green Spaces   2011 - 2026 2,000,000 HDC CIL 
Econ. & Regen 

Development East of Sapley Square, Oxmoor 
 225,000 – 

300,000 
 

HDC CIL 

Social Inf 
Allotments and community gardens (ha.) 

2011- 2026 73,965 HDC / TC S106 
site 
specific 

Social Inf 
Children and young people's play space (ha.) 

2011 - 2026 666,127 HDC / TC S106 
site 
specific 

Social Inf 
Allotments and community gardens (ha.) 

2011- 2026 14,528 HDC / TC S106 
site 
specific 

Social Inf 
Children and young people's play space (ha.) 

2011 - 2026 130,839 HDC / TC S106 
site 
specific 

Social Inf 
Allotments and community gardens (ha.) 

2011- 2026 50,810 HDC / TC S106 
site 
specific 

Social Inf 
Children and young people's play space (ha.) 

2011 - 2026 457,589 HDC / TC S106 
site 
specific 

Social Inf Allotments and community gardens (ha.) 2011- 2026 21,754 HDC / TC S106 

45



Huntingdon 
Project Type Project Name Timescale Cost (£) Lead 

CIL or 
S106 

site 
specific 

Social Inf 
Children and young people's play space (ha.) 

2011 - 2026 195,912 HDC / TC S106 
site 
specific 

Social Inf Allotments and community gardens (ha.) 2011- 2026 17,342 HDC / TC CIL 
Social Inf Children and young people's play space (ha.) 2011 - 2026 156,185 HDC / TC CIL 
Social Inf Construct one 2FE (420 places) Primary School (including Early Years 

Facilities) 
2011 – 2016 7,800,000 CCC S106 

site 
specific 

Social Inf Construction / expansion 1FE (150 places) expansion to St Peters Secondary 
School and Post 16 Provision 

2021 – 2026 4,340,000 CCC CIL 

Social Inf Construct one 0.5FE (105 places) Primary School or expansion to existing 
Brampton Primary (including Early Years Facilities) 

2016 – 2021 1,950,000 CCC S106 
site 
specific 

Social Inf Construct new 1FE – 1.5FE (210 – 315 places) Primary School (including Early 
Years Facilities) 

2016 – 2021 3,900,000 – 
6,100,000 

CCC S106 
site 
specific 

Social Inf Children’s Centre Provision 2016 – 2021 500,000 CCC CIL 

Social Inf Primary Education accommodation for 109 - 152 places 2016 – 2021 1,890,000 – 
2,640,000 

CCC CIL 

Social Inf Pre-School Accommodation for 39 - 57 places 2016 – 2021 406,000 – 
594,000 

CCC CIL 

Social Inf Library adaptation, bookstock and fitout 2016 – 2021 238,559 CCC CIL 

Social Inf Primary Care Provision.  No onsite facility. Contributions need to expanding 
Priory Fields, Brampton & Alconbury 

2011 - 2016 500,000 Health CIL 

Social Inf Primary Care Provision.  No onsite facility. Contributions need to expanding 
Brampton Surgery 

2016 – 2021 tbc Health CIL 

Social Inf Primary Care Provision.  No onsite facility.  Contributions to expand Roman 
Way surgery, Godmanchester 

2016 - 2021 327,000 Health CIL 

Social Inf Primary Care Provision.  New Primary Care Centre in Huntingdon. Partly to 
replace existing infratsructure & partly to provide capacity for 2/3 GPs to meet 
growth. Total size & cost not yet know. Equivalent cost for a 2 GP Practice 
£735k. 

2011 - 2026 735,000 + Health CIL 

Social Inf Police Service capital provision 2011 - 2026 63,425 Police CIL 

Social Inf 
Police Service capital provision 

2011 – 2021 188,926 Police  S106 
site 
specific 
(Bears-
croft 

46



Huntingdon 
Project Type Project Name Timescale Cost (£) Lead 

CIL or 
S106 

Farm) 

Social Inf 

Police Service capital provision 

2016 - 2021 53,978 Police  S106 
site 
specific 
(West of 
town 
centre) 

Social Inf 
Police Service capital provision 

2016 - 2021 275,562 Police  S106 
site 
specific 
(North-
bridge) 

Social Inf 

Police Service capital provision 

2016 – 2021 80,968 Police  S106 
site 
specific 
(RAF 
Brampto
n) 

Social Inf Sports and Recreation Facilities Provision 2011 - 2026 560,208 HDC CIL 

Social Inf Community Facility Provision 2011 – 2016 76,960 HDC CIL 

  TOTAL COST 47,270,937   
   169,650 Route 6 part funded  
   195,000 Route 7 part funded  
   2,625,000 Additional ring road  
   633,750 Bypass junction 

safety 
 

   7,800,000 S106 site specific 
primary education 

 
   1,950,000 S106 site specific 

primary education 
 

   3,900,000 – 
6,100,000 

S106 site specific 
primary education 

 
 

 
 73,965 S106 site specific 

allotments and 
community gardens 

 

 
 

 14,528 S106 site specific 
allotments and 
community gardens 

 

 
 

 50,810 S106 site specific 
allotments and 
community gardens 

 

47



Huntingdon 
Project Type Project Name Timescale Cost (£) Lead 

CIL or 
S106 

 
 

 21,754 S106 site specific 
allotments and 
community gardens 

 

 
 

 666,127 S106 site specific 
children and young 
people's play  

 

 
 

 130,839 S106 site specific 
children and young 
people's play  

 

 
 

 457,589 S106 site specific 
children and young 
people's play  

 

 
 

 195,912 S106 site specific 
children and young 
people's play  

 

 
 

 188,926 S106 site specific 
police service 
capital provision 

 

 
 

 53,978 106 site specific 
police service 
capital provision 

 

 
 

 275,562 106 site specific 
police service 
capital provision 

 

 
 

 80,968 106 site specific 
police service 
capital provision 

 

  FUNDING GAP 27,786,579   
 

48



Local Ramsey Projects 
Ramsey 

Project Type Project Name Timescale Cost (£) Lead 
CIL or 
S106 

Roads Signalisation or installation of a roundabout at Upwood Road /  Bury Road 
junction 

2011-2021 200,000 CCC CIL 

Public 
transport Installation of RTPI signs at as many stops as possible 2011 onwards 60,000 CCC CIL 

Electricity Second Circuit and Transformer Funding deferred 2,000,000 EDF CIL 
Walking and 
cycling Off-road path from Upwood School to High Street – better surfacing and 

installation of lighting, pedestrian crossing over Bury Road 
2011 -2021 1,045,000 CCC CIL 

Walking and 
cycling On-road signed route from the Northern gateway site through residential area 

to Abbey School 
2011 – 2021 815,000 CCC CIL 

Walking and 
cycling Cycle racks at key locations 2011 – 2021 25,000 CCC CIL 

Econ. & Regen Ramsey Enterprise Centre 2011 – 2016 3,000,000 Developer CIL 
Econ. & Regen Combined Heat & Power System for Ramsey  2011 - 2016 2,000,000 Developer CIL 

Social Inf Allotments and community gardens (ha.) 2011 – 2026  15,332 HDC / TC CIL 
Social Inf Children and young people's play space (ha.) 2011 – 2026  138,075 HDC / TC CIL 
Social Inf Pre-School Accommodation for 25 – 35 places 2016 – 2021 260,000 – 

365,000 
CCC CIL 

Social Inf Primary Education Accommodation for 70 – 97 places – extension to existing 
school 

2016 – 2021 1,200,000 – 
1,690,000 

CCC CIL 
Social Inf Library adaptation, bookstock and fitout 2016 – 2021 39,328 CCC CIL 

Social Inf Primary Care Provision.  Expansion of Ramsey health centre 2011 - 2016 315,000 Health CIL 

Social Inf Police Service capital provision 2016 – 2021 74,760 Police  CIL 

Social Inf Sports and Recreation Facilities Provision 2011 - 2026 658,057 HDC CIL 

Social Inf Community Facility Provision 2016 – 2021 102,490 HDC CIL 

  TOTAL COST 11,948,042   
   522,500 Upwood school / 

High St path 
 

   3,000,000 Enterprise centre 
developer funded 

 
   2,000,000 CHP developer 

funded 
 

  FUNDING GAP 6,425,542   
 

49



 
Local St Ives Projects 

St Ives  
Project Type Project Name Timescale Cost (£) Lead 

CIL or 
S106 

Roads Houghton Road – upgrade existing pelican crossing and Elm Drive 2011 – 2021 80,000 CCC CIL 

Bus Bus station improvements – improvements to waiting facilities and timetable 
information for passengers 

2011 – 2021 tbc CCC CIL 

Water & 
Sewage Sewer overflow reduction 2014 – 2018 400,000 Anglian Water CIL 

Electricity Feeding of Huntingdon reinforcements + local upgrades 2014 – 2018 3,000,000 EDF CIL 

Walking and 
cycling 

Houghton Road to St Audrey’s Lane – consists of mainly on road signed routes 
with small sections of segregated shared use paths.  Existing path lighting, 
width and surfaces will be upgraded along with the installation of high quality 
signing. 

2011 – 2021 450,000 CCC CIL 

Walking and 
cycling Hill Rose to Houghton Road – widening and resurfacing the existing path that 

runs alongside the side. 
2011 – 2021 430,000 CCC CIL 

Walking and 
cycling St Ives to Houghton – surface improvements 2011 – 2021 400,000 CCC CIL 

 
Walking and 
cycling 

Cycle parking – centre of St Ives at bus station and key locations, such as 
education establishments 

2011- 2021 20,000 CCC CIL 

Major Green 
Sites St Ives West Green Space  2011 - 2016 500,000 HDC / Wildlife Trust CIL 
Social Inf 

Allotments and community gardens (ha.) 
2011 – 2026  44,682 HDC / TC S106 

site 
specific 

Social Inf 
Children and young people's play space (ha.) 

2011 – 2026  402,406 HDC / TC S106 
site 
specific 

Social Inf Allotments and community gardens (ha.) 2011 – 2026  9,192 HDC / TC CIL 
Social Inf Children and young people's play space (ha.) 2011 – 2026  82,783 HDC / TC CIL 
Social Inf Construct 1FE (210 places) Primary accommodation (including Early Years 

Facility and Children’s Centre)  - expansion of existing school 
2016 – 2021 4,400,000 CCC CIL 

Social Inf Construct Primary accommodation for 32 – 44 places  - expansion of existing 
school 

2021 – 2026 556,000 – 
765,000 

CCC CIL 

Social Inf 
St Ivo Secondary and Post-16 expansion for approximately 34 places 

2021 – 2026 1,000,000 CCC CIL 

50



St Ives  
Project Type Project Name Timescale Cost (£) Lead 

CIL or 
S106 

Social Inf 
Pre-school Accommodation for 12 – 16 places 

2021 – 2026 125,000 – 
167,000 

CCC CIL 

Social Inf Library adaptation, bookstock and fitout 2016 – 2021 105,135 CCC CIL 

Social Inf Possible replacement of one or more of existing GP premises. Project would 
include provision of capacity for additional GPs to meet growth. Total size & 
cost not yet know. Equivalent cost for a 2 GP Practice £735k. 

2016 - 2021 tbc Health CIL 

Social Inf Police Service capital provision 2011 – 2021 33,737 Police  CIL 

Social Inf 
Police Service capital provision 

2011 – 2021 166,255 Police  S106 
site 
specific 
(St Ives 
West) 

Social Inf Sports and Recreation Facilities Provision 2011 - 2026 296,926 HDC CIL 

Social Inf Community Facility Provision 2016 – 2021 46,250 HDC CIL 

  TOTAL COST 12,548,366   
   40,000 Houghton Road 

pelican crossing 
 

   300,000 Houghton Rd / St 
Audreys route 

 
   215,000 Hill Rose scheme  
 

 
 44,682 S106 site specific 

allotments and 
community gardens 

 

 
 

 402,406 S106 site specific 
children and young 
people's play  

 

 
 

 166,255 S106 site specific 
police service 
capital provision 

 

  FUNDING GAP 11,380,023   
 
 
 

51



Local St Neots Projects 
St Neots 

Project Type Project Name Timescale Cost (£) Lead 
CIL or 
S106 

Roads A428/Cambridge Road Junction Improvement 2012 - 2013 2,000,000 CCC CIL 
Roads A428/Barford Road Junction Improvement 2016 2,000,000 CCC CIL 
Rail St Neots Station Improvements 2013 - 2015 3,600,000 Network Rail CIL 
Water & 
Sewage 

Increase in discharge consent for full extent of proposed growth.  For cost 
estimate purposes only, allowance to be made for possible upgrade to WWTW 

2014 - 2018 500,000 Anglian Water CIL 

Water & 
Sewage New Strategic Sewer 2014 - 2021 600,000 Anglian Water CIL 

Electricity New 10-12MW Primary SubStation 2014 - 2018 5,000,000 EDF CIL 
Walking and 
cycling Cambridge Road to Huntingdon Street on-road route from Cromwell Road to 

Huntingdon Street 
2016 - 2021 100,000 CCC CIL 

Walking and 
cycling 

On and off road route providing access from the high street down via Brook 
Street and St Mary’s Street on to Berkley Street – includes some minor 
improvements to Hen Brook Path 

2016 – 2021 150,000 CCC CIL 

Green 
Corridors Little Paxton to Buckden Green Space Corridor (Paxton Pits)  2011 - 2026 3,500,000 HDC CIL 
Green 
Corridors Green Links of St Neots  2011 - 2026 14,000,000 HDC CIL 

Major Green 
Sites Land East of St Neots Access to Open Countryside   2011 – 2016 1,000,000 HDC CIL 

Econ. & Regen Eynesbury / St Neots Green Space (Riverside Park and Barford Road Pocket 
Park)  

2011 - 2016 3,500,000 HDC CIL 

Econ. & Regen St Neots Space for Creativity Enterprise 
Phase 2  

2016 - 2021 2,500,000 – 
3,000,000 

HDC CIL 

Econ. & Regen Regeneration of St Neots Town Centre - the Priory Quarter. 2011 - 2016 tbc HDC CIL 
Social Inf 

Allotments and community gardens (ha.) 
2011 – 2026 241,180 HDC / TC S106 

site 
specific 

Social Inf 
Children and young people's play space (ha.) 

2011 – 2026 2,172,052 HDC / TC S106 
site 
specific 

Social Inf Allotments and community gardens (ha.) 2011 – 2026 19,040 HDC / TC CIL 

Social Inf Children and young people's play space (ha.) 2011 – 2026 171,473 HDC / TC CIL 

Social Inf Construct one 4.5 – 5.5 FE New Primary Schools (954 – 1,155 places) 
including Early Years Facilities and Children’s Centres 

2016 -2026 19,800,000 – 
24,200,000 

CCC S106 
site 
specific 

Social Inf Construct one 1 – 1.5 FE New Primary Schools (210 - 315 places) including 
Early Years Facilities and Children’s Centres 

2011 – 2016 4,400,000 – 
6,600,000 

CCC S106 
site 
specific 

52



St Neots 
Project Type Project Name Timescale Cost (£) Lead 

CIL or 
S106 

Social Inf Primary Education Accommodation for 54 – 75 places through  extensions to 
existing school s 

2016 – 2021 938,000 – 
1,300,000 

CCC CIL 

Social Inf Pre-school accommodation for 19 – 27 places 2016 – 2021 198,000 – 
281,000 

CCC CIL 

Social Inf Secondary Education Accommodation for 600 – 750 places plus Post 16 
facilities (extension of Longsands CC and/or St Neots CC 

2016 – 2021 17,300,000 – 
21,700,000 

CCC CIL 

Social Inf 
Co-located Library Facility 

2016 -2021 800,000 CCC S106 
site 
specific 

Social Inf Expansion of St Neots Waste Recycling Facility Completed 653,410 CCC CIL 

Social Inf New Primary Care Centre ( GP, dentist, community & other health services). 
Current estimate 1000 sq m internal space. Possible co-location with other 
services. 

2016 - 2021 2,100,000 Health S106 
site 
specific 

Social Inf Primary Care Provision ( GP, dentist, community & other health services) 
through expansion to existing facilities to meet needs of non large scale major 
sites. Total size & cost not yet know. Equivalent cost for a 2 GP Practice 
£735k. 

2011 - 2026 tbc Health CIL 

Social Inf Police Service capital provision 2011 – 2021 70,173 Police  CIL 

Social Inf 
Police Service capital provision 

2011 – 2026 904,144 Police  S106 
site 
specific 

Social Inf Sports and Recreation Facilities Provision 2011 - 2026 511,376 HDC CIL 

Social Inf Community Facility Provision 2016 – 2021 79,550 HDC CIL 

  TOTAL COST 88,808,398   

   2,000,000 A428 HA  

   3,600,000 Train station   

   653,410 Waste recycling  

   100,000 Brook St / Mary St 
route 

 

   19,800,000 – 
24,200,000 

S106 site specific 
primary education 

 

   4,400,000 – 
6,600,000 

S106 site specific 
primary education 

 

53



St Neots 
Project Type Project Name Timescale Cost (£) Lead 

CIL or 
S106 

   800,000 S106 site specific 
library provision 

 

   1,666,667 Space for creativity  

 
 

 241,180 S106 site specific 
allotments and 
community gardens 

 

 
 

 2,172,052 S106 site specific 
children and young 
people's play  

 

   2,100,000 S106 site specific 
health provision 

 

 
 

 904,144 S106 site specific 
police service 
capital provision 

 

  FUNDING GAP 50,370,945   

 
 

54



 
Local Yaxley/Sawtry/Fenstanton KSC Projects 

Yaxley/Sawtry/
Fenstanton 
KSC Project 

Type Project Name Timescale Cost (£) Lead 
CIL or 
S106 

Electricity Circuit and Transformer Funding deferred 4,000,000 EDF CIL 
Social Inf Allotments and community gardens (ha.) (Yaxley) 2011– 2026 4,492 

100,000 
HDC / PC CIL 

Social Inf Children and young people's play space (ha.) (Yaxley) 2011 – 2026  40,459 
390,000 

HDC / PC CIL 

Social Inf Primary Education accommodation for 16 – 22 places through extension of 
existing school (Yaxley) 

2021 – 2026 278,000 – 
382,000 

CCC CIL 

Social Inf Secondary Education accommodation for 12 – 16 places (Yaxley) 2021 – 2026 347,000 – 
463,000 

CCC CIL 

Social Inf Pre-school Accommodation for 6 – 8 places (Yaxley) 2021 – 2026 63,000 – 
83,000 

CCC CIL 
Social Inf Library adaptation, bookstock and fitout (Yaxley) 2021 – 2026 8,966 CCC CIL 

Social Inf Primary Care Provision ( GP, dentist, community & other health services) 
through expansion to existing facilities to meet needs of non large scale major 
sites. Total size & cost not yet know. Equivalent cost for a 2 GP Practice 
£735k. (Yaxley) 

2011 - 2026 tbc Health CIL 

Social Inf Police Service capital provision (Yaxley) 2016 – 2026 17,003 Police  CIL 

Social Inf Sports and Recreation Facilities Provision (Yaxley) 2011 - 2026 145,118 HDC CIL 

Social Inf Community Facility Provision (Yaxley)  2021 – 2026 23,310 HDC CIL 

Social Inf Allotments and community gardens (ha.) (Fenstanton) 2011 – 2026  9,115 HDC / TC CIL 
Social Inf Children and young people's play space (ha.) (Fenstanton) 2011 – 2026  82,091 HDC / TC CIL 
Social Inf Primary Education Accommodation for 32 – 44 places through extension of 

existing school (Fenstanton) 
2016- 2021 556,000 – 

765,000 
CCC CIL 

Social Inf Secondary Education Accommodation for 23 – 32 places (Fenstanton) 2016 – 2021 665,000 – 
926,000 

CCC CIL 

Social Inf Pre-School Accommodation for 12 – 16 places (Fenstanton) 2016- 2021 125,000 – 
167,000 

CCC CIL 

Social Inf Library adaptation, bookstock and fitout (Fenstanton) 2016 – 2021 17,729 CCC CIL 

Social Inf Primary Care Provision ( GP, dentist, community & other health services) 
through expansion to existing facilities to meet needs of non large scale major 
sites. Total size & cost not yet know. Equivalent cost for a 2 GP Practice 
£735k. (Fenstanton) 

2011 - 2026 tbc Health CIL 

55



Yaxley/Sawtry/
Fenstanton 
KSC Project 

Type Project Name Timescale Cost (£) Lead 
CIL or 
S106 

Social Inf Police Service capital provision (Fenstanton) 2011 – 2021 33,737 Police  CIL 

Social Inf Sports and Recreation Facilities Provision (Fenstanton) 2011 - 2026 294,445 HDC CIL 

Social Inf Community Facility Provision (Fenstanton) 2016 – 2021 46,250 HDC CIL 

Social Inf Allotments and community gardens (ha.) (Sawtry) 2011 – 2026  5,400 HDC / TC CIL 
Social Inf Children and young people's play space (ha.) (Sawtry) 2011 – 2026  48,632 HDC / TC CIL 
Social Inf Primary Education Accommodation for 19 - 26 places through extension of 

existing schools (Sawtry) 
2016- 2021 330,000 – 

452,000 
CCC CIL 

Social Inf Secondary Education Accommodation for 14 - 19 places through extension to 
existing school (Sawtry) 

2016 – 2021 405,000 – 
550,000 

CCC CIL 

Social Inf Pre-School Accommodation for 7 - 10 places (Sawtry) 2016- 2021 73,000 – 
104,000 

CCC CIL 

Social Inf Library adaptation, bookstock and fitout (Sawtry) 2016 – 2026 10,641 CCC CIL 

Social Inf Primary Care Provision ( GP, dentist, community & other health services) 
through expansion to existing facilities to meet needs of non large scale major 
sites. Total size & cost not yet know. Equivalent cost for a 2 GP Practice 
£735k. (Sawtry) 

2011 - 2026 tbc Health CIL 

Social Inf Police Service capital provision (Sawtry) 2016 – 2021 20,242 Police  CIL 

Social Inf Sports and Recreational Facilities Provision (Sawtry) 2011 - 2026 174,435 HDC CIL 

  TOTAL COST 7,824,065 NB: no funding known 
to deduct. 

 

 

56



 
Other Local Sites Projects 

Other Local 
Area Project 

Type Project Name Timescale Cost (£) Lead 
CIL or 
S106 

Social Inf Allotments and community gardens (ha.) 2011 – 2026  17,501 HDC / TC CIL 
Social Inf Children and young people's play space (ha.) 2011 – 2026  157,614 HDC / TC CIL 
Social Inf Pre-School Accommodation for 21 - 31 places 2016 - 2021 219,000 - 

323,000 
CCC CIL 

Social Inf Primary Education Accommodation for 59 - 82 places - extension to existing 
Schools 

2016 - 2021 1,030,000 -
1,430,000 

CCC CIL 

Social Inf Secondary Education Accommodation for 42 - 59 places - extension to existing 
School 

2016 - 2021 1,220,000 – 
1,710,000 

CCC CIL 
Social Inf Library adaptation, bookstock and fitout 2016 – 2026 33,341 CCC CIL 

Social Inf Primary Care Provision ( GP, dentist, community & other health services) 
through expansion to existing facilities to meet needs of non large scale major 
sites. Total size & cost not yet know. Equivalent cost for a 2 GP Practice 
£735k. 

2011 - 2026 tbc Health CIL 

Social Inf Police Service capital provision 2011 – 2021 63,425 Police  CIL 

Social Inf Sports and Recreation Facilities Provision 2011 - 2026 461,770 HDC CIL 

Social Inf Community Facility Provision 2011 – 2016 139,860 HDC CIL 

  TOTAL COST 3,342,511   
 
 

57



Total Infrastructure Costs 
 

 Total Cost (£) Alternative funding deductions Funding Gap (£) 
Multi-area 
infrastructure 

1,662,607,000 • 6,041,000 
Link Road other funding: 
Housing Growth Funding - £3,491,000  
HDC Capital contribution £ 510,000  
Existing S106 - £ 440,000 confirmed 
Sainsbury contribution gas main £ 600,000  
Sale excess land £1,000,000 

• 13,000,000 
Gt Fen land acquisition and restoration phase 1.  HLF funded 

• 58,000 
Skills Funding Agency to support HRC Sports Changing Rooms and 3G pitch 

• 1,198,000,000 
A14 HA / Dept for Transport funded 

• 2,000,000 
A1 Buckden roundabout HA funded 

• 380.000,000 
A428 Caxton Common to A1 HA funded 

• 5,000,000 
St Ives to Huntingdon Bus Priority Measures Dept for Transport 

• 1,100,000 
Loves Farm contribution to Cambridge – St Neots transport corridor bus priority 
measures 

57,408,000 

Huntingdon 
SPA 
infrastructure 

47,270,937 • 169,650 
Route 6 to also utilize other transport funding 

• 195,000 
Route 7 to also utilize other transport funding 

• 2,625,000 
Majority (75%) to be funded from other sources 

• 633,750 
Majority (75%) to be funded from other sources 

• 7,800,000 
Large scale major on-site primary education via S106 

• 1,950,000 
Large scale major on-site primary education via S106 

• 3,900,000 – 6,100,000 
Large scale major on-site primary education via S106 

• 73,965 
Large scale major on-site allotments and community gardens 

• 14,528 
Large scale major on-site allotments and community gardens 

• 50,810 
Large scale major on-site allotments and community gardens 

• 21,754 
Large scale major on-site allotments and community gardens 

27,786,579 

58



 Total Cost (£) Alternative funding deductions Funding Gap (£) 
• 666,127 
Large scale major on-site children and young people's play  

• 130,839 
Large scale major on-site children and young people's play  

• 457,589 
Large scale major on-site children and young people's play  

• 195,912 
Large scale major on-site children and young people's play  

• 188,926 
Large scale major on-site police service capital provision 

• 53,978 
Large scale major on-site police service capital provision 

• 275,562 
Large scale major on-site police service capital provision 

• 80,968 
Large scale major on-site police service capital provision 

Ramsey SPA 
infrastructure 

11,948,042 • 522,500 
Other transport funding re Upwood School / High St and Bury Rd 

• 3,000,000 
Enterprise Centre – developer lead 

• 2,000,000 
CHP – developer lead 

6,425,542 

St Ives SPA 
infrastructure 

12,548,366 • 40,000 
Part of Houghton Road funding to be received from other transport funding 

• 300,000 
Majority of Houghton Rd cycle route to be received from other transport funding 

• 215,000 
Part of Hill Rose scheme to be funded from other transport funding 

• 44,682 
Large scale major on-site allotments and community gardens 

• 402,406 
Large scale major on-site children and young people's play  

• 166,255 
Large scale major on-site police service capital provision 

11,380,023 

St Neots SPA 
infrastructure 

88,808,398 • 2,000,000 
A428/ Cambridge Rd junction all developer funded.  Awaiting trigger point. 

• 3,600,000 
Train station improvements – fully funded. 

• 653,410 
Waste Recycling 

• 100,000 
Brook St / St Mary’s St path majority funding from other sources 

• 19,800,000 – 24,200,000 
Large scale major on-site primary education via S106 

• 4,400,000 – 6,600,000 
Large scale major on-site primary education via S106 

50,370,945 

59



 Total Cost (£) Alternative funding deductions Funding Gap (£) 
• 800,000 
Large scale major on-site library services provision via S106 

• 1,666,667 
Space for creativity project 

• 241,180 
Large scale major on-site allotments and community gardens 

• 2,172,052 
Large scale major on-site children and young people's play  

• 2,100,000 
Large scale major on-site health provision 

• 904,144 
Large scale major on-site police service capital provision 

Yaxley / Sawtry 
/ Fenstanton 
KSCs 

7,824,065 n/a 7,824,065 

Other KSCs 
and small 
settlements 

3,342,511 n/a 3,342,511 

TOTAL 1,834,349,319  164,537,665 
 60



 
Based on trajectory of residential sites yet to have permission, 7582 units could come forward between 2011 and  2026 in addition 
to those sites already under construction or with consent.  At an average unit cost of £9,000, this could bring in £68,238,000.  
However, 40% of units should be affordable housing which is not liable to pay levy and, as such, this means the anticipated income 
could be in the region of £40,942,800.  Taking into account a 5% administration cost, this is then reduced to £38,895,660.   
 
In addition to this, any retail development over 999 sq m or any hotel development will be liable to a levy rate of £75 and £50 per sq 
m respectively to help fund infrastructure needs. 
 
If we take the lowest funding gap – deciding to deduct all the projects noted in the table above – even after the residential CIL being 
collected, there is an estimated £125,642,005 which will need to be found from other funding sources.   

61



62

T
his page is intentionally left blank



CABINET                23rd June 2011 
 

PRELIMINARY DRAFT  
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)  

CHARGING SCHEDULE  
 (Report by the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Environmental Well-Being)) 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1 At its meeting held on 14th June 2011, the Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

(Environmental Well-Being) considered the report by the Head of Planning 
Services on the Council’s proposed Preliminary Draft Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule. This report summarises the 
Panel’s discussions. 

 
2. THE PANEL’S DISCUSSIONS 
 
2.1 The Panel has been advised that the new scheme will put the Council in a 

more powerful position with regard to influencing where money from the 
CIL will be spent. However, attention has been drawn to the additional 
responsibilities the Council will have in establishing a policy position on the 
allocation of funding and establishing sound governance arrangements. 
The latter will require service level agreements to be established with other 
recipients of funding for the delivery of projects. Members of the Panel have 
stressed that the agreements should include a requirement for the District 
Council to be provided with clear and transparent detailed information on 
the projects that have been delivered through the CIL. In response, it has 
been reported that the Council will be required to submit a report annually 
on the CIL to the Government. The Panel has requested that the report is 
submitted to them as a matter of course. 

 
2.2 Members have recognized that there will be an administrative cost 

associated with the scheme, which is legally limited to 5% of income from 
the CIL. 

 
2.3 Following discussions on how other bodies such as those representing 

health, fire and police will negotiate their benefit from CIL, the Panel has 
noted that consideration is being given to employing the existing 
Huntingdonshire Strategic Partnership structure for this purpose. 

 
2.4 Having been advised that the scheme will be updated regularly to take 

account of changes in local circumstances, the Panel has requested that a 
“plain English” version of the scheme is made available on the Council’s 
website. 

 
2.5 Members have requested that they be given an opportunity to review the 

comments received through the consultation before the Charging Schedule 
is adopted. 

 
4. RECOMMENDATION 
 
4.1 The Cabinet is requested to take into consideration the views of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Environmental Well-Being) as set out 
above when considering this item. 

 
 
Contact Officer: A Roberts, Scrutiny and Review Manager - 01480 388015 

63



64

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Council has to produce a Homelessness Strategy at least every five 

years and it is now due for a renewal. 
 
1.2 Cabinet approved a consultation draft in November 2010.  Following a full 

consultation process, which included elected members, and having updated 
the strategy it is now ready for formal adoption.   
 

1.3 Four responses to the consultation were received from partners and 
stakeholders with all saying that they agreed with the priorities and the 
actions required to achieve these priorities.  Other suggestions made by the 
respondents form part of the action plan and will be investigated further as 
this is progressed.  These include: the review of mediation as a means of 
helping prevention and whether this can be used more widely; and the 
provision of suitable services for homeless young people in the St Ives area 
of the district. 

 
2. BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
2.1 Statutory homelessness nationally and locally has been reducing over the last 

few years up until the beginning of this year.  The homelessness prevention 
measures and initiatives introduced have led to significant increases in the 
number of households that have managed to avoid the homelessness route 
through positive interventions by the Council.  This in turn had led to a 
reduction in the number of households placed in temporary accommodation 
by the Council. 

 
2.2 2010/11 saw the previous downward trend of homelessness reverse with an 

increase in the number of households helped through the statutory 
homelessness route. This in turn led to an increase in the number of 
households in temporary accommodation.  Prevention measures still remain 
effective and 2010/11 also saw an increase in the number of successful 
prevention cases.  Without these the number of actual homeless households 
would have been higher.  

 
2.3 A further complication is that the availability of the private rented sector (the 

most successful prevention tenure utilised by the Council) is likely to reduce 
through a series of changes to the Housing Benefit system by central 
government that began in April of this year.  The full impact of these changes 
is likely to be realised over the coming year.  This is likely to reduce the 
Council’s prevention options, potentially leading to higher rates of statutory 
homelessness and an increase in the number of households placed into 
temporary accommodation.  

 
 
 
 

Cabinet 23 June 2011 
 

 
Homelessness Strategy 

(Report by the Head of Housing Services) 

Agenda Item 6

65



3. RESOURCING THE STRATEGY 
 
3.1 Details of the financial resources to meet the action plan are included in the 

Action Plan at Appendix A of the strategy.   
 
3.2 The main resource is that of the staffing establishment.  There are seven FTE 

staff, two temporary workers and an Activity Manager, who also has 
responsibility for a separate but connected work area of choice based lettings.    

 
3.3 Revenue funding is used to fund a range of homelessness prevention 

initiatives.  Revenue funding comes in the main from a government 
homelessness grant.  For 2011/12 the Council’s MTP provision is £61k (which 
matched the previous government grant).  The government has increased the 
homelessness grant for the current year (2011/12) and 2012/13 to £85k for 
each year.  This grant forms part of the area based grant and it is a ‘named 
grant’ for the purpose of homelessness but the grant is not ring fenced.  Each 
year an MTP bid is made to the Council for a homelessness grant and for 
year five of the Plan in case the government reduces or stops its grant. The 
government has said that local authorities may assume the same allocation 
for the remainder of the current comprehensive spending review period 
2013/14 and 2014/15 but this is likely to be subject to local authorities 
demonstrating that the current grant is being used for its intended purpose of 
homelessness.  

 
3.4 Loans and bonds are issued to enable access to the private rented sector for 

those at threat of homelessness as an alternative to scarce social housing.  
These are means tested loans.  This is a net zero budget but the council does 
incur bad debt from individuals helped and calls on bonds from landlords.  
The bad debt allowance for the current year is £81k.  This allowance is 
reviewed regularly and is part of the base revenue budget. 

 
4. CONCLUSION 
 
4.1 Homelessness prevention remains a priority so that the affects of 

homelessness, together with the use of temporary accommodation, are 
minimised.  The outcomes achieved through the previous strategy show that 
prevention works.  The revised strategy focuses on maintaining and 
increasing these services in light of higher levels of demand.   

 
5. RECOMMENDATION 
 
5.1 That Cabinet approves the Homelessness Strategy prior to formal adoption at 

full Council.  
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local Authorities. 
 
Contact Officer: Steve Plant, Head of Housing Services 
 �     01480 388240 
 Jon Collen, Housing Needs & Resources Manager 
 
 

66



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Huntingdonshire District Council 
 
 
HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY 
 
 
June 2011 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

67



 

Homelessness Strategy  June 2011 
 

 1 

 
Contents               Page 
 
1 Introduction 2 
2 Homelessness in Context  
  The National Picture 3 
  The Local Picture 4 
3  Temporary Accommodation  5 
4 The Causes of Homelessness 6 
5 Delivering a successful housing advice and options 

service 
 

7 

6 The aims and objectives of the Strategy 11 
7 Appendix A: Action Plan 2011 15 
8 Appendix B: Achievements since the last Strategy 18 
 
 
 
 

68



 

Homelessness Strategy  June 2011 
 

 2 

Introduction 
 
This is the Council’s third Homelessness Strategy.  It looks back at the 
successes that have been achieved following the 2006 Strategy and looks 
forward to the way in which the Council aims to further develop services for 
households threatened with homelessness.  The Homelessness Act 2002 
requires all Councils to formulate a Homelessness Strategy at least every five 
years.  Councils are required to carry out a homelessness review of their area 
and produce a strategy to: 
 
• address the causes of homelessness in the area; 
• introduce initiatives to prevent homelessness wherever possible; 
• provide sufficient temporary accommodation for those households that 

are or may become homeless; and  
• ensure that appropriate support is available for people who have 

previously experienced homelessness in order to prevent it happening 
again. 

 
The Council has selected six of its objectives as community priorities for the 
next three to four years in its Council Plan for 2011 to 2015. Four of these 
priority objectives contribute directly or indirectly to the prevention of 
homelessness: 
• to prevent and deal with homelessness; 
• to help vulnerable and disadvantaged people to live independently; 
• to work in partnership to support strong communities; and 
• to encourage new jobs, homes and facilities to meet our needs. 
 
In addition to its priorities, the Council continues to work towards a wider 
range of objectives linked to delivery of its many important and valued 
services. 
 
The Council will attempt to achieve a low level of homelessness by: 
• helping prevent people from becoming homeless; and 
• housing homeless people where appropriate. 
 
This strategy reviews the successes achieved in contributing to these 
outcomes and highlights areas where further action is still needed.  It 
incorporates all of these factors into a revised Action Plan.  
 
 
 

69



 

Homelessness Strategy  June 2011 
 

 3 

Homelessness in Context 
 
The National Picture 
 
The number of households accepted as statutorily homeless by Councils in 
England peaked in 2003/04 at 135,430.   Between 1997 and 2004 the number 
of households accommodated by Councils in temporary accommodation 
doubled, breaking the 100,000 mark in 2004.  Homelessness moved further 
up the political agenda with the recognition that urgent action had to be taken 
to address the housing crisis, in particular the rate of homelessness within the 
country and the number of households in temporary accommodation.   
 
The government’s policy briefing released in June 2005 focused on ways of 
achieving this target, particularly the increased use of preventative measures 
and utilising the private rented sector as a source of settled accommodation.  
This drew together the examples of good practice where Councils had 
successfully introduced homelessness prevention measures and increased 
access to the private sector for many clients who may otherwise have been 
reliant on the limited stock of social rented housing. 
 
We are now six years down the line since this change in emphasis.  The trend 
of increasing numbers of households faced with homelessness was reversed 
and since 2003/04 the number of households accepted as homeless by 
Councils in England has dramatically decreased.  The concern now is that 
nationally between October and December 2010 there has been a reversal in 
the downward trend achieved over the last seven years.  This quarter saw a 
15% increase in the number of households accepted as homeless compared 
to the same quarter in the previous year. The big question is whether the 
current economic downturn will lead to significant increases in homelessness 
and break the downward trend in homelessness that is illustrated in the chart 
below. 
Graph 1: Households accepted by local authorities as owed a main homelessness duty 
each quarter, 1998 to March 2010, England 

0
5,000

10,000
15,000
20,000
25,000
30,000
35,000
40,000

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Seasonally adjusted Unadjusted

 Source: CLG Housing Statistical Release March 2011 

70



 

Homelessness Strategy  June 2011 
 

 4 

 
The Local Picture 
 
Huntingdonshire has seen a similar trend to the national picture in terms of 
homelessness, although actually experiencing a peak in the actual number of 
homeless households a year earlier in 2002/03.  Like the national picture, 
Huntingdonshire was successful in reducing the number of people 
experiencing homelessness in the subsequent years.  The number of 
households accepted as homeless reduced by 45% from 251 in 2002/03 to 
137 in 2009/10.   
 
However, 2010/11 saw an increase in households applying to the Council and 
being accepted as homeless.  Acceptances increased by 23% on the previous 
year up to 169 households. The graph below illustrates the reducing number 
of households experiencing actual homelessness in Huntingdonshire since 
2005 and the increase from 2009/10 to 2010/11. 
 
Graph 2: Total homelessness decisions, those that were accepted as statutorily 
homeless – no. of households for Huntingdonshire between 1999/2000 & 2010/11 

 
 
 
The trend of reduction in homelessness illustrated above has been achieved 
by introducing a series of successful prevention measures.  The more 
successful the Council has been at helping households prevent their 
homelessness the fewer households that have been faced with a crisis 
situation and had to make a homelessness application.  The likelihood is that 
if the prevention measures were not so successful the number of homeless 
households would be much higher than shown in the graph above. 
 
Graph 3 overleaf illustrates the increasing number of successful 
homelessness preventions helped year on year.  The large increase in 
households helped, particularly from 2007/08 to 2008/09, was mainly due to 
the buoyancy of the local private rented sector and being able to help people 
find a new home in that sector before they became homeless.  The Council’s 
Rent Deposit scheme helps people with some of the upfront costs taking on a 
private sector tenancy and has played a large part in being able to achieve 
the higher prevention numbers. 

71



 

Homelessness Strategy  June 2011 
 

 5 

 
Graph 3: Number of households helped to successfully prevent homelessness 2005/06 
to 2010/11  

  
It could be argued that the current economic climate has started to have a 
significant impact on homelessness within the district, with increasing 
numbers of households seeking advice about their housing difficulties being 
an indicator.  The Council’s housing advice and options service has seen a 
31% increase in customers (from 1362 households seeking help with their 
housing in 2009/10 compared to 1781 during 2010/11).  The local Citizens 
Advice Bureaux have also seen an increase in the number of housing 
enquiries they received in 2010 (an increase from 416 households in the first 
half of 2009/10 to 491 in the same period 2010/11).  
 
Temporary Accommodation  
 
The Council has a duty to provide certain homeless households with 
temporary housing whilst it attempts to help them resolve their housing 
difficulties.  As with many high demand areas, the limited number of social 
rented properties available for letting and the increasing demands on these 
properties leads to homeless households having to spend longer than would 
be desirable in temporary accommodation.  Temporary accommodation, and 
in particular bed and breakfast, is recognised as being unsatisfactory for 
households.  In many cases it provides accommodation with shared facilities 
away from families’ usual support networks at a cost to both the Council and 
household.   As a result, reducing the use of temporary accommodation and 
minimising the length of time households have to stay in this accommodation 
will remain a key priority for the Council within this Strategy.   
 
The successful preventative measures led to a reduction in the number of 
households having to be placed in temporary accommodation from a peak of 
over 120 households in 2004 to 61 at the beginning of April 2009.  The recent 
increase in homelessness has led to 76 households housed in temporary 

72



 

Homelessness Strategy  June 2011 
 

 6 

accommodation at the end of March 2011.  This figure is expected to increase 
if homelessness continues at current rates, or increases, and the number of 
available social rented properties reduces. 
 
As well as concerns about the increasing numbers of households placed in 
temporary accommodation a further issue is that Council’s ability to ensure 
that these households have the opportunities to move on into permanent 
housing, avoiding bed blocking of the temporary accommodation.  Under 
normal circumstances this is through households accepted as homeless 
bidding for housing through the Home-Link scheme for available social rented 
properties.  A number of households have issues that they firstly need to 
resolve before they are able to go through this route.  They may have 
problems such as former tenant arrears with a housing association or a 
support issue where a support package needs to be put in place for them to 
live independently.  The Council works with households in these 
circumstances to make sure that their issues are resolved so that housing 
associations are willing to consider them for an offer of permanent housing.  
There is an increasing proportion of households with these types of issues 
potentially adding to bed blocking of temporary accommodation and requiring 
ongoing casework by the Council.  At the end of April 2011 there were 45 
households out of a total of 76 in temporary accommodation that had issues 
that meant they were not able to be considered for permanent housing. 
 
Case study 1:  Mr and Mrs P and their two children had been privately renting 
a house in St Neots for two years when their landlord gave them notice to 
leave.  It was the landlord’s only property and he no longer thought it 
worthwhile renting out the property and he wanted to release the equity that 
he had in the property.  Despite working with the family to try and find an 
alternative privately rented property we were unable to do this before the 
landlord required possession and so we had a duty to provide the family with 
temporary accommodation.  They were placed in bed and breakfast in 
Huntingdon whilst we tried to find them more suitable temporary housing and 
continued to try and help them find a new home in the privately rented sector.  
The placement in B&B meant the family were moved away from Mr P’s job 
and the family support network they had in St Neots.  As well as the social 
cost, although the family were eligible for some help with Housing Benefit the 
financial cost was not insignificant.  This was also a costly option to the 
Council as it was not able to recover through the subsidy arrangements with 
central government all the Housing Benefit it paid to Mr and Mrs P.   
 
The Causes of Homelessness.  
 
The main causes of homelessness within the district are consistent with the 
national picture: eviction by parents, other relatives and friends; end of private 
sector tenancies; and relationship breakdown (violent and non-violent) being 
the main causes.  Eviction by parents, other relatives or friends asking people 
to leave their home continues to be the single largest cause of homelessness 
in the district.  This accounts for almost a third of all homelessness, both 
nationally and at a local level.  
 
Almost a quarter of homelessness is as a result of relationship breakdown 
with a proportion of this being as a result of domestic violence.  Households 

73



 

Homelessness Strategy  June 2011 
 

 7 

losing their private sector tenancies are the third largest cause of 
homelessness in the district although this figure has been reducing over the 
last three years.  The break down of causes of homelessness within the 
district is shown in the table below. 
 
Table 1: Causes of homelessness In Huntingdonshire – No. of households accepted by 
actual cause of homelessness. 
Year 
 

Eviction by 
parent, other 
relative or 
friend 

Relationship 
breakdown 
(of which 
involve 
violence) 

Mortgage 
arrears 

Loss of 
private 
rented 
housing 

Other 
causes 

Total 

2008/09 59 28 (17) 15 37 23 162 

2009/10 48 32 (20) 6 27 24 137 

2010/11 57 26 (11) 11 56 19 169 
 
In terms of the type of households faced with homelessness, both nationally 
and locally approximately 70% are families either with children or where they 
are expecting their first child.  This may lead to family upheaval with children 
being placed into temporary accommodation a distance from schools and 
families being moved away from their support networks. 
 
Single people with mental health issues make up on average 8 to 10% of the 
households accepted as homelessness, with young people (16 and 17 year 
olds) making up 6 to 7%.  There are no discernable trends with homelessness 
amongst differing household types and this picture is mirrored nationally.  
However, anecdotal evidence locally suggests that there are an increasing 
number of young people facing the threat of homelessness but successful 
prevention work with them, for example helping them into a placement in an 
appropriate supported housing scheme means that they may not appear in 
the homelessness statistics mentioned above. 
 
Huntingdonshire has in recent years attracted significant numbers of migrant 
workers to the area.  A concern was that given the economic downturn and 
increasing unemployment the migrant worker population may suffer the knock 
on effect of homelessness if they did become unemployed.  Anecdotal 
evidence suggests that the migrant worker population’s first tenure of choice 
appears to be privately renting.  There have been relatively few migrant 
worker households that have ended up becoming homeless as they have 
managed to resolve their own needs in the private rented sector, some with 
the help of the Rent Deposit Scheme.  2010/11 has seen a slight increase in 
homelessness amongst these households.  The table below gives the figures 
and this will continue to be monitored to see if migrant workers appear to be 
having a disproportionate problem with homelessness in the district.  
 
 
 
 
 

74



 

Homelessness Strategy  June 2011 
 

 8 

Table 2: No. of households accepted as homeless in Huntingdonshire by nationality – 
2008/09 onwards.  
Year 
 

UK nationals Other EEA* 
nationals  

Non EEA 
nationals 

Total 

2008/09 155 5 2 162 
2009/10 126 10 1 137 
2010/11 150 13 6 169 
*EEA: European Economic Area is member states of the European Union plus Iceland, 
Liechtenstein and Norway. 
 
Delivering a successful housing advice and options service 
 
The lifetime of the previous strategy witnessed times of economic growth 
followed by recession leading to higher unemployment, lower property prices 
but restrictions in lending by the banks.  A housing advice and options service 
is in demand in prosperous economic times as well as times of economic 
downturn.  When times are good a prosperous property market leads to 
higher prices meaning that many people on lower incomes are priced out of 
the market, unable to get their feet on the first rung of the property ladder.  
Their housing options may be limited because of this and if faced with housing 
difficulties they may see social rented housing as the only affordable option 
open to them.  
 
In times of recession, particularly when the availability of credit and mortgage 
products are limited, combined with higher levels of unemployment, 
affordability is also an issue for many households.  The difference is that 
those faced with housing difficulties may be struggling to afford to keep their 
existing home for example if they become unemployed or struggling to find a 
new home if previously readily available credit for mortgages becomes limited.  
In these circumstances many may see social rented housing as their only 
affordable option and so approach the Council for help.  
 
The Council has a legal duty to ensure that there is a free advice and 
information service about homelessness and the prevention of homelessness 
in the district.  It also has a duty to take reasonable steps to make sure that 
accommodation continues to be available for someone who is threatened with 
homelessness and is likely to have a priority need under the terms of the 
homelessness legislation.  The Code Of Guidance that accompanies the 
homelessness legislation goes further in that it states that Councils should 
offer a broad range of advice and assistance and not wait until homelessness 
is a likelihood or imminent before taking action. 
 
The housing advice and options approach adopted by the Council is similar to 
that used successfully by many Councils over the last few years.  The first 
step is to consider whether the Council is able to work with the household to 
resolve whatever the issue may be and try and help them stay in their current 
home.  This could be by: 
 
• Negotiating with family and friends, including use of mediation 

75



 

Homelessness Strategy  June 2011 
 

 9 

• Negotiating with private landlords and agents 
• Negotiating with mortgage lenders 
• Referral to the mortgage support and rescue schemes 
• Assisting with maximising their income, for example help with applying for 

benefits 
• Property improvements, for example through the Sanctuary scheme, or 

adaptations 
 
Where a person’s homelessness cannot be prevented we consider what their 
other housing options are.  This will include a full range of advice on the 
different tenures available including privately renting, low cost home 
ownership options and socially renting, and what assistance may be available 
to help them with the most appropriate of these options. 
 
Within this structure of ‘prevention followed by alternative housing options’ the 
Council decided to introduce a range of initiatives that it believed would be 
most appropriate to help customers.  The following are the most successful 
initiatives used with case studies of how these have helped particular 
households: 
 
1. The Court Advocacy Service – the Council provides an advocacy 

service at the County Court to help households defend possession 
claims, for example on grounds of mortgage arrears and rent arrears.  
The purpose of the service is to ensure that all steps are taken to try and 
resolve the issues so that the household can remain in their home and 
that eviction and repossession are the very last resort.  The Council has 
taken on a greater role with this work since the independent law centre in 
the district that previously attended the Court went out of business.  The 
Council was able to recruit one of the law centre’s specialist advisors to 
continue with this work with the help of the Homelessness Prevention 
Grant from central government.  This grant was increased in 2011/12 to 
£85,000 and the same amount will be received in 2012/13.  Although the 
grant is labelled as Homelessness Prevention Grant it is not ring fenced 
and is paid into the Area based Grant pot.   
 
Negotiations with landlords and mortgage lenders through the Court 
Advocacy Service, or earlier where possible, may require relatively small 
payments to be made in the form of a grant or a loan.  The Council 
considers making these types of payments through its Homelessness 
Prevention Budget where homelessness can be prevented and this 
provides the best outcome for the family and provides a longer term, 
affordable solution for the household. 

 
Case study 2:  Mr A from St Ives is a construction worker who suffered a 
downturn in earnings due to a reduction in work at the same time as his 
partner required a serious operation and became too ill to work.  As their 
income dropped they fell into mortgage arrears totalling £15,000.  We 
negotiated with their lender, prepared a financial statement and 
manageable budget, we then represented them at the court hearing and 
achieved a suspension of a warrant of eviction.  A homelessness 
situation was avoided that would have been through no fault of their own.  

76



 

Homelessness Strategy  June 2011 
 

 10 

The family were able to remain in their home and as Mr A is confident of 
getting more work over the coming months their income and financial 
position should improve further.  

 
2. The Rent Deposit / Rent In Advance Scheme – where it is not possible 

to help a household remain in their current home this is the most 
successful initiative that helps them find a new home.  The scheme 
provides either an interest free loan or bond to cover the up front costs 
associated with taking on a private sector tenancy.  These costs can 
often be restrictive for many and as privately rented accommodation 
tends to be the most readily available tenure in the district, giving a 
helping hand to secure this type of property means that many households 
are able to find a new home, avoiding actual homelessness altogether.  

 
Where a household is not able to afford other associated costs with 
taking on a tenancy, such as the administration or credit check fees, the 
Council is able to make further payments from its Homelessness 
Prevention Budget if this is the only barrier to helping a household into a 
tenancy and avoids the need for a homeless situation. 

 
Case study 3:  Mr and Mrs B fell into mortgage arrears when Mr B’s 
business failed and he was declared bankrupt.  Their mortgage lender 
threatened Court action and their property was in the process of being 
repossessed when they sought advice and help from the Council.  
Unfortunately there was nothing that could be done to save their home 
but we were able to help them find a privately rented property with a 
private landlord.  The landlord’s property had been brought back into use 
with the assistance of a Repairs Assistance Loan from the Council.  The 
Council helped Mr and Mrs B through the Rent Deposit scheme by 
offering the landlord a bond and the family moved into the property 
avoiding an actual homelessness situation.  

 
3. Young Persons Mediation Service – the Council helps fund the 

Cambridge and District Mediation Service to provide a service for young 
people threatened with homelessness as a result of a breakdown in their 
relationship with their parents.  The aim is to reconcile the young person 
with their parent so that they can return/remain at home and address the 
issues that led to the break down in the first place.  Mediation can be very 
difficult as the breakdown in relationship has often reached such a severe 
stage that full reconciliation is not possible.  Where this is not possible 
the service may help with a more managed move away from home for 
the young person so that an emergency homelessness situation is 
avoided by the parent agreeing to keep the young person for longer.   

 
Case study 4:  Miss T was a 17 year old whose relationship with her 
parents deteriorated to the extent that they asked her to leave home.  
The family were willing to try and rebuild their relationships and accepted 
the offer of mediation.  As a result of talking through their differences and 
accepting compromises Miss T was able to go back home and maintain a 
more constructive relationship with her parents.  This avoided an 
unnecessary homelessness situation. 

 

77



 

Homelessness Strategy  June 2011 
 

 11 

Unfortunately where the Council is unable to prevent a household’s 
homelessness situation, or help them find alternative housing through the 
other options outlined above, then the safety net of the homelessness 
legislation means that the Council may have a duty to help them through the 
social rented housing route.  As mentioned earlier, in 2009/10 a total of 137 
households were owed the full housing duty through this route which 
increased to 169 households in 2010/11 with many commentators believing 
homelessness numbers will increase further before they reduce further.  
 
Case study 5:  Mrs P lived in Huntingdon with her three children.  She had 
been left with a number of debts since her husband’s death some years 
previously and had been struggling to manage the mortgage for some time, 
falling into mortgage arrears.  She was reliant upon Widow’s Allowance and 
could not work due to a disability.  The Council worked with her to try and 
prevent an outright possession order on her home but it was not an affordable 
option and so repossession was inevitable.  The Council therefore considered 
what help it could offer her under the terms of the homelessness legislation.  
She was owed a full housing duty under the legislation as she had become 
homeless through no fault of her own and she has been assisted into social 
rented housing through the Home-Link scheme. 
 
The aims and objectives of the Strategy 
 
There were many successful achievements within the lifetime of the previous 
strategy as outlined in appendix A of this document.  These contributed to the 
four high level objectives of:  
 
1. Preventing homelessness by maintaining households in their 

current home wherever possible.   
2. Providing a range of accessible and affordable housing options 

across all tenures. 
3. Reducing the number of households in temporary 

accommodation.  
4. Improving performance management, organisational efficiency 

and cross boundary collaboration.  
 
These objectives remain very relevant in the current climate.   The provision 
of proactive services to help households avoid homelessness altogether, or 
minimise the detrimental affects should homelessness be unavoidable, 
remain at the heart of what the Council aims to achieve for the residents of 
the district.  The challenge moving forward will be to continue the successful 
homeless prevention measures in a potentially a harsher economic climate.  
There may be a need to adapt existing homelessness prevention measures or 
create new responses to any changes in the housing market.    
 
The Council recognises the significant social hardship that homelessness has 
on the households affected.  It also recognises that there is a significant 
monetary cost to households as well as to the Council via its statutory duties 
towards the homeless.  Many of the services and initiatives provided by the 
Council can offer better value in terms of preventing homelessness compared 
to dealing with the aftermath of actual homelessness.  The Council therefore 
recognises the importance of achieving positive outcomes for households 

78



 

Homelessness Strategy  June 2011 
 

 12 

threatened with homelessness.  To keep the focus squarely on the prevention 
of homelessness or minimising its impact if this is unavoidable, the four 
outcomes from the previous strategy have been carried forward to this 
strategy. 
 
Considering some of the key aspects of each of these objectives in turn: 
   
1. Preventing homelessness by maintaining households in their 

current home wherever possible.   
  
We currently have in place: 
 

 We aim to: 
• A Court advocacy service for 

housing association tenants 
facing eviction due to rent 
arrears and home owners 
facing repossession due to 
mortgage arrears.  This service 
is provided by a specialist 
advisor through short term 
grant funding.   

 

 • Continue with this valuable 
service that offers both last 
minute and early interventions 
for households facing court 
action. 

 

• A Homelessness Prevention 
Budget to be able to make 
relatively small payments that 
prevent homelessness. This is 
funded through a grant 
provided by central 
government.  

 

 • Continue to provide a 
Homelessness Prevention 
Budget as it is recognised as 
one of the main tools available 
to help households avoid 
homelessness. 

 
• A young persons’ mediation 

service for those threatened 
with homelessness because of 
a relationship breakdown with 
parents. 

 • Review the provision of this 
service, considering 
commissioning the service with 
neighbouring Councils as well 
as Children’s Services at the 
County Council.  

 
• Discretionary Housing 

Payments through the Housing 
Benefit department to help with 
the shortfall in entitlement in 
certain circumstances so that a 
claimant has time to find more 
affordable alternative housing.  

 

 • Review with the Housing 
Benefit department how any 
increase in DHP grant that the 
Council may receive can be 
best used to minimise the 
threat of homelessness on  
households affected by 
changes in the Housing Benefit 
system 

  
 
 
 
 

79



 

Homelessness Strategy  June 2011 
 

 13 

Our other priorities in this area are to: 
 

• Review the success of the new operational arrangements of the 
Young Persons’ Protocol with Children’s Services following 
changes made to it in early 2010 in light of new case law. 

 
• Implement a vulnerable persons’ protocol with housing providers to 

ensure a joined up approach to the prevention of homelessness 
amongst, for example, vulnerable housing association tenants. 

 
2. Providing a range of accessible and affordable housing options 

across all tenures.   
 
We currently have in place: 
 

 We aim to: 
• A Rent Deposit / Rent In 

Advance scheme that 
provides an interest free loan or 
bond to help with the upfront 
costs associated with taking on 
a private tenancy.   

 

 • Ensure the scheme continues 
to be available to households 
threatened with homelessness 
as this scheme has been the 
most successful means of 
preventing homelessness.  

 
• Payments for credit & 

reference checks for 
households threatened with 
homelessness who have found 
a private sector tenancy.  This 
is funded through the 
homelessness grant from 
central government. 

 • Continue with this initiative as it 
is essential for some 
households to help them 
access the private rented 
sector and so prevent their 
homelessness.  

 
  
 Our other priorities in this area are to: 
 

• Develop the Home-Link scheme to provide a wider range of options 
and services.  This forms part of the Enhanced Housing Options 
programme mentioned earlier in the strategy that aims to use the 
Home-Link scheme and website to deliver: 

o A private rented website that allows landlords to advertise 
their available properties 

o Links to information on low cost home ownership options as 
well as rented options 

o Links to employment advice  
o A personalised front page to the website that considers a 

person’s circumstances and provides them with relevant and 
targeted advice to meet their needs 

 
3. Reducing the number of households in temporary 

accommodation.  This will be achieved by reducing the number of 
households requiring temporary accommodation through successful 
prevention and options work outlined above.  This is not always 
possible and temporary accommodation is frequently required and so 

80



 

Homelessness Strategy  June 2011 
 

 14 

this objective will be redefined to include work on ensuring that 
appropriate accommodation is provided wherever possible.  

 
We currently have in place: 
 

 We aim to: 
• Crash bed units that provide 

emergency accommodation for 
homeless young people at 
Paines Mill Foyer in St Neots.  
This is far more appropriate 
emergency accommodation 
than the use of B&B.   

 

 • Replicate this model of 
provision at Kings Ripton Court 
in Huntingdon by working in 
partnership with the Salvation 
Army, the provider at that 
scheme.   This will mean 
ensuring that the resources are 
available to deliver and 
maintain this type of provision.  

 
• Coneygear Court that provides 

26 units of temporary 
accommodation. The scheme 
has shared facilities and is an 
outdated model of provision  

 • Investigate the options for 
updating the scheme so that 
each of the units has use of its 
own facilities. 

  
 Our other priorities in this area are to: 
 

• Introduce a supported lodgings scheme in partnership with the City 
and District Councils in Cambridgeshire as well as the County 
Council.  The aim will be to recruit a range of host landlords willing 
to provide emergency temporary accommodation to a variety of 
different homeless people.   

 
4. Performance management, organisational efficiency and cross 

boundary collaboration.   
 
 The current economic climate places even greater pressures on the 

housing advice and options service, not only because of greater 
numbers of customer relying on it for advice and help but also due to 
imminent funding cuts as a result of government’s Comprehensive 
Spending Review.  Improved performance, better organisational 
efficiency and collaborating with other Councils to deliver services and 
achieve better value for money are vitally important in light of these 
funding restrictions. 

 
  Our priorities in this area are to: 
 

• Continue to participate in the development of the Home-Link 
scheme and investigate what efficiencies can be delivered through 
sub regional working.  

 
• Review the performance data produced to ensure that it is most 

relevant to use as a tool to analyse efficiency and value for money 
against the outcomes achieved for customers. 

 

81



 
 
Homelessness Strategy 2011 
 

 

 

Action Plan              Appendix A 
Objective 1 - Prevent homelessness by maintaining households in their current home wherever possible 
Action  Target Resources 
Maintain a Court advocacy service to assist 
households faced with possession action. 

 Ensure that the service continues beyond 
end of March 2012.   

This is a staffing cost.  Subject to ongoing need 
(which is likely) the funding needed for this post 
is £35k per annum (including overheads).  
Funding for 2012/13 will be via a mixture of 
efficiency savings, government homelessness 
grant and by HDC MTP bid.  

Maintain a homelessness prevention budget for 
advice and options officers to make use of in their 
proactive work.  

 Ensure that the budget continues beyond 
March 2012.  

Government has confirmed a £85k 
homelessness grant to HDC for 2012 and 2013.  
This is a ‘named purpose’ grant but not ring 
fenced.  The current MTP provision is £61k 
(which matches the previous government grant 
level) so if more is needed an HDC MTP bid will 
be made to secure the additional funding. 

Review the provision of a young persons’ 
mediation service. 

 Run & evaluate the reviewed mediation 
service in 2011, and if successful 
consider commissioning a continuing 
service with the other Cambridgeshire 
Councils.  

To be funded from the current Homelessness 
Prevention Grant but if required to bid for the 
additional (secured) government homelessness 
grant via the Council’s MTP process.  

Review the Discretionary Housing Payment 
policy with the Housing Benefit Department to 
ensure it is targeted at households most likely to 
be under threat of homelessness. 

 To complete the review by September 
2011. 

Existing staffing resource for the review.  Any 
payments made will by the Housing Benefits 
Service from their Government allocation of 
£41,422.  This budget is also used by the 
Housing Benefit Service for other than 
homelessness. 

Review the operational arrangements of the 
Young Persons’ Protocol with Cambridgeshire 
County Council’s Children’s Services. 

 To complete the review by December 
2011. 

Within existing staffing resources. 

Implement a vulnerable persons’ protocol with 
housing providers to ensure a joined up approach 

 By December 2011. Within existing staffing resources. 

82



 
 
Homelessness Strategy 2011 
 

 

 

to homelessness prevention  
Objective 2 – Providing a range of accessible and affordable housing options across all tenures 
Action  Target Resources 
Maintain the Rent Deposit / Rent In Advance 
scheme for households accessing private rented 
tenancies.  Review the budget requirements to 
maintain the scheme. 

 Ensure that the budget continues in 
2012/13 and beyond. 

This is net zero budget but HDC has an 
allowance for bad debts of £81k 2011/12. This 
allowance is reassessed on a regular basis and 
is part of the base revenue budget for the 
service. 

Develop the Home-Link scheme to provide a 
wider range of options as part of an Enhanced 
Housing Options service.  To include: 
A private rented property website 
Low cost home ownership options 
Employment Advice  
A personalised website offering targeted advice 

 To be delivered in line with the Home-Link 
Enhanced Housing Options sub regional 
work plan. 

The capital budget provision is from an earlier 
year HDC MTP bid and a specific government 
grant for the initial development of the scheme. 
Revenue funding for the software license and 
maintenance (£3k) is included in the base 
revenue budget for the service. 

Objective 3 – Reduce the number of households in temporary accommodation  
Action  Target Resources 
Work with the Salvation Army to introduce 
emergency crash bed units at Kings Ripton Court 

 To have in place by December 2011 Budget from existing Homelessness Prevention 
Grant. 

Investigate the options for the remodelling or 
reprovision of Coneygear Court to provide self 
contained temporary accommodation. 

 To investigate options and feasibility by 
May 2012 

Resources to be identified.  Potential bid to the 
Homes and Communities Agency via the 
landlord 

Introduce a supported lodgings scheme in 
partnership with the other Cambridgeshire 
Councils, including the County Council 

 To have in place by December 2011 Revenue resources to be identified once models 
of provision agreed and any ineligible Housing 
Benefit costs established. 

Utilise the direct let options within the Council’s 
Lettings Policy to ensure sufficient households 
move through temporary accommodation. 

 To have in place by July 2011 Within existing staffing resources. 

83



 
 
Homelessness Strategy 2011 
 

 

 

Objective 4 – Performance management, organisational efficiency and cross boundary collaboration 
Action/Aim  Target Resources 
Investigate what efficiencies can be achieved 
through working sub regionally on the 
development of the Home-Link housing options 
scheme. 

 To be delivered in line with the Home-Link 
sub regional work plan. 

Existing sub-regional staffing resource to 
identify potential efficiencies. 

To carry out a cost benefit analysis of 
homelessness prevention measures versus 
dealing with actual homelessness and the use of 
temporary accommodation; and separately, the 
cost effectiveness between different types of 
temporary accommodation. 

 By December 2011 Analysis will be within existing staff resource. 

Review the performance data produced to ensure 
efficiency and value for money against outcomes 
achieved for customers. 

 Complete review of performance data and 
potential for benchmarking by December 
2011  

Existing sub-regional staffing resource. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

84



 
 

Homelessness Strategy 2011 
 

 

 

Appendix B 
Achievements since the last Strategy  
 
The previous Strategy action plan had four main objectives: 
 
1. Preventing homelessness by maintaining households in their current home 

wherever possible.   
2. Providing a range of accessible and affordable housing options across all 

tenures. 
3. Reducing the number of households in temporary accommodation.  
4. Improving performance management, organisational efficiency and cross 

boundary collaboration.  
 
Achievements against this action plan include: 
 
• Introducing a homelessness prevention budget that allows advisors to 

make relatively small payments in their proactive work to prevent 
homelessness. 

 
• Improving links with the County Court and expanding the court advocacy 

service to cover mortgage repossessions as well as social rented 
possession hearings. 

 
• Jointly funding a specialist debt advisor at the local Citizens Advice Bureau 

and establishing a referral process to this service.  
 
• Increasing the number of households assisted into private rented 

tenancies through the Rent Deposit/Rent In Advance scheme. 
 
• Introducing help with payments for credit and reference checks for 

homeless households trying to secure private rented accommodation who 
do not have the funds available. 

 
• Maintaining a Sanctuary scheme in partnership with other Councils in the 

county to assist victims of domestic violence. 
 
• Converting a proportion of temporary properties to permanent homes, 

allowing settled families to remain in properties where they may have lived 
for sometime. 

 
• Establishing an emergency crash bed provision for young people at 

Paines Mill and funding move on units for residents of the scheme. 
 
• Jointly funding a Family Intervention Project for families that require 

intensive support to break the cycle of anti social behaviour, offending and 
potential homelessness. 

 
• Introducing a sub regional Choice Based Lettings scheme (the Home-Link 

scheme) to provide a more transparent means of accessing social rented 

85



 
 

Homelessness Strategy 2011 
 

 

 

housing and ensuring this assists homeless households and those 
threatened with homelessness. 

 
• Enabling the delivery of 660 new social rented properties between April 

2008 and the end of September 2010. 
 

• Enabling move on opportunities for residents of the various supported 
housing schemes within the district, such as the young persons and ex-
offenders schemes.   

 
• Successfully jointly bidding for Enhanced Housing Options programme 

funding through government, to develop the Home-Link scheme to provide 
a wider range of options and services. 

 
• Participating in the development of a sub regional homelessness action 

plan and Joint Strategic Needs Assessment on homelessness to improve 
multi agency and cross boundary working to tackle homelessness and its 
effects. 

 
 
 

86



 
 
CABINET 23 June 2011 

 
 

SHARED HOME IMPROVEMENT AGENCY SERVICES 
 

(Report by the Head of Housing Services) 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1  To seek Cabinet’s ‘in principle’ approval to establish a shared Home 

Improvement Agency (HIA) service with Cambridge City and South 
Cambridgeshire District Council. 

 
1.2 To seek delegated authority to be given to the Managing Director 

(Communities, Partnerships and Projects), following  consultation with 
the executive councillor for Resources and Customer Services and the 
Managing Director (Resources) to approve the establishment of the 
shared service. 

 
2.0 Background 
 
2.1 The HIA oversees the provision of aids and adaptations to the homes 

of those with disabilities.  This is for both private and housing 
association homes.  The service is provided in-house by the Council.  
The HDC Agency has five staff.  It is a holistic service that pro-actively 
assists clients through all stages, from enquiry, through grant eligibility, 
scheme design and specification, obtaining prices and overseeing the 
works.  

 
2.2 The total cost of the service (2010/11) for HDC was £261,108; for 

Cambridge City £219,990; and South Cambs £213,374.  These costs 
were funded as follows: 

 
 City South Cambs Hunts 
Fee Income from 
capital projects 

67,520 75,000 110,000 

Supporting People 37,460 34,880 31,510 
Adult Care 
(County) 

30,000 30,000 30,000 

PCT 16,800 16,000 16,000 
District Authority 68,210 57,494 73,598 
Total Costs 219,990 213,374 261,108 

 
 

Agenda Item 7

87



2.3 The Cambridgeshire Supporting People Commissioning Body carried 
out a Review of the HIA service in 2008. The review recommended that 
joint commissioning be considered to ensure future funding certainty 
and the commissioning of the service over a broader geographical area 
to provide better value for money and consistency in service delivery.  
 

2.4 Procurement rules require County and health colleagues to consider 
tendering the services.  Procurement advice has indicated that it will not 
be necessary to tender the HIA services for the City, South Cambs and 
HDC (because they are delivered in-house) if the partner authorities 
agree to implement a joint service.  
 

2.5 At the Supporting People Commissioning Body meeting on 28th April 
2010 it was decided that there was sufficient interest to continue the 
development of a shared service model.   

 
3. The Proposal  
 
3.1 Following discussion between the respective Heads of Service and 

Accountants from the councils a preferred staff structure has emerged 
that would reduce the number of Managers from three to one and 
would reduce the number of administrators in the team by one. The 
number of frontline caseworkers and surveyors would be retained. 
 

3.2 It is proposed that the new shared service be managed by Cambridge 
City with the head office for the shared service located at South Cambs 
District Council at Cambourne.  Touch-down bases will be provided at 
HDC and City Council to minimise travelling for the staff, and home 
working will be explored. 
 

3.3 Various cost sharing mechanisms have been considered and it is 
proposed that the mechanism that would be most fair and equitable 
would be one partly based on the annual level of capital investment 
made by each district in adaptations carried out by the service. The 
level of capital investment is, in effect, a proxy for the level of activity 
supported by each district in its area.  

 
3.4 On the current assumptions, using a cost sharing mechanism based 

partly on capital investment the saving from a shared service will be 
circa £75,000 per annum with HDC saving circa £30,000 per annum. 
 

3.5 There will be various ‘start up’ costs associated with moving to a 
shared service, notably, the potential cost of staff redundancies when 
the staff structure is reviewed.  It has been agreed in principle that 
should any of three Managers be made redundant, the redundancy 
costs that result will be met by the current employer.  This agreement 
has been reached in view of the long service of each and the relatively 
high cost of any redundancy and the difficulty of managing this within 
the cost sharing mechanism.   All other redundancies, if needed, 
together with other start up costs, and can be managed within a cost 

88



sharing mechanism.   Bearing in mind the initial start up costs, which 
are still being determined, of the new service is not expected to realise 
any savings, for HDC, in its first two years of operation. 
 

3.6 At a time of reducing budgets, a major reason for joining forces with 
City and SCDC is the opportunity to sustain a level of operation that 
would otherwise become increasingly fragile.  In addition, as the team 
at each authority is relatively small a combined service offers more 
resilience for staff absences. 

 
4. Ongoing Considerations 
 
4.1 There are various work streams, some of which are mentioned below, 

that are ongoing and some which will commence if Cabinet give in-
principle agreement to the shared service. 
 

• staff consultation (commenced) 
• IT solutions 
• Business Process examination and modelling 
• the development of a legal protocol to govern the shared service 
• the development of an agreed cost/risk sharing mechanism between 

the authorities.  
• The treatment of residual overheads 

 
5. Conclusions/Summary 
 
5.1 This report is about setting up a shared Home Improvement Agency 

with South Cambridgeshire District Council, Cambridge City Council 
and Huntingdonshire District Council.  The shared service is proposed 
as it will offer the best opportunity to sustain the current levels of 
service across the districts at a time of reducing budgets.  In addition, 
as the team at each authority is relatively small a combined service 
offers more resilience for staff absences. 

 
5.2  The model proposed is for a single staff team to be primarily based at 

the SCDC’s offices in Cambourne administered and line managed by 
the City Council.  This proposal will save HDC circa £30,000 per 
annum.  The target date to establish of the shared service is April 2012. 

 
6. Recommendation 
 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 
a) agree in principle that a shared Home Improvement Agency 

Service be established with Cambridge City and South Cambs 
District Councils; 

89



 
 

b) that delegated authority to be given to the Managing Director 
(Communities, Partnerships and Projects), following  consultation 
with the executive councillor for Resources and Customer 
Services and the Managing Director (Resources) to approve the 
establishment of the shared service; and 

c) that any comments received from Scrutiny Panel (Social Well-
Being) at its meeting to be held on 5th July 2011 be considered by 
the executive councillor for Resources and Customer Services. 

 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
Cambridgeshire Supporting People Review of Home Improvement Agency 
Services, 2008. 
Cabinet Report  - 26 June 2008,  Consultation on the Supporting People 
Review of Home Improvement Agencies. 
 
 
 
Contact 
Officer:  

 
Steve Plant 

 
 � 01480 388240 

 
 

 
 

90



 
CABINET        23RD JUNE 2011 
 
 

ONE LEISURE FINANCE 
(Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Panels  
(Social Well-Being) and (Economic Well-Being) 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 At its meeting held on 13th January 2011, the Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

(Economic Well-Being) decided to establish a Working Group to review the financial 
performance of One Leisure and make recommendations on the services’ future 
strategic direction.  
 

1.2 Initially Councillors J D Ablewhite, S Greenall and N J Guyatt and Mr R Hall were 
appointed to the Working Group. Following the appointment of Councillor Ablewhite 
as Executive Leader, designate, Councillor D M Tysoe attended the second meeting 
and appointed as rapporteur. 
 

1.3 In recognition that the performance of One Leisure is also a matter of interest to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Social Well-Being), representatives of the latter have 
also been invited to join the Group. Councillors B S Chapman, JJ Dutton and Mr R 
Coxhead were subsequently appointed. To date, the Working Group has met on two 
occasions. 
 

1.4 The purpose of this report is to provide an update on progress of the study and to 
present the Working Group’s initial findings. 
 

 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 At their meetings in January 2011, the Overview and Scrutiny Panels for Social and 

Economic Well-Being considered a variety of information with regard to the financial 
performance of the Council’s Leisure Centres. This included details of central support 
charges, recent investment, net outturn in recent years, the projected outturn for 
2014/15 and income generated from admissions.  An analysis of activities on a 
centre by centre basis was also provided, together with details of a number of issues 
relating to the operation of the five centres which would need to be tackled in the 
forthcoming months.  
 

2.2 Having regard to the extent of the information provided and Members’ interest in 
giving further detailed consideration to the figures presented the Economic Well-
Being Panel agreed that a Working Group should be established, with 
representatives of the Social Well-Being Panel, to review further One Leisure’s 
financial performance. 
 

2.3 At the meeting of the Economic Well-Being Panel in February 2011 and as part of 
their deliberations on the Council’s Budget for 2011/12 it was agreed that the 
Working Group should also be asked to consider whether an increase in Leisure 
Centre income might be made by charging non-residents of the District a higher rate 
to use the Council’s Leisure Centres. 
 

 

Agenda Item 8

91



3. REMIT OF THE WORKING GROUP 
 

3.1 The remit of the Working Group is  
 
a) to review One Leisure’s financial performance and make recommendations on 

the service’s future strategic direction (to include a vision, strategic business plan 
recommendations and  whether the service should be managed in house, 
outsourced or transferred into a new legal entity) and 

 
b) to consider whether an increase in Leisure Centre income might be made by 

charging non-residents of the District a higher rate to use the Council’s Leisure 
centres. 

 
3.2 The first meeting of the Group was held on Thursday 3rd March 2011. At this meeting 

a number of comments and suggestions were made with regard to the approach to 
the study, and this has been used to develop a detailed work programme. A copy of 
the proposed work programme is appended at Annex A for information. 

 
4. FINDINGS TO DATE 
 
4.1 The Working Group met on Thursday 28th April 2011 to discuss One Leisure 

Overheads and Recharges. To assist them with this task, information has been 
provided on the top six recharges by cost to One Leisure. These items are: 
 

� Leisure Service Management Units 
� Information Technology Network 
� Accountancy 
� Information Technology Helpdesk 
� Payroll 
� Human Resources 

 
4.2 The Head of Financial Services has also provided a commentary on the context of 

recharges for support costs and the limitations on their value as a control 
mechanism. The key points are the importance of: 

• all managers monitoring their controllable expenditure (those items they 
have direct influence over), 

• effective, challenging dialogue from managers to ensure that support 
services reflect their minimum requirement and that any resulting savings 
are delivered wherever possible, 

• simplifying the methods and frequency of recharges to only meet statutory 
requirements or to maximise fees and charges which are constrained by 
relevant costs, 

• using the appropriate bespoke basis for the financial evaluation of 
business decisions, 

• scrutiny of support services  
 

4.3 The Head of Financial Services and the General Manager, One Leisure were in 
attendance. The following paragraphs summarise the Working Group’s initial 
findings. 

92



 
 

a) General 
 

4.4 The Working Group has recognised that, to promote better understanding of the 
financial position in relation to One Leisure, it is necessary to continue to produce two 
sets of accounts. The first, service based, includes recharges and is only necessary 
to fulfil the Council’s statutory requirements whilst, the second, significantly more 
important, is the controllable budget which deals with those aspects that the General 
Manager of One Leisure has direct influence over. Comment has also been made 
that the Council should outline the “social benefit” when considering future 
investment proposals.  

 
b) Leisure Centre Management Units 

 
4.5 The Working Group has considered details of those charges which are incurred by 

the management unit in performing the corporate, service planning, health and safety 
and promotional duties for One Leisure. In 2009/10 the net costs amounted to 
£270,000. Members have queried whether the cost of the One Leisure Management 
Team should be considered as a rechargeable overhead and have been informed 
that it is already intended to incorporate the cost of the One Leisure senior 
management into the service’s general operating costs. 
 

c) Information Technology (IT) Network / Helpdesk 
 

4.6 The Working Group has commented on the rising cost of IT Network and Helpdesk 
Services. These have increased from £1.473M in 2008/09 to an estimated £1.833M 
across the Council for 2010/11. The cost of the service which has been recharged to 
One Leisure has increased from £170,000 in 2008/9 to an estimated £249,000 in 
2010/11. 
 

4.7 The Working Group has noted that the IT Network Service is recharged to users on a 
per computer basis. As at the last review, Leisure’s share is 92 computers, which 
represents 13.6% of the Council’s total of 678 computers.  It is this that produces the 
estimated cost to One Leisure of £249,000 in 2010/11. Members recognise the 
simplicity of the recharge basis. 
 

4.8 In considering the information provided, the Working Group has discussed the IT and 
telephony requirements of the Leisure Centres. Members have queried whether, for 
example, their PCs need to be connected to the District Council’s central server at all 
times and whether the Centres have the same software requirements as those at 
Pathfinder House. The Working Group consider that there should be detailed 
discussion between the General Manager, One Leisure and the Head of IMD to 
identify any opportunities where the Council could make overall savings as a result of 
changes to One Leisure’s requirements. Recognising the significant cost of IT the 
Working Group recommends that the Cabinet arrange for the Council’s IT costs 
to be reviewed. 

 
d) Accountancy 

 
4.9 Having been advised of the level of support provided by the Accountancy Team to 

One Leisure and the General Manager’s overall level of satisfaction with it, Members 
have concluded that the charges for the service represented good value. The 
estimated cost of the service is £112,000 in 2010/11 and this apportioned according 
to the amount of time members of the Accountancy team spend on each Service.  

93



 
e) Payroll Service 

 
4.10 The Working Group has discussed the cost of the Payroll Service and noted that in 

2009/10 the cost of the service to One Leisure had been £95,000 compared to a cost 
of £142,000 for other Council services. Members are of the opinion that given that 
One Leisure employees represent approximately one third of the workforce, this is a 
reasonable and fair charge. 

 
4.11 The Group have been informed that the service provided by payroll far exceeds that 

which would normally be provided by a payroll bureau. For example it includes on-
line sickness monitoring and travelling claims. The Group has asked for details of the 
Council’s payroll cost per employee with a view to using this information as a basis 
for comparison with other organisations. However their preliminary opinion is that the 
figures are probably comparable with other organisations. 

 
4.12 Now that the One Leisure staff who were previously paid weekly have transferred 

onto the monthly payroll there has been some transfer of input work from Payroll to 
One Leisure and this may result in a need to adjust the allocation basis. 
 

 
f) Human Resources (HR) 

 
4.13 In considering the cost of the HR Service, the Working Group has noted the view of 

the General Manager, One Leisure that it may be cheaper for him to procure such 
services directly. In 2009/10 the cost of the service amounted to £65,000.  Having 
been advised of a number of areas in which savings could potentially be realised, the 
Group have asked the General Manager to discuss with the Head of PPP his service 
requirements and whether transferring responsibility for functions to One Leisure 
would produce an overall saving for the Council. In making this request, the Group 
are mindful that the Council will still need to provide these services in some form.  
 

g) Other Issues  
 

4.14 The Working Group’s overall aim is to optimise the functions that are required to 
provide the One Leisure service.The Group have also asked the General Manager, 
One Leisure to identify any other support elements which he considers could be 
varied and then discuss and quantify any overall savings to the Council that would 
result. Any agreed savings should be reported to a future meeting. 
 

5. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
5.1 The Working Group has welcomed the opportunity to obtain a greater understanding 

of the recharges that are incurred by the One Leisure Service. They will continue to 
review the financial performance of One Leisure as part of their ongoing study and 
further recommendations will be forthcoming.  

 
Having considered the content of the Working Group’s report at their meetings on 7th 
and 9th June 2011 respectively, the Overview and Scrutiny Panels (Social and 
Economic Well-Being) have endorsed its contents for consideration by the Cabinet. It 
is therefore 

 
RECOMMENDED 

 
a) that the contents of the report be noted, and 

94



b) that the recommendations in paragraph 4.8 of the report be 
endorsed.  

 
 

95



 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

 
Minutes of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Economic Well-Being) held on 
13th January and 10th February 2011. 

 
One Leisure Activity Analysis 2009/10 – Actuals 

 
One Leisure- Activity Analysis 2010/11 – Estimated Outturn 

 
Briefing note prepared by the Head of Financial Services. 

 
One Leisure Working Group File held by Democratic Services 
 
 
Contact Officers: Mrs Claire Bulman, Democratic Services Officer 

  (01480) 388234 
  Claire.Bulman@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 

 
  Mr Anthony Roberts, Scrutiny & Review Manager 
  (01480) 388015 
  Anthony.Roberts@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 

 

96



 
 

 
ANNEX A 

 
PROPOSED WORK PROGRAMME 

 
1. RECHARGES AND OVERHEADS 

 
Steve Couper to brief the Group on – 
 

a. Breakdown of the first six items in the list of recharges – how 
calculated/explanation of increases in last two years 

 
 

2. PROFITABILITY OF INDIVIDUAL ACTIVITIES AND RETURN OF INVESTMENT  
 
Simon Bell to brief the Group on -  
 

a. Review of financial sheets already handed out 
b. Discussion on the value of crèche, cafe and other facilities 
c. Provision of information on scale of recent investment 
d. Review of contribution obtained from recent investment 
e. The functions required to provide the service 

 
 

3. FIVE YEAR FORECAST 
 
Simon Bell to brief the Group on –  
 

a. Provision of more detailed five year forecast 
b. Discussion of likelihood of the improvements arising 

 
 

4. PRICING 
 
Simon Bell or Gemma Bonnet to brief the Group on –  
 

a. Competitive analysis 
b. Dual pricing 

 
 

5. PREMISES, INCLUDING OWNERSHIP AND CAPACITY  
 
Simon Bell or Colin Meadowcroft to brief the Group on - 

 
a. Discussion on capacity issues such as car parking 
b. County & Town Council position on land ownership 

 
 

6. PRODUCTION OF BUSINESS PLAN RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
Terry Parker and Simon Bell to address the Group.  

 

97



98

This page is intentionally left blank



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL 
(ECONOMIC WELL-BEING) 
 
CABINET 

9TH JUNE 2011 
 
 

23RD JUNE 2011 
 

USE OF CONSULTANTS 
(Report by the Overview & Scrutiny Panel (Economic Well-Being)).  

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 At its meeting held on 11 November 2010, the Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

(Economic Well-Being) decided to establish a Working Group to review and 
make recommendations on the Council’s use of consultants including the 
criteria used in the appointment of consultants. The study emanated from a 
previous recommendation to the Cabinet that the Council should to reduce 
the amount of expenditure for the purpose of employing external consultants 
by £1.5m in the current financial year. The Cabinet had asked Overview and 
Scrutiny to investigate this further and the response was to establish the 
Working Group. 

 
1.2 Councillors J D Ablewhite, G S E Thorpe and D M Tysoe, Mr R Hall and Mrs 

H Roberts were appointed to the Working Group, which has met on three 
occasions over the ensuing months. 

 
1.3 Discussions have been held with the Head of Financial Services and the 

Working Group is grateful for the considerable assistance he has provided to 
them in the course of the study. The Executive Councillor for Planning 
Strategy and Transport and the Heads of Planning Services and of Law, 
Property and Governance have also contributed to the study for which the 
Working Group is also grateful. 

 
2. REMIT 
 
2.1 The Working Group was given the remit to review and make 

recommendations on the criteria used in the appointment by the Council of 
consultants and the cost and value gained from using them. 

 
3. SCOPE OF INVESTIGATION 

 
3.1 In determining the scope of the investigation to be undertaken, the Working 

Group has considered a definition of the term “consultant”. Within the Council, 
there is no official definition. The requirement on the Council to differentiate 
between permanent, temporary and hired staff in its formal accounts has 
been used as a starting point but it is recognised that the categorisation is 
approximate because, in practice, the boundaries between each category can 
be vague. For the purposes of the investigation, a broad distinction has been 
made between these types of staff. These are: 

 
• non-permanent staff that are required because the resources the 

Council has to perform particular tasks are inadequate, and 
• the more conventional use of consultancy to denote the procurement 

of expertise of which the Council does not have an adequate supply. 
 
It is considered that this distinction encapsulates employees on temporary 
contracts and non-permanent employees who add value to the organisation. 

Agenda Item 9

99



4. FINDINGS 
 
 All Budgets for Non-Permanent Employees 
 
4.1 The Working Group has been advised of the Council’s revenue expenditure 

on consultants, hired staff and temporary staff in 2008/09 and 2009/10. A 
forecast for 2010/11 and a comparison with the original budget have also 
been provided. The table below summarises this spending: 

 
 ACTUAL ACTUAL ORIGINAL 

BUDGET 
FORECAST 

 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2010/11 
 £000 £000 Payments £000 £000 
Revenue      
Consultants 754 844 505 1,079 977 
Hired Staff 470 382 364 309 445 
Temporary Staff 931 1,013 593 858 1,054 
      
Capital      
Consultants 709 600 139 90 118 
 
4.2 Annex A contains details of revenue and capital expenditure according to 

whether they are consultants, temporary or hired staff. Agency staff are 
normally included within the figures for hired staff. Comment has been made 
about the level of expenditure on hired staff and whether it would be more 
cost effective instead to increase the size of the Council’s permanent 
workforce. 

 
4.3 The figures presented reflect where expenditure has been coded in the 

Council’s financial reporting system. Strategic planning requires strong 
baseline data. To obtain this data the Council needs to have in place 
appropriate management and financial systems and procedures. Reference is 
made to the Council’s systems and procedures in the following paragraphs. 
At this point the Working Group recommends that non-permanent staff 
that are required because the resources the Council has to perform 
particular tasks are inadequate are coded separately from expert 
consultants. 

 
4.4 Total capital spending on consultants in 2009/10 was £600k (4%of total 

project costs). Total revenue spend on consultants in 2009/10 was £844k 
(1.0% of total revenue costs). The revenue spend on consultants, hired staff 
and temporary staff combined was £2,239,000 (2.6% of total gross spend on 
revenue). The majority (about 75% based on the original budget) of the hired 
staff are provided under a contract to the Operations Division to cater for 
holiday or sickness absences and, more recently, to avoid the filling of 
vacancies where redundancies may be required.  

 
4.5 The figure for temporary staff has a significant value because there has been 

a policy to avoid filling posts on a permanent basis where this is practical if 
there might be a need for redundancies or there may be an opportunity to 
improve efficiency such that the post will not be required in due course. It also 
includes staff that are reliant on grant funding or to cover temporary work 
pressures. This approach to hired and temporary staff ensures that fewer 

100



permanent staff will have to be made redundant and minimises the 
redundancy cost and the chance of claims for unfair dismissal.  

 
4.6 Temporary employees are engaged on fixed term contracts. This enables the 

Council to use them for a defined period and provides flexibility should 
services need to be changed. Members have stressed the importance of 
making sound decisions on its arrangements for securing manpower 
resources. The Group has commented on the scale of expenditure on 
temporary staff which, in the current circumstances that have prompted the 
Council’s strategic decision to use more fixed term contracts than might 
otherwise be the case, is regarded as high. The Working Group recommend 
that the Council’s strategic approach and its level of expenditure on 
employees on temporary contracts is reviewed annually in the medium 
term. The same applies for hired staff as this will help to address the 
question raised at the end of paragraph 4.2. 

 
 Use of Consultants by Planning 
 
4.7 Owing to the level of expenditure involved, the Working Group has paid 

particular attention to the use of consultants by Planning. In recognition of the 
Division’s significant expenditure on consultants and likely changes to future 
funding arrangements, a discussion paper had been prepared in 2010 for 
Executive Councillors, the Chief Executive and Directors. The District Council, 
in its role as the Local Planning Authority, has statutory duties imposed upon 
it to prepare a Development Plan for the District and to deal with all planning 
proposals, all types of applications, other forms of proposals and all related 
appeals or other challenges against the decisions of the Council. Because of 
the wide range of the potential work areas involved and the inherent 
complexity of many of the areas, those working in Planning require particular 
expertise. It is an area where the applicable legislation requires decisions to 
be supported by sound evidence and they can be subject to challenge via 
appeal or other channels. It is for these reasons that the service needs to 
make appropriate use of various, targeted consultancy inputs. 

 
4.8 The Planning Services Division uses consultants primarily to provide the 

Council with the information it needs to underpin its strategic plans, to assess 
and determine planning proposals and to argue the Council’s case at 
appeals. The range of work undertaken extends to those areas in which the 
Council does not have the necessary in-house experience or expertise and 
includes: 
 

• the production of an extensive range of evidence required to support 
the production of Development Plan documents; 

• the undertaking of Environmental Impact Assessment Audits; 
• independent and expert scrutiny of planning application information; 

and 
• helping to sustain and uphold the Council’s position in respect of 

planning and other appeals. 
 
4.9 The Planning Service base budget contains limited provision of £203,000 for 

the retention of consultants. In addition, it is an established principle that 
planning fees received in respect of a large and complex application can be 

101



used to help meet the costs associated with determining that particular 
proposal. Although the 2009/10 figures for expenditure indicates that Planning 
Services spent £710,000 on consultants, the success of the Council in 
bidding for monies from Cambridgeshire Horizons and similar bodies means 
that only £235,000 of consultancy costs are directly funded from the base 
budget. 

  
4.10 Consultants are only employed by the Planning Division when it is considered 

that their use will be advantageous to the Council’s position. Legal assistance 
is typically based on long standing and well established working relationships 
with Chambers. All consultancy inputs are appropriately managed within the 
applicable case or project management frameworks by relevant Officers and 
their colleagues in the Law, Property and Governance Division. During 
consideration of alternative options to the use of consultants, the risks 
associated with all cases are assessed and the necessity for targeted 
consultancy inputs is determined. An input from an external consultant is only 
sought when it is considered that it will address a deficit in the experience and 
skills base of the Division. 

 
4.11 There is an onus on the Council to deal with planning and development 

matters in a professional way. The processes involved continue to require 
appropriate targeted consultancy inputs; however, it is recognised that the 
availability of previously exploited external funding sources will be reduced in 
the future and a consequential reduction is expected in the overall amount 
that is spent on consultants. Planning Services will continue to scrutinise all 
its proposed consultancy spending in order to ensure that it represents the 
most appropriate and expedient way of proceeding.  

 
4.12 The work undertaken by the Planning Services Division is by its nature 

cyclical and a key issue for the Division is to ensure that requirements to 
complete strategic work are anticipated and planned for. The implications and 
requirements for local authorities of the Localism Bill are not yet known and 
could have a significant impact on the Council’s Planning responsibilities and 
their associated need for consultancy resources. 

 
4.13 With regard to the procedures in place for authorising the use of consultants 

and monitoring their performance and associated expenditure, the 
employment by Planning Services of any consultant needs to be approved by 
the Planning Management Group. The Group are aware of the requirements 
of the service and the skills of the relevant teams. Best practice procedures, 
professional judgements and project management techniques are used when 
consultants are employed. The outcome of an appeal case is not measured 
simply on whether it is won or lost. Success can also be gauged by the award 
of costs. It is rare for the costs of a planning appeal to be awarded against the 
Council. 

  
4.14 The Panel has discussed the likely reduction in the availability of external 

funding to employ planning consultants, the way in which the shortfall might 
be met in future years and whether the criteria for planning appeals will need 
to be modified in light of the availability of funding. The intentions of the 
Coalition Government with regard to funding for the current planning cycle are 
not yet known. The Council will have to make value judgements on future 

102



appeal cases. The Executive Councillor meets regularly with Planning 
Officers. Emerging issues are brought to Members’ attention and a report on 
the outcome of recent appeal decisions is submitted to the Development 
Management Panel on a monthly basis. Given the financial pressures on the 
Council, the Working Group recommend that the extent and quality of the 
consultancy advice sought by the Council to inform its planning 
activities should be reviewed to ensure that only the minimum adequate 
advice required is obtained. 

  
4.15 As has been said, Planning makes the most use of consultants. For this 

reason and owing to the uncertainties that have been identified in the 
availability of external funding and in the scope of the Council’s planning 
responsibilities and the way they will have to be carried out, the Working 
Group recommend that a report is submitted annually to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel (Economic Well-Being) on Planning spending on 
consultants. 

 
 Budgetary Control 
 
4.16 The Working Group has examined the procedures in place to control budgets 

for non-permanent employees, including the process for agreeing a new 
budget to engage a contractor, the procedure involved when a budget is 
exceeded during the year and how expenditure on consultants is monitored 
on an ongoing basis. The Group has noted the opinion of the Head of 
Financial Services that the budgetary control processes in place are robust 
and that it is rare for major problems to arise. Previous experience has shown 
that issues of a larger nature can occur, such as the Alconbury Inquiry, which 
resulted in additional expenditure having to be funded from the Council’s 
reserves through a separate supplementary bid. 

 
4.17 When Heads of Service bid for a project (revenue or capital) in the MTP they 

will sometimes have a view as to whether they will need to use consultants to 
deliver all or part of the project. They will, in discussion with their accountant, 
arrange for the agreed funding to be allocated to the appropriate subjective 
budget heading e.g. employees, hired staff, consultants, premises, transport, 
etc. This split may need to be varied during the course of the year because 
timing changes may mean that it is no longer possible to rely on permanent 
staff or vice versa. 

 
4.18 Spending on consultants can be affected by the scale and nature of the 

projects / tasks that take place in any year. Projects requiring significant 
levels of input from consultants are usually the subject of separate bids in the 
Medium Term Plan. Funding can normally be carried over if a project is 
susceptible to timing changes. 

 
4.19 The Working Group has established that it is rare for managers to 

overspending their budgets without a legitimate and unavoidable reason. It is 
more often the case that managers under-spend against their budgets. The 
Code of Financial Management makes clear that Heads of Service are 
responsible for regular and effective monitoring and forecasting of the 
financial position relating to their service. The budgetary performance of 
Heads of Service is monitored by relevant Directors on a quarterly basis and 
this inevitably forms part of the appraisal process. An extract from the Code of 
Financial Management appears at Appendix B. 

103



 
4.20 Heads of Service receive monthly budget monitoring reports which compare 

the original budget, the latest updated budget and the forecast outturn for 
every budget line. These are produced after consultation between managers 
and their accountants. Quarterly meetings take place between Heads of 
Service and their Director and quarterly budget monitoring reports are 
presented to the Cabinet. 

 
4.21 A Head of Service is encouraged to transfer money between budget headings 

in order to deliver their service as effectively as possible. If a budget is 
exceeded or forecast to be exceeded the Head of Service will normally be 
expected to cover the excess from other budgets within that service. If that is 
not possible there is provision for budgets in other services to be utilised. This 
has not usually been an issue because the Council does not have a history of 
spending just because the money is there and therefore under-spending on 
the total budget is not unusual. If a variation is of any significance then a 
budget transfer will take place but if it is only minor then there may simply be 
a forecast over-spending on one budget and a forecast under-spending on 
another. 

 
4.22 Internal Audits in 2005 and 2006 found existing processes for the 

appointment of consultants are adequate but that a number of suggestions for 
improvements might be considered. There have subsequently been changes 
to the Code of Procurement to incorporate the use of consultants and a 
formal protocol for managing projects is expected to emerge shortly. The 
latter will include reference to post-project review procedures. 

 
4.23 The Working Group has discussed the checks that are in place to prevent the 

employment of consultants who have a connection with Council employees. 
The Council’s Code of Procurement sets out a clear process to be used in all 
procurements and sales. The requirement for tenders for Council contracts to 
be opened and recorded in the Contracts Register does not apply to contracts 
valued at under £30,000. Whilst the Group has accepted that a judgement is 
required as to the level of risk this represents, it is been recommended that 
the Code of Procurement is amended to include a requirement that a 
simple recording procedure is introduced involving the creation of a file 
note, which is counter-signed, for written quotations valued at less than 
£30,000. 

 
 Employment of Consultants 
 
4.24 The Working Group has examined in detail the Council’s use of consultants. 

A number of key questions have been identified and a pro-forma has been 
developed for this purpose. The pro-forma is attached at Appendix C. The 
Working Group then selected several existing examples of the use of 
consultants and the relevant Heads of Service were asked to complete the 
pro-forma. Having analysed the results, the Working Group has concluded 
that the main reason the Council uses external consultants is because it lacks 
the expertise they provide. Whilst it has been accepted that lack of expertise 
is a valid reason for the employment of consultants, Members also are of the 
opinion that they would not wish to see consultants continually appointed to 
undertake tasks of a similar nature. The Working Group, therefore, 
recommend that opportunities are explored to train existing employees 
in areas where consultants are repeatedly employed. 

 

104



4.25 This is not to say that the Council does not use consultants to meet a short-
fall in its existing human resources and the Working Group has expressed 
concerns about the use of consultants simply because of the unavailability of 
resources. Members have queried whether it would be cheaper to use the 
Council’s existing staff to carry out the work that consultants currently are 
employed to do and “backfill” the vacancy that is left. With this in mind, the 
pro-forma includes a question on the potential for using District Council 
employees in this way. The Working Group recommend that the Code of 
Procurement should be amended to introduce a requirement for the pro-
forma at Appendix C to be completed each time consideration is given 
to employing a consultant. This will facilitate the recommendation made in 
paragraph 4.27. Furthermore, the Working Group recommend that the 
Council should rigorously employ the practice of considering 
“backfilling” before consultants are employed. The recommendations in 
this section will have the added benefit of identifying whether the Council has 
a staffing issue that might need to be addressed. 

 
4.26 Where it is established that consultants are required, on the basis of best 

practice identified elsewhere, it is recommended that the Council should 
secure advice on the preparation of specifications for contracts for the 
employment of consultants. 

 
 Post Employment Review 
 
4.27 The Working Group recommend that, at the end of the employment of 

consultants, a review should be undertaken. This is in accordance with 
Guidance published by the London Centre of Excellence (now the Regional 
Improvement and Efficiency Partnership). It is argued that the outputs from 
the contract should be formally recorded and used in planning further use of 
consultants. Delivery should be measured against the requirements that were 
identified in the case made in the pro-forma for the use of a consultant and 
the specification to ensure that the specified outcomes, value and benefits 
have been delivered. The decision to use external expertise also should be 
evaluated. At the very least, this will provide a record of the performance of 
contractors, which will permit an informed decision to be taken on whether 
they should be re-employed at a future date. Looking more widely, it will 
contribute to the Council’s strategic planning process. 

 
 Joint Working / Shared Employment of Consultants 
 
4.28 The Working Group has discussed whether there is scope jointly with other 

authorities to employ specialists so that consultants are not required. 
Although they are aware that there are potential obstacles to securing such 
agreements with other authorities, it is considered that the Council should 
continue to explore opportunities jointly to employ experts. 

 
4.29 On the subject of sharing expert consultancy services with other authorities, 

in the past, Planning Services have made use of the same counsel as South 
Cambridgeshire District Council because the individual was already familiar 
with the planning issues affecting the immediate area. However, in general 
the scope for sharing consultants is limited, particularly if a planning 
application is submitted on a border area where the Authorities in question 
have a difference of opinion on it. There has, however, previously been a joint 
approach, for example, to archaeology. Members have also been made 
aware that a similar agreement has been completed for legal services. 

105



 
5. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
5.1 The Working Group has carried out an in-depth investigation into the 

Council’s use of non-permanent human resources. In doing this, Members 
have established baseline data to permit further analysis and to inform the 
strategic planning process. The Working Group has been mindful that the 
latter requires appropriate management and financial systems and 
procedures to be in place to record information. Following their investigations. 
the Working Group has made recommendations on improvements to the 
Council’s current arrangements for the planning and management of its use 
of non-permanent human resources and other related manpower issues. 
These have subsequently been endorsed by the Overview & Scrutiny Panel 
(Economic Well-Being) at their meeting on 9th June 2011.  It is, therefore: 

 
 RECOMMENDED 

 
a) that non-permanent staff that are required because the 

resources the Council has to perform particular tasks are 
inadequate are coded separately from expert consults 
(para. 4.3); 

 
b) that the Council’s strategic approach and its level of 

expenditure on employees on temporary contracts is 
reviewed annually in the medium term. The same applies 
for Hired Staff as this will help to address the question 
raised at the end of paragraph 4.2 (para. 4.6); 

 
c) that the extent and quality of the consultancy advice 

sought by the Council to inform its planning activities 
should be reviewed to ensure that only the minimum 
adequate advice required is obtained (para. 4.14); 

 
d) that a report is submitted annually to the overview and 

scrutiny panel (economic well-being) on planning 
spending on consultants (para. 4.15); 

 
e) that the Code of Procurement is amended to include a 

requirement that a simple recording procedure is 
introduced involving the creation of a file note, which is 
counter-signed for written quotations valued at less than 
£30,000 (para. 4.23); 

 
f) that opportunities are explored to train existing employees 

in areas where consultants are repeatedly employed (para. 
4.24); 

 
g) that the Code of Procurement should be amended to 

introduce a requirement for the pro-forma at Appendix C 
to be completed each time consideration is given to 
employing a consultant (para. 4.25); 

 
h) that the Council should rigorously employ the practice of 

considering “backfilling” before consultants are employed 
(para. 4.25); 

106



 
i) that the Council should secured advice on the preparation 

of specifications for contracts for the employment of 
consultants (para. 4.26) and 

 
j) that, at the end of the employment of consultants, a review 

should be undertaken (para. 4.27) 
 

 
 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
Notes of the meetings of the Working Group held on 30th April, 13th August, 28th 
October and 16th and 30th November 2010 and 7th February 2011. 
 
Report and Minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Social Well-Being) held on 
9th September, 11 November and 9th December 2010. 
 
Report prepared by the Head of Financial Services entitled Discussion Paper on 
“Consultants” – dated 13th December 2010. 
 
 
Contact Officer:  Tony Roberts, Scrutiny and Review Manager – 01480 388015. 
   (01480) 388006 
 

107



APPENDIX A 
 

REVENUE - EXPENDITURE ON CONSULTANTS 
2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 
ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET FORECAST Service Account Description 
£'000 £'000 Payments £'000 £'000 

Building Control Consultants Other 30 19 21 17 18 
Call Centre Consultants Other 1 1 7 2 0 
Car Parks Consultants Other 1 0   0 0 
  Legal Fees And Consultancy 0 0   0 10 
    1 0   0 10 
Central Services M Us Consultants Other 1 1 1 0 0 
  Legal Fees And Consultancy 17 14 74 24 24 
    18 15   24 24 
Commerce & Technology M Us Consultants Other 9 9 14 12 3 
  Legal Fees And Consultancy 0 11 38 0 0 
    9 20   12 3 
Community Initiatives Consultants Other 3 2 2 7 0 
Community Safety Consultants Other 0 0   0 0 
  Legal Fees And Consultancy 2 0   0 0 
    2 0   0 0 
Corporate Management Consultants Other 3 0   0 0 
  Legal Fees And Consultancy 1 17 4 2 2 
    4 17   2 2 
Countryside Consultants Other 1 3 3 0 0 
Customer Service Centres Consultants Other 3 2 8 2 0 
  Legal Fees And Consultancy 0 8 3 0 -4 
    3 10   2 -4 
Democratic & Central Services Legal Fees And Consultancy 0 3 2 0 0 
Democratic Services Consultants Other 0 0   5 3 
Development Control Consultants Other 35 187 35 3 68 
  Legal Fees And Consultancy 34 85 9 0 50 
    69 272   3 118 
Drainage & Sewers Consultants Other 5 4 1 0 20 
Economic Development Consultants Other 21 10 14 86 89 
  Legal Fees And Consultancy 1 1 9 0 0 
    22 11   86 89 
Efh & Depots Consultants Other 0 0   0 0 
  Legal Fees And Consultancy 0 0   0 2 
    0 0   0 2 
Env & Comm Services Mus Consultants Other 210 19 40 48 48 
  Legal Fees And Consultancy 0 7 2 0 0 
    211 26   48 48 
Environmental Health Consultants Other 51 47 14 157 146 
  Legal Fees And Consultancy 8 8 14 8 11 
    59 55   165 156 
Environmental Improvements Consultants Other 0 3 1 0 0 
  Legal Fees And Consultancy 0 0   5 5 
    0 3   5 5 
Facilities Mgt Consultants Other 7 7 6 0 10 
Financial Services Consultants Other 13 3 10 11 -10 
Housing Benefits Legal Fees And Consultancy 38 13 13 20 20 
Human Resources Consultants Other 2 0   4 5 
  Legal Fees And Consultancy 0 0   0 0 

108



    2 0   4 5 
Information Management Consultants Other 31 31 17 7 7 
Investment Interest Consultants Other 3 7 4 7 5 
Leisure Centres Consultants Other 7 20 30 13 37 
Local Taxation & Benefits Legal Fees And Consultancy 8 9 19 41 25 
Markets Consultants Other 14 7 39 7 7 
Other Expenditure Consultants Other 0 85 7 0 0 
Parks Consultants Other 1 1 1 0 0 
  Legal Fees And Consultancy 0 0   0 0 
    1 1   0 0 
Pathfinder House Site Consultants Other 13 0   0 0 
  Legal Fees And Consultancy 0 0   0 7 
    13 0   0 7 
Planning Policy & Conservation Consultants Other 163 186 35 557 302 
  Legal Fees And Consultancy 1 8 6 15 55 
    164 194   572 357 
Private Housing Support Consultants Other 6 5 1 9 4 
  

Engineering Fees & 
Consultancy 1 0   0 0 

    8 5   9 4 
Recycling Consultants Other 0 2 1 0 0 
Tourism Consultants Other 9 0   0 0 
Transportation Strategy Consultants Other 1 0   7 7 
  Total 754 844 505 1,079 977 
       

CAPITAL - EXPENDITURE ON CONSULTANTS 
2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 
ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET FORECAST Service Account Description 
£'000 £'000 Payments £'000 £'000 

Bus Stations Capital Consultants Other 8 0   0 0 
Environmental Improvements Consultants Other 39 6 7 40 40 
Environment Equipment Capital Consultants Other 2 0   50 50 
Estates Properties Capital Consultants Other 241 200 25 0 9 
Industrial Properties Capital Consultants Other 36 6 9 0 0 
Leisure Centres Capital Consultants Other 187 178 39 0 14 
  Legal Fees And Consultancy 0 3 1 0 0 
    187 181   0 14 
Leisure Services Capital Consultants Other 17 7 10 0 0 
Offices Capital Consultants Other 136 147 22 0 0 
  Legal Fees And Consultancy 4 1 2 0 0 
    140 148   0 0 
Planning Capital Consultants Other 2 0   0 5 
Public Conveniences Capital Consultants Other 1 0   0 0 
Software Capital Consultants Other 37 51 24 0 0 
            
  Total 709 599 139 90 118 

109



 
HIRED STAFF 

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 
ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET FORECAST Service Account Description 
£'000 £'000 Payments £'000 £'000 

Community Safety Community Safety 20 2 5 0 0 
Community Services Community Initiatives 2 0   0 0 
Community Services Countryside 12 8 6 0 0 
Community Services Leisure Centres 18 26 53 27 29 
Community Services Leisure Policy 0 0   0 1 
Environmental Services Recycling 99 74 55 71 71 
Environmental Services Refuse Collection 115 93 55 97 97 
Environmental Services Street Cleaning & Litter 98 102 54 74 96 
H D C Offices Pathfinder House Site 3 0   0 0 
Housing Services Private Housing Support 0 0   0 0 
Internal Services Fleet Management 0 1 1 0 0 
Internal Services Grounds Maintenance 10 0   6 38 
Internal Services Human Resources 5 0   0 0 
Internal Services Information Management 23 14 58 11 71 
Management Units 

Commerce & Technology M 
Us 4 14 24 11 25 

Management Units Env & Comm Services Mus 61 48 53 8 20 
Other Expenditure Contingency 0 0   0 -3 
Planning Development Control 0 0   0 0 
Planning Markets 0 0   4 0 
Planning 

Planning Policy & 
Conservation 0 0   0 0 

            
  Total 470 382 364 309 445 
       

TEMPORARY STAFF 
2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 
ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET FORECAST Directorate 
£'000 £'000 Payments £'000 £'000 

Central Services   76 106 74 69 107 
Commerce & Technology 228 290 193 249 461 
Env & Community Services 627 617 326 540 487 
Total 931 1,013 593 858 1,054 

 
 

 
 

 
 

110



 
APPENDIX B 

 
Extracts from Code of Financial Management 
 
 
1.11 Chief Officers and Heads of Service 
  Whilst Chief Officers will take ultimate responsibility for their employees’ 

actions, the Council’s management structure is based on Heads of Service 
or, in a few cases, Chief Officers taking prime responsibility for a service and 
its related budget.  

 
The Manager responsible for a budget: 
 

• may incur financial commitments and liabilities in accordance with 
this Code, the Council's Scheme of Delegation and resources 
allocated in budgets that have been released subject to Annex B. 
In particular they may make purchases of goods and services, 
subject to the requirements of the Code of Procurement, and 
employ staff, in accordance with the Officer Employment 
Procedure Rules. They will normally delegate appropriate 
elements of this responsibility to members of their staff. Annex B 
deals with the implications of the turnover contingency and 
includes the requirement that, when an employee leaves, the 
Head of Service to determine whether: 

o the post is kept vacant for a period before a decision 
is made, 

o the post can be deleted, 
o a restructuring should be proposed, 
o joint working with another body should be considered 
o the post should be filled at the end of a defined 

period, 
o it should be filled as soon as possible, 
o it should be filled as soon as possible and temporary 

employees or consultants are engaged to provide 
cover in the meantime. 

 
 

• will be responsible for regular and effective monitoring and 
forecasting of the financial position relating to their services. 

 
• will be responsible for proper financial and resource management 

and the prevention of fraud and corruption within the services and 
functions under their control. 

 
• will determine the inherent risks, within their services, to the 

achievement of the Council’s priorities and establish, maintain and 
document adequate systems of risk management and internal 
control, in consultation with the Internal Audit Service, and ensure 
that relevant employees or Members are familiar with such 
systems. 

 

111



• will be responsible for providing in a timely manner, the 
information necessary to ensure that the final accounts can be 
completed by the statutory deadlines. 

 
• will be responsible for annually reviewing their services to identify 

any aspects where surplus capacity could be utilised to reduce the 
net cost of the Council’s services. All identified opportunities shall 
be introduced unless Cabinet or both the Executive Councillor for 
Finance and of the relevant service consider it would not be 
appropriate. 

 
• will be responsible for seeking improvements in the efficiency of 

their services. 
 

• will be responsible for identifying opportunities and then bidding 
for grants or contributions from other bodies to support the 
achievement of the Council and Community objectives through 
their services. 

 
• will be responsible for maximising the income from fees and 

charges relating to their service in accordance with Annex C. 
 

 
3. CONTROLLING FINANCIAL PLANS 
 
3.1 Financial Monitoring 

Heads of Service will be responsible for regular and effective monitoring and 
forecasting of the financial position relating to their services. 

 
The financial performance of each service and capital project will be 
reviewed by Chief Officers quarterly on the basis of monitoring statements 
prepared by Heads of Service in conjunction with the Head of Financial 
Services. 
 
The financial performance of the Council will be reviewed by Cabinet 
quarterly on the basis of monitoring statements prepared by the Head of 
Financial Services in conjunction with Heads of Service. 

 
 Heads of Service will ensure that relevant Executive Councillors are 

regularly informed of the progress in delivering approved MTP schemes. 
 

 
3.5 Budget Transfers 

  
The transfer of resources within, or between, any of the types of budgets is 
supported in principle when it will make it more likely that the Council will 
achieve its service objectives and targets or enhance value for money.  
There do, however, need to be some limitations for effective financial 
management and to ensure that Executive Councillors, Cabinet and Council 
are aware of, and involved in, the more significant changes or where there is 
a financial implication. 
 

 The Manager responsible for a budget may approve a budget transfer 
within and between the budgets they are responsible for providing it is: 

112



 
• Consistent with increasing, or at least maintaining the 

achievement of service objectives and compatible with the 
Council's Financial and other relevant Strategies. 

 
• Not to or from a Technical Budget or a recharge or from a pay, NI 

or pension contributions budget unless permitted by Annexs A or 
B. 

 
• Not from capital to revenue 

 
• Supported by their Chief Officer 

 
• Notified to the Head of Financial Services 

 
• Within the following limits if between budgets (there shall be no 

financial limits within a budget): 
 

• Revenue to revenue £60k 
• Revenue to capital £60k 
• Capital to capital £60k 

 
 Similarly, a Chief Officer may, subject to the same criteria, approve budget 

transfers between any budgets that are their responsibility or the 
responsibility of their staff. 

 
 The Chief Officers’ Management Team may, subject to the same criteria 

except for the enhanced limits shown below, approve budget transfers 
between any budgets: 

 
• Revenue to revenue £120k 
• Revenue to capital £120k 
• Capital to capital £120k 

 
 Cabinet may approve budget transfers of up to: 
 

• Revenue to revenue £300k 
• Revenue to capital £300k 
• Capital to capital £300k 

 
In all cases, any previous transfers in the same financial year relating to 
those budgets shall be aggregated for determining whether the limit has 
been exceeded, however once the impact of any approval has been 
included in a relevant financial report to Council, the Cabinet’s limit will be 
re-set. 

 
 In all other cases the approval of the Council will be required.  
 
 

113



APPENDIX C 
 
 
SERVICE AREA 
 

 
CONSULTANT APPOINTED 
 

 
 

1. WORK / TASK REQUIRED 
 
 
 

2. REASON - LACK OF EXPERTISE OR RESOURCE? 
 
 
 

3. WHY “NON-PERMANENT” RESOURCE CHOSEN AND WHO 
DECIDED? 

 
 
 

4. WAS THERE A POTENTIAL FOR USING EXISTING STAFF AND 
BACKFILLING THE VACANCY? 

 
 
 

5. PROCUREMENT PROCESS 
 
 
 

6. EXPECTED RATE AND PERIOD AND TOTAL COST 
 
 
 

7. ACTUAL RATE AND PERIOD AND TOTAL COST WITH REASONS 
FOR ANY SIGNIFICANT VARIATION FROM EXPECTED 

 
 
 

8. JUDGEMENT ON WHETHER THE MONEY WAS “WELL SPENT” 
 
 
 

9. WHAT WILL BE THE IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL IF A CONSULTANT 
IS NOT EMPLOYED TO COMPLETE THIS WORK? 

 
 
 

114



  

CABINET           23RD JUNE 2011 
 

CONSULTATION PROCESSES 
(Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Social Well-Being)) 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 At its meeting held on 7th December 2010, the Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

(Social Well-Being) decided to establish a Working Group to review the 
Council’s consultation and engagement policies, procedures and practices 
with a view to making recommendations on possible improvements to the 
current process. In addition, the Working Group was asked to determine 
whether the approach to consultation is consistent across the Authority. The 
suggestion for the study emerged following recent consultations, which had 
resulted in concerns being raised over the approach the Council had taken. 

 
1.2 Councillors B S Chapman, Mrs P A Jordan, P G Mitchell, P D Reeve and R J 

West and Mr R Coxhead were appointed to the Working Group and asked to 
make recommendations on possible improvements to the existing 
consultation process. Councillor R J West was appointed as the Working 
Group’s rapporteur. The Working Group has met on six occasions. 

 
1.3 Prior to establishing the Working Group, initial discussions were held at the 

September 2010 Panel meeting with the Policy and Strategic Services 
Manager and the former Executive Councillor for Resources and Policy. 
Since then, the Policy and Strategic Services Manager has been in 
attendance at Working Group meetings and Members are grateful for the 
assistance and support they have provided in the course of the investigations 
to date. In addition, Mr P Boothman, Independent Member of the Council’s 
Standards Committee and member of the public has addressed the Working 
Group and drawn attention to matters which he felt should be considered by 
Members. These views have largely been incorporated within the Working 
Group’s investigations and similarly, Members are grateful for the 
contributions that have been made in this respect. 

 
1.4 The purpose of this report is to present the findings of the study. 
 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 As alluded to earlier, the study emerged following concerns raised by 

members of the public at the perceived weaknesses in the procedures 
employed by the Council during recent consultations. In addition, Members 
have received a number of adverse reactions from the public to decisions, 
which have been taken following public consultation exercises. Moreover, 
there is some evidence of public perception that the Council does not listen to 
or consider the views of local residents. The latter is suggested by a survey 
undertaken through District Wide in January 2010. Whilst Members doubt that 
this finding is representative of views generally in the District, they are of the 
view that it supports the justification for the study.  

Agenda Item 10

115



  

2.2 During the planning stages of the study, clear and demonstrable links to the 
Council’s former Corporate Plan, “Growing Success” were identified. The 
Council Aim “To Improve Our Systems and Practices” contains the specific 
objectives “to enable Councillors to carry out their leadership role effectively” 
and “to be good at communicating with and listening to people and 
organisations”. Since then, the Council has approved a new Council Plan at 
its meeting on 20th April 2011. The Panel has acknowledged that 
communication with local residents is of increasing importance, particularly in 
the context of recent developments concerning Localism and the Big Society. 
The Panel is, therefore, encouraged to note the adoption of “Working in 
Partnership to Support Strong Communities” as one of six Council priorities 
contained within the new Council Plan. 
 

3. REMIT OF THE WORKING GROUP 
 
3.1 The remit of the Working Group was to review and update the Council’s 

policies and procedures relating to consultation and engagement, including a 
review of their implementation. The conclusions reached by the Working 
Group were endorsed by the Panel at its meeting on 7th June 2011.  

 
4. CONSULTATION EXAMPLES – CASE STUDY REVIEWS 
 
4.1 The Working Group has undertaken investigations into previous consultations 

undertaken by the Council, namely the following:- 
 

• Budget Consultation (July 2010); 
• Huntingdon West Area Action Plan (May 2009); 
• Finding Sites for Gypsies and Travellers. Issues Consultations: 

Principles and Processes (January 2009), and 
• Huntingdonshire Sustainable Community Strategy: Consultation with 

Young People in Huntingdon (July 2007) 
 
Budget Consultation 

 
4.2 The Working Group has discussed, at length, the validity of the methods 

employed by the Council to undertake the July 2010 budget consultation 
exercise. The Council commissioned Research for Today (RFT), formerly 
known as Market Research UK (MRUK), to undertake this work.  
 
Note: MRUK has previously assisted the Council with various consultations 

over the years. By way of background, the Working Group has been 
informed that RFT had agreed a County-wide schedule of prices for 
undertaking consultations, which has realised savings compared with 
the cost of entering into contracts with external companies for 
individual pieces of work. Given that the current agreement is due to 
expire shortly, Members have been informed that Policy Officers in 
Cambridgeshire have been engaged in discussions on whether they 
might collaborate to provide the same service internally at a further 
reduced cost to Cambridgeshire Councils.  

 

116



  

4.3 Whilst they are encouraged to note that varying forms of consultation have 
been used during the Budget Consultation, Members of the Working Group 
have expressed concern at the sample size used for the “in-home” survey and 
the implications of this for the statistical reliability of the reported findings. 
Members have been advised that the methodology used to undertake the “in-
home” surveys had a high level of reliability. The Working Group has received 
a submission to this effect from RFT.  
 
Note: RFT have expressed the opinion that a sample of 250 is comparable 

to other examples where small samples have been used by other 
authorities. They have also said that the random representative 
sampling method employed for the “in-home” surveys are proportional 
to District Ward populations and that the socio-economic breakdown of 
the sample group compares well to Census data collected in 2001.  

 
4.4 However, Members of the Working Group have expressed the view that the 

sample size of 250 is not sufficient to represent the views of the population, 
particularly given the significance of the consultation in assisting the Council 
in setting its Budget for 2011/12 and future years. Furthermore, the Working 
Group has questioned the random representative sampling method that has 
been used by RFT when conducting the “in-home” surveys and commented 
that a stratified sampling method should have been employed as this will 
more accurately reflect the socio-economic profile of the District.  

 
4.5 Members have also questioned whether appropriate representations from 

vulnerable and disabled residents have been received during the consultation 
exercise. Online/questionnaire surveys have been used to augment the 
qualitative research, though they have not altered the findings. The decisions 
subsequently reached by the Council reflect the responses provided by 
the public during the consultation. The Working Group believe that, 
Officers should use appropriate sampling techniques in future 
consultations undertaken by the Council, to ensure that the views 
elicited accurately reflect those of the wider population. It is, however, 
recognised that cost will also need to be taken into account.  
 
Huntingdon West Area Action Plan 
 

4.6  The Working Group has found that this consultation represents a good 
example of a consultation undertaken by the Council. Particular attention 
has been drawn to a Consultation Summary document that has been 
produced, which analyses the consultation responses received. The 
summary document includes a description of the processes undertaken, 
the materials used and Officer responses to the comments made. 
 
Gypsies and Travellers 
 

4.7 Having considered the consultation, the Working Group’s attention has been 
drawn to feedback from members of the public on the organisation of public 
events. During their investigations consideration has been given to responses 
from the Council to individual complaints which have been received. In so 
doing, the Working Group has commented on the need to ensure that 

117



  

reasoned communications are maintained with residents at all times. It is for 
these reasons, therefore, the Working Group has proposed a 
recommendation (paragraph 5.14) relating to the need to ensure that 
reasoned dialogue is held at all times throughout the consultation process.    

 
5. FINDINGS TO DATE 

 
5.1 During their investigations, the Working Group has identified a number of 

findings, which are designed to improve the Council’s current consultation 
processes. Members of the Working Group have been informed by the Policy 
and Strategic Services Manager that the Council’s Consultation and 
Engagement Strategy and associated Guidance will be reviewed at some 
point during 2011 to take into account recent developments concerning 
Localism and its impact upon Huntingdonshire. With a view to preventing the 
Strategy and Guidance from being reviewed on two separate occasions, the 
Working Group has decided that the Cabinet’s views should be sought on the 
proposed recommendations thus far. A wider review of the Strategy and 
Guidance will then be undertaken.  

 
Recommendation: Owing to their interests in the study, it is 

suggested that the Working Group should be party 
to the wider review of the Consultation and 
Engagement Strategy and associated Guidance as 
and when it commences. 

 
5.2 The paragraphs below provide an outline of the Working Group’s findings. 
 
(a) Role of the Council’s Policy and Research Team  

 
5.3 At the September 2010 Panel meeting, Members were apprised of the role of 

the Policy and Research Team in offering advice and guidance to internal 
service departments on consultation and research methodologies. In 2008, 
the Council adopted the Consultation and Engagement Strategy and 
accompanying Guidance on consultation methods and accessibility 
requirements. These documents are primarily used as tools to assist 
departments on the choices they make when undertaking consultation 
exercises. 

 
5.4 The existence of a Consultation Calendar and Database act as further internal 

aids, enabling Officers to view past and present consultations. Both can be 
accessed via the Council’s Intranet and are monitored by the Policy and 
Research Team. The Policy and Strategic Services Manager has informed 
Members that it is the responsibility of all service departments to populate the 
Calendar and Database. Members have also been informed of 
inconsistencies across the Council’s service departments in utilising the 
system, and that as a result, there are some gaps in the information that is 
currently available.  

 
 
 

118



  

Recommendation: Officers should be encouraged wherever possible 
to utilise the Consultation Calendar and Database 
during any consultations that they undertake and 
to populate these resources accordingly.  

 
Recommendation: A Consultation Plan should be developed which 

includes an outline of all consultations that were 
forthcoming over the course of the year. The Plan 
should include details such as whether or not 
there is a legal obligation to undertake the 
consultation and an indication of key dates during 
the consultation process. 

 
(b) Pre-Consultation Considerations 
 
5.5 It has been suggested that it would be useful to introduce a requirement that 

the benefit/value and options (if they are suggested) of undertaking 
consultation exercises are formally assessed prior to their commencement. It 
has been acknowledged that some consultations are undertaken because 
there is a legal requirement to do so, however, there is some discretion over 
whether and how others take place. 
  
Recommendation:  Before a consultation is undertaken, a rigorous 

assessment of the methodology to be employed, 
including the questions and options proposed for a 
consultation, should be undertaken by the relevant 
Executive Councillor(s) and Head(s) of Service 
together with local Ward Members and the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel. Authorisation to 
proceed should be obtained at a senior level within 
the Council before commencement.  

 
5.6 This is intended to ensure that engagement is proactive and will prevent 

consultation from taking place that replicates information that the Council 
already has.  
 

5.7 The Working Group has expressed the view that there is a need for more 
involvement and proactive engagement by Members before consultations, 
particularly where the public are asked to suggest options. As part of the 
assessment, an opportunity to consider the terms of any proposed 
consultations should be provided to all Members. 

 
Recommendation:  The relevant Members and/or Overview and 

Scrutiny Panel should be invited to participate in a 
qualitative debate with the relevant Executive 
Councillor(s) and Head(s) of Service during the 
initial planning stage of the consultation.  

 
5.8 This will ensure rigour in the planning process and assist with the justification 

for the consultation. 
 

119



  

5.9 Following their discussions with Mr P Boothman, the Working Group’s 
attention has been drawn to the need to ensure that the title of the Council’s 
consultations appropriately reflect the nature of the consultation in question, 
with clear reference being made to the Ward(s) that will/would be affected. 
The Working Group has concurred with this view and indicated that matters 
such as this would be addressed as part of the initial planning stage of the 
consultation.  
 

(c) Publicity and Promotion 
 
5.10 The Working Group has concluded that during the Budget Consultation there 

was evidence of publicity, however, there was no publicity activity after the 
consultation had closed. The Working Group has decided that publicity should 
be a key theme that runs throughout the consultation process, and should be 
considered more extensively prior to the consultation launch as well as after 
the consultation has closed. This should be in addition to any publicity that is 
undertaken during the period for which the consultation is open for public 
comment, to include more transparency in respect of consultation timescales. 

 
Recommendation:  The Council should publicise more effectively the 

expectations of consultations prior to their 
commencement together with the reasons why a 
chosen course of action has been taken.  

 
Recommendation: Following a consultation exercise, where there are 

options, the selection of options chosen and the 
Council’s reasons for doing so should be 
published. This will largely depend upon the 
subject matter in question. 

 
Recommendation:  Publicity methods should include the 

Neighbourhood Forums established in 
Huntingdonshire. Member involvement during this 
part of the process is particularly important as 
they will be able to assist with identifying target 
audiences for the consultation.  

 
5.11 These recommendations are further supported by the Council’s Customer 

Service Strategy “Customer Insight”, which was adopted in 2008 and has an 
aim “to be good at communicating with and listening to people and 
organisations”. Members also wish to place on record the loss of the 
circulation of hardcopies of Districtwide as it was felt that the magazine acted 
as a useful vehicle for publicising forthcoming Council consultations.   

 
(d) Consultation 
 
5.12 The Working Group considers communication to be a vital part of the 

consultation process. 
  

120



  

Recommendation:  Consultations should incorporate all relevant 
sectors of the community, including those in 
isolated rural areas as well as the vulnerable and 
disabled on a methodologically sound basis. 
Where consultation is not practical, Ward 
Members should be asked to supply a balanced 
input. 

 
5.13 Whilst reference to rural isolation is made within the Council’s current 

Guidance, the Guidance does not specify how these sectors of the community 
can be included within consultations. It is therefore suggested that these 
points be borne in mind as part of the wider review of the Strategy and 
Guidance. 

 
5.14 The language used in the course of consultations has been discussed by the 

Working Group. It is felt that the language currently employed during 
consultations is too technical for the public to understand and that material 
should therefore be written/presented using plain English. 
  
Recommendation:  Where appropriate, reasoned dialogue should be 

held at all times with residents, whether verbally 
or through written correspondence, to help instil 
trust and confidence in the consultation process.  

 
(e)  Post-Consultation Considerations 
 
5.15 It has already been said that the outcome of consultations, once they have 

been closed, should be subject to analysis and reported to the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel, before a decision is taken. Once a decision has 
been taken, the reasons for and against any proposals should be effectively 
publicised. This will add value to the current process and demonstrate that the 
views elicited have been taken into account. 

 
Recommendation:  An evaluation of each consultation exercise 

should be undertaken as part of the Council’s 
consultation process. The evaluation should 
include a detailed description of the processes 
undertaken, an outline of the materials used and 
Officer Responses to the comments made.  

 
5.16 Members have commented that the evaluation document will provide a sound 

evidence base and assist with the justification for the final consultation 
outcome. 

 
(f) Other Matters  
 
5.17 Other matters that have been raised during the course of the Working Group’s 

investigations include the structure of the questions posed within consultation 
documents and the level of responses to postal surveys. Both of these are 
already referred to within the current Guidance but the Working Group have 

121



  

suggested that these matters should be further reviewed as part of the wider 
review of the Strategy and Guidance. 
 

6. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
6.1 The Panel has recognised that there is a need for the Council’s current 

consultation processes to be improved. A number of suggestions to improve 
the current practices employed by the Council have been made for inclusion 
within the wider review of the Consultation and Engagement Strategy and 
associated Guidance which is scheduled to commence at some point during 
the current year. The recommendations made have been considered in terms 
of their ability to support the objectives of the new Council Plan and to meet 
the challenges presented by recent developments concerning Localism and 
the Big Society and have been endorsed by the Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
(Social Well-Being) at their meeting on 7th June 2011. The Cabinet is, 
therefore, recommended: 

 
(a) to endorse the suggestion that the Consultation Processes 

Working Group should be party to the wider review of the 
Consultation and Engagement Strategy and associated Guidance 
which is due for commencement during 2011 by the Head of 
People, Performance and Partnerships; (paragraph 5.1) 

 
(b) to encourage Officers wherever possible to utilise the Consultation 

Calendar and Database during any consultations that they 
undertake and to populate these resources accordingly; and 
(paragraph 5.4) 

 
(c) to endorse, in principle, the following recommendations for 

inclusion within the wider review of the Council’s Consultation and 
Engagement Strategy and Guidance:- 

 
(i) that a Consultation Plan be developed which includes an 

outline of all consultations that are forthcoming over the 
course of the year. The Plan should include details such as 
whether or not there is a legal obligation to undertake the 
consultation and an indication of key dates during the 
consultation process; (paragraph 5.4) 

 
(ii) that before a consultation is undertaken, a rigorous 

assessment of the methodology to be employed, including 
the questions and options proposed for a consultation, 
should be undertaken by the relevant Executive 
Councillor(s) and Head(s) of Service together with local 
Ward Members and the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel. Authorisation to proceed should be obtained at a 
senior level within the Council before commencement; 
(paragraph 5.5) 

 
(iii) that the relevant Members and/or Overview and Scrutiny 

Panel be invited to participate in a qualitative debate with 

122



  

the relevant Executive Councillor(s) and Head(s) of Service 
during the initial planning stage of the consultation; 
(paragraph 5.7) 

 
(iv) that the Council should publicise more effectively the 

expectations of consultations prior to their commencement 
together with the reasons why a chosen course of action 
has been taken; (paragraph 5.10) 

 
(v) that, following a consultation exercise, where there are 

options, the selection of options chosen and the Council’s 
reasons for doing so should be published. This will largely 
depend on the subject matter in question; (paragraph 5.10) 

 
(vi) that publicity methods should include the Neighbourhood 

Forums established in Huntingdonshire; (paragraph 5.10) 
 
(vii) that consultations should incorporate all relevant sectors of 

the community, including those in isolated rural areas as 
well as the vulnerable and disabled on a methodologically 
sound basis. Where consultation is not practical, Ward 
Members should be asked to supply a balanced input; 
(paragraph 5.12) 

 
(viii) that, where appropriate, reasoned dialogue should be held 

at all times with residents, whether verbally or through 
written correspondence, to help instil trust and confidence 
in the consultation process; and (paragraph 5.14) 

 
(ix) that an evaluation of each consultation exercise should be 

undertaken as part of the Council’s consultation process. 
The evaluation should include a detailed description of the 
processes undertaken, an outline of the materials used and 
Officer Responses to the comments made. (paragraph 5.15) 

 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

• Notes of the meetings of the Working Group held on 15th December 2010, 
18th January, 16th February, 1st and 21st April and 2nd June 2011. 

• Report and Minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Social Well-Being) 
held on 6th July, 7th September, 5th October and 7th December 2010. 

• Consultation Processes Working File held by Democratic Services Section. 
• Consultation Calendar and Database available on the Council’s Intranet - 

Head of People, Performance and Partnerships – Central Services 
Directorate). 

• Consultation and Engagement Strategy 2008 and associated Guidance on 
Methods and Accessibility. 

• Customer Service Strategy: “Customer Insight”. 

123



  

 
Contact Officer:  Miss Habbiba Ali, Democratic Services Officer 
   (01480) 388006 
   Habbiba.Ali@huntingdonshire.gov.uk  

124



 
 

 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present to Members performance 

management information on “Growing Success” – the Council’s Corporate 
Plan for 2010/11 (replaced by a new Council Plan in April 2011). 

 
 
2. BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
2.1 Growing Success included short, medium and long term objectives to help 

achieve aims and ambitions for Huntingdonshire’s communities and the 
Council itself. Eight of these objectives were considered as priorities for the 
immediate future. 

 
 
3. PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT 
 
3.1 Progress against all objectives is reported to Chief Officers Management 

Team quarterly on a service basis. A progress report from each Division 
includes performance data in the form of achievement against a target for 
each of the objectives that those services contribute towards. This is 
supported by narrative on achievements, other issues or risks and budgeting 
information. 

 
3.2 In addition, a working group appointed by the Overview & Scrutiny Panels 

meets quarterly to monitor progress and consider development issues. 
 
3.3 Members of the Overview & Scrutiny Panels have an important role in the 

Council’s Performance Management Framework and the process of regular 
review of performance data has been established. In prioritising the objectives 
in Growing Success, it was intended that Members should concentrate their 
monitoring on this small number of objectives to enable them to adopt a 
strategic overview while building confidence that the Council’s priorities are 
being achieved. 

 
3.4 Members of the Panels will also find broader performance information of help 

to them in undertaking their review and scrutiny functions. This information 
can be provided on a regular or ad-hoc basis. A review of performance 
reporting arrangements, involving officers and members, is currently 
underway with the emphasis on local priorities, informed by national changes 
to performance arrangements. 

 
 
 

CABINET 23RD June 2011 
 
 
 

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT 
(Report by the Head of  People, Performance & Partnerships) 

Agenda Item 11

125



3.5 The priority objectives in Growing Success were allocated between Panels as 
follows: 

 

SOCIAL 
WELL-BEING 

ENVIRONMENTAL 
WELL-BEING 

ECONOMIC 
WELL-BEING 

To enable the provision of 
affordable housing  

To help mitigate and adapt 
to climate change 

Effective Partnership 

To achieve a low level of 
homelessness  

To promote development 
opportunities in and 
around the market towns 

To be an employer people 
want to work for 

To promote active 
lifestyles 

 Maximise business and 
income opportunities 
including external funding 
and grants 

 
 
4. PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
 
4.1 The following performance data is appended for consideration: 
 

Annex A - Performance data from services which contribute to the Council 
objectives.  For each measure there is a target, actual performance against 
target, forecast performance for the next period, an indicator showing the 
direction of travel compared with the previous quarter and a comments field.  
The data is colour coded as follows: 

 
 green – achieving or above target; 
 amber – between target and an “intervention level” (the level at which 

performance is considered to be unacceptable and action is required); 
 red – the intervention level or below; and 
 grey – data not available. 

 
Annex B - a summary of the achievements, issues and risks relating to the 
objectives, as identified by the Heads of Service. 
 

 
5.        DATA QUALITY 
 
5.1 The appropriate Heads of Service have confirmed the accuracy of the data in 

the attached report and that its compilation is in accordance with the 
appropriate Divisions’ data measure templates.  Acknowledging the 
importance of performance management data, a system of spot checks has 
been introduced to give further assurance on its accuracy. 

 
 
6. RECOMMENDATION 
 
6.1 Members are recommended to; 
  

Consider the results of performance for the Council’s priority objectives for 
2010/11. 
 
 

126



BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
Performance Management reports produced from the Council’s CPMF software 
system 
 
Growing Success: Corporate Plan 
 
 
Contact Officer: Howard Thackray, Policy & Research Manager 
 (     01480 388035 
 

127



This page is intentionally left blank 

128



^
åå

Éñ
 ^
 J
 p
çÅ

á~
ä t

Éä
äJ_

Éá
åÖ

 n
ì~

êí
Éê
äó
 o

Éé
çê
í

PN
 j

~ê
ÅÜ

 O
MN

N

`
ç
ã
ã
ì
å
áí
óL
`
ç
ì
å
Åá
ä ^

áã
W 
e
É~

äí
Ü
ó 
i
áî
áå
Ö

l
Ä
àÉ
Åí
áî
ÉW
 q
ç
 é
êç

ã
ç
íÉ
 ~
Åí
áî
É 
äáÑ
Éë

íó
äÉ
ë

a
áî
áë
áç
å
W 
i
Éá
ëì

êÉ
a
áî
áë
áç
å
~ä
 l

Ä
àÉ
Åí
áî
ÉW
 q
ç
 áå

Åê
É~

ëÉ
 é
~ê
íá
Åá
é
~í
áç
å
 áå

 Ü
É~

äí
Ü
ó 
é
Ü
óë

áÅ
~ä
 ~
Åí
áî
áí
áÉ
ë

h
Éó

 ^
Åí
áî
áíó
Eë
F 
çå

äó
 íç

 Ç
Éä
áî
Éê
 ë
Éê
îá
ÅÉ

 ç
Äà
ÉÅ

íáî
ÉW

h
Éó

 j
É~

ëì
êÉ
W

q
~ê
ÖÉ

íW
^
Åí
ì~

äW
c
çê
ÉÅ

~ë
íW

a
çq

GW
`
çã

ã
Éå

íW

j
~á
åí
~á
å 
~å

Ç 
áã

éê
çî

É 
ëí
~å

Ç~
êÇ
 ç
Ñ Ñ
~Å

áäá
íáÉ

ë 
C
 ã

~í
ÅÜ

Ñ~
Åá
äáí
ó 
éê
çî

áë
áç
å 
ï
áíÜ

 ì
ë~

ÖÉ
 Ç
Éã

~å
Ç 
Ep

`
p
 ã

É~
ëì

êÉ
F

k
ìã

ÄÉ
ê 
çÑ
 ~
Çã

áë
ëá
çå

ëL
é~

êí
áÅ
áé
~å

íë
 áå

 ~
Åí
áî
áíá
Éë

 é
êç
îá
ÇÉ

Ç 
çê
 é
êç
ã
çí
ÉÇ

 Ä
ó

íÜ
É 
`
çì

åÅ
áä 
EÅ
ìã

ìä
~í
áî
É 
èì

~ê
íÉ
êäó

 í~
êÖ
Éí
F

NK
TN

ã
NK
TO

ã
Ed

F
>

TP
â 
~Ç

Çá
íáç

å~
ä ~

Çã
áë
ëá
çå

ë 
~í
 p
í

k
Éç

íë
q
çí
~ä
 Ç
çÉ

ë 
åç

í á
åÅ

äì
ÇÉ

 R
TV

IM
MM

ëÅ
Üç

çä
ë 
~å

Ç 
åç

åJ
é~

êí
áÅ
áé
~í
áå
Ö

~Ç
ã
áë
ëá
çå

ë

n
o
q

m
êç
ã
çí
áç
å 
~å

Ç 
ã
~ê
âÉ

íáå
Ö 
çÑ
 ~
î~

áä~
Ää
É 
~Å

íáî
áíá
Éë

k
ìã

ÄÉ
ê 
çÑ
 ~
Åí
áî
É 
Å~

êÇ
 Ü
çä
ÇÉ

êë
PO

IM
MM

PP
IU
SV

Ed
F

?
q
çí
~ä
 Å
~ê
Ç 
Üç

äÇ
Éê
ë 
åç

ï
Éñ

ÅÉ
ÉÇ

ë 
NM

MI
MM

M
n
o
q

a
áî
áë
áç
å
W 
i
áÑ
Éë

íó
äÉ
ë

a
áî
áë
áç
å
~ä
 l

Ä
àÉ
Åí
áî
ÉW
 q
ç
 é
êç

ã
ç
íÉ
 Ü
É~

äí
Ü
ó 
äáÑ
Éë

íó
äÉ
 Å
Ü
ç
áÅ
Éë

h
Éó

 ^
Åí
áî
áíó
Eë
F 
çå

äó
 íç

 Ç
Éä
áî
Éê
 ë
Éê
îá
ÅÉ

 ç
Äà
ÉÅ

íáî
ÉW

h
Éó

 j
É~

ëì
êÉ
W

q
~ê
ÖÉ

íW
^
Åí
ì~

äW
c
çê
ÉÅ

~ë
íW

a
çq

GW
`
çã

ã
Éå

íW
m
êç
îá
ÇÉ

 ~
 ê
~å

ÖÉ
 ç
Ñ ~

ÅÅ
Éë

ëá
Ää
É 
äÉ
áë
ìê
É 
çé

éç
êí
ìå

áíá
Éë

ëì
ÅÜ

 ~
ëW
 ~
 e

çä
áÇ
~ó

 ^
Åí
áî
áíó
 m
êç
Öê
~ã

ã
É 
Ñç
ê 
YN

T 
óê
ë

Ep
`
p
 ã

É~
ëì

êÉ
F

q
çí
~ä
 íÜ

êç
ìÖ

Üé
ìí
 ç
Ñ ë

ÅÜ
çç

äI 
çì

íê
É~

ÅÜ
 ~
åÇ

 Ü
çä
áÇ
~ó

 ~
Åí
áî
áíó
 m
êç
Öê
~ã

ã
Éë

EÅ
ìã

ìä
~í
áî
É 
èì

~ê
íÉ
êäó

 í~
êÖ
Éí
F

QI
RM

M
QI
UV

O
Ed

F
≅

n
o
q

m
êç
îá
ÇÉ

 í~
êÖ
Éí
ÉÇ

 ë
ÅÜ

Éã
Éë

 íç
 É
å~

Ää
É 
îì

äå
Éê
~Ä

äÉ
éÉ

çé
äÉ
 íç

 é
~ê
íáÅ

áé
~í
É 
áå
 é
Üó

ëá
Å~

ä ä
Éá
ëì

êÉ
 ~
Åí
áî
áíá
Éë

 E
áå
Å

b
ñÉ

êÅ
áë
É 
o
ÉÑ
Éê
ê~
äI 
`
çã

ã
ìå

áíó
 p
éç

êí
ë 
~å

Ç
o
ÉÅ

êÉ
~í
áç
å 
m
êç
àÉ
Åí
I `

çã
ã
ìå

áíó
 p
éç

êí
ë 
k
Éí
ï
çê
â 
~å

Ç
^
Åí
áî
É 
iá
ÑÉ
 ë
ÅÜ

Éã
ÉF
 E
p
`
p
 ã

É~
ëì

êÉ
 O
KN
KR
F

q
Üê
çì

ÖÜ
éì

í ç
å 
áÇ
Éå

íáÑ
áÉ
Ç 
ëÅ
ÜÉ

ã
Éë

 E
Åì

ã
ìä
~í
áî
É 
èì

~ê
íÉ
êäó

 í~
êÖ
Éí
F

NT
IT
OO

NR
IR
QU

E^
F

≅

j
áë
ëÉ

Ç 
í~
êÖ
Éí
 Å
~å

 Ä
É

Éñ
éä
~á
åÉ

Ç 
Äó

 ë
äç
ï
 ë
í~
êí
 íç

a
^
p
e
 ë
ÅÜ

Éã
É 
éê
ÉÇ

çã
áå
~å

íäó
K

c
áêë

í ó
É~

ê 
çÑ
 é
êç
Öê
~ã

ã
ÉI

ëá
Öå

áÑá
Å~

åí
 p
éç

êí
 b
åÖ

ä~
åÇ

~Ç
ã
áå
áë
íê
~í
áç
å 
~å

Ç 
ä~
êÖ
É

åì
ã
ÄÉ

ê 
çÑ
 ë
Éé

~ê
~í
É

áå
íÉ
êî
Éå

íáç
åë

 ã
É~

åí
 ë
çã

É
~ê
É~

ë 
ëí
~ê
íÉ
Ç 
ä~
íÉ
ê 
íÜ
~å

Ñç
êÉ
Å~

ëí
K l

íÜ
Éê
 ~
êÉ
~ë

 ï
áíÜ

áå
çî

Éê
~ä
ä í
~ê
ÖÉ

í É
ñÅ

ÉÉ
ÇÉ

Ç 
í~
êÖ
Éí
I

áå
 é
~ê
íáÅ

ìä
~ê
 ^
Åí
áî
É 
~í
 R
MK

n
o
q

m
êç
îá
ÇÉ

 ì
åÇ

Éê
Jê
Éé

êÉ
ëÉ

åí
ÉÇ

 Ö
êç
ìé

ë 
ï
áíÜ

 íÜ
É

çé
éç

êí
ìå

áíó
 íç

 é
~ê
íáÅ

áé
~í
É 
áå
 ë
éç

êí
 ~
åÇ

 ~
Åí
áî
É

êÉ
Åê
É~

íáç
å 
Ep

`
p
 ã

É~
ëì

êÉ
F

q
çí
~ä
 íÜ

êç
ìÖ

Üé
ìí
 ç
Ñ ~

Åí
áî
áíó
 é
êç
Öê
~ã

ã
É 
Ñç
ê 
Çá
ë~

Ää
ÉÇ

 é
~ê
íáÅ

áé
~å

íë
 ~
åÇ

ìå
ÇÉ

êJ
êÉ
éê
Éë

Éå
íÉ
Ç 
Öê
çì

éë
 E
Åì

ã
ìä
~í
áî
É 
èì

~ê
íÉ
êäó

 í~
êÖ
Éí
F

OI
MM

M
NI
UN

O
E^

F
≅

q
~ê
ÖÉ

í à
ìë

í ã
áë
ëÉ

Ç 
Äó

 ë
äç
ï

ëí
~ê
í á
å 
a
^
p
e
 E
äç
ííÉ

êó
 Ñì

åÇ
ÉÇ

éê
çÖ

ê~
ã
ã
ÉF
K o

ÉÖ
ìä
~ê
 ~
Åí
áî
áíá
Éë

Üá
í í
~ê
ÖÉ

íX 
áí 
ï
~ë

 íÜ
É 
åÉ

ï
 ç
åÉ

ë
íÜ
~í
 ï
Éê
É 
~ 
äáí
íäÉ

 ë
äç
ï
Éê
 íç

 ë
í~
êí

íÜ
~å

 áå
áíá
~ä
äó
 Ñç

êÉ
Å~

ëí
K

n
o
q

p
ìé

éç
êí
 î
ìä
åÉ

ê~
Ää
É 
éÉ

çé
äÉ
 íç

 Ä
É 
ã
çê
É 
~Å

íáî
ÉI

`
~ê
Çá
~Å

 o
ÉÜ

~Ä
áäá
í~
íáç

å 
éê
çÖ

ê~
ã
ã
É 
~å

Ç 
e
É~

äíÜ
 t

~ä
âë

q
çí
~ä
 íÜ

êç
ìÖ

Üé
ìí
 ç
Ñ í
ÜÉ

 `
~ê
Çá
~Å

 o
ÉÜ

~Ä
áäá
í~
íáç

å 
éê
çÖ

ê~
ã
ã
É 
~å

Ç 
e
É~

äíÜ
t
~ä
âë

 áå
 e

ìå
íáå

ÖÇ
çå

ëÜ
áêÉ

 E
Åì

ã
ìä
~í
áî
É 
èì

~ê
íÉ
êäó

 í~
êÖ
Éí
F

VI
RM

M
NM

IR
OT

Ed
F

>
n
o
q

G 
a
áêÉ

Åí
áç
å 
çÑ
 q
ê~
îÉ

ä J
 ë
Üç

ï
ë 
ÅÜ

~å
ÖÉ

 áå
 é
Éê
Ñç
êã

~å
ÅÉ

 ë
áå
ÅÉ

 ä~
ëí
 è
ì~

êí
Éê
I ï

ÜÉ
êÉ
 ~
éé

äáÅ
~Ä

äÉ
N

129



^
åå

Éñ
 ^
 J
 p
çÅ

á~
ä t

Éä
äJ_

Éá
åÖ

 n
ì~

êí
Éê
äó
 o

Éé
çê
í

PN
 j

~ê
ÅÜ

 O
MN

N

`
ç
ã
ã
ì
å
áí
óL
`
ç
ì
å
Åá
ä ^

áã
W 
e
ç
ì
ëá
å
Ö
 í
Ü
~í
 ã

ÉÉ
íë
 áå

Ç
áî
áÇ
ì
~ä
ë 
å
ÉÉ

Ç
ë

l
Ä
àÉ
Åí
áî
ÉW
 q
ç
 ~
ÅÜ

áÉ
îÉ

 ~
 äç

ï
 äÉ

îÉ
ä ç

Ñ 
Ü
ç
ã
Éä
Éë

ëå
Éë

ë
a
áî
áë
áç
å
W 
e
ç
ì
ëá
å
Ö

a
áî
áë
áç
å
~ä
 l

Ä
àÉ
Åí
áî
ÉW
 q
ç
 ~
ÅÜ

áÉ
îÉ

 ~
 äç

ï
 äÉ

îÉ
ä ç

Ñ 
Ü
ç
ã
Éä
Éë

ëå
Éë

ë
h
Éó

 ^
Åí
áî
áíó
Eë
F 
çå

äó
 íç

 Ç
Éä
áî
Éê
 ë
Éê
îá
ÅÉ

 ç
Äà
ÉÅ

íáî
ÉW

h
Éó

 j
É~

ëì
êÉ
W

q
~ê
ÖÉ

íW
^
Åí
ì~

äW
c
çê
ÉÅ

~ë
íW

a
çq

GW
`
çã

ã
Éå

íW

_
ó 
ÜÉ

äé
áå
Ö 
íç
 é
êÉ
îÉ

åí
 é
Éç

éä
É 
Ñê
çã

 Ä
ÉÅ

çã
áå
Ö

Ek
f N

RS
F 
k
çK
 ç
Ñ Ü

çì
ëÉ

Üç
äÇ
ë 
äáî
áå
Ö 
áå
 íÉ

ã
éç

ê~
êó
 ~
ÅÅ

çã
ã
çÇ

~í
áç
å

SM
TS

 E
^
F

TS
≅

c
áÖ
ìê
É 
áë
 ~
Äç

îÉ
 í~

êÖ
Éí
I Ä

ìí
 Ü
~ë

ÄÉ
Éå

 ê
ÉÇ

ìÅ
áå
Ö 
áå
 ê
ÉÅ

Éå
í ï

ÉÉ
âë

n
o
q

Üç
ã
Éä
Éë

ë 
Äó

 Ü
çì

ëá
åÖ

 Ü
çã

Éä
Éë

ë 
éÉ

çé
äÉ
I ï

ÜÉ
êÉ

~é
éê
çé

êá~
íÉ

q
ÜÉ

 å
ìã

ÄÉ
ê 
çÑ
 Ü
çì

ëÉ
Üç

äÇ
ë 
éê
Éî

Éå
íÉ
Ç 
Ñê
çã

 Ä
ÉÅ

çã
áå
Ö 
Üç

ã
Éä
Éë

ë 
áå
 íÜ

É
óÉ

~ê
 E
Åì

ã
ìä
~í
áî
É 
èì

~ê
íÉ
êäó

 ã
É~

ëì
êÉ
F

OS
M

PV
T 
Ed

F
OS

M
?

UU
 é
êÉ
îÉ

åí
áç
åë

 é
Éê
Ñç
êã

ÉÇ
 áå

n
QK
 q
ÜÉ

 í~
êÖ
Éí
 ï
~ë

 ~
äêÉ

~Ç
ó

Éñ
ÅÉ

ÉÇ
ÉÇ

 áå
 n

PK
n
o
q

`
ç
ã
ã
ì
å
áí
óL
`
ç
ì
å
Åá
ä ^

áã
W 
a
Éî

Éä
ç
é
áå
Ö
 Å
ç
ã
ã
ì
å
áí
áÉ
ë 
ëì

ëí
~á
å
~Ä

äó

l
Ä
àÉ
Åí
áî
ÉW
 q
ç
 É
å
~Ä

äÉ
 í
Ü
É 
é
êç

îá
ëá
ç
å
 ç
Ñ 
~Ñ
Ñç
êÇ

~Ä
äÉ
 Ü
ç
ì
ëá
å
Ö

a
áî
áë
áç
å
W 
e
ç
ì
ëá
å
Ö

a
áî
áë
áç
å
~ä
 l

Ä
àÉ
Åí
áî
ÉW
 q
ç
 É
å
~Ä

äÉ
 í
Ü
É 
é
êç

îá
ëá
ç
å
 ç
Ñ 
~Ñ
Ñç
êÇ

~Ä
äÉ
 Ü
ç
ì
ëá
å
Ö

h
Éó

 ^
Åí
áî
áíó
Eë
F 
çå

äó
 íç

 Ç
Éä
áî
Éê
 ë
Éê
îá
ÅÉ

 ç
Äà
ÉÅ

íáî
ÉW

h
Éó

 j
É~

ëì
êÉ
W

q
~ê
ÖÉ

íW
^
Åí
ì~

äW
c
çê
ÉÅ

~ë
íW

a
çq

GW
`
çã

ã
Éå

íW

_
ó 
ã
~ñ

áã
áë
áå
Ö 
íÜ
É 
ä~
åÇ

 ~
î~

áä~
Ää
É 
Ñç
ê 
åÉ

ï
 ~
ÑÑç

êÇ
~Ä

äÉ
Üç

ìë
áå
ÖK
 _
ó 
ï
çê
âá
åÖ

 áå
 é
~ê
íå
Éê
ëÜ

áé
 ï
áíÜ

 e
çì

ëá
åÖ

^
ëë
çÅ

á~
íáç

åë
 íç

 Ä
áÇ
 Ñç

ê 
Éñ

íÉ
êå
~ä
 Ñì

åÇ
áå
ÖK
 _
ó 
ã
~â

áå
Ö 
~

Ñáå
~å

Åá
~ä
 Å
çå

íê
áÄ
ìí
áç
å 
íç
 é
~ó

 Ñç
ê 
~Ñ
Ñç
êÇ
~Ä

äÉ
 Ü
çã

Éë
 íç

ÄÉ
 Ä
ìá
äí

Ek
f N

RR
F 
k
ìã

ÄÉ
ê 
çÑ
 å
Éï

 ~
ÑÑç

êÇ
~Ä

äÉ
 Ü
çã

Éë
 Ä
ìá
äí 
Äó

 j
~ê
ÅÜ

 O
MN

N
EÅ
ìã

ìä
~í
áî
É 
èì

~ê
íÉ
êäó

 í~
êÖ
Éí
F 
Eäç

Å~
ä í
~ê
ÖÉ

íF
OV

U
PS

T 
Ed

F
PS

T
>

q
~ê
ÖÉ

í ï
~ë

 É
ñÅ

ÉÉ
ÇÉ

Ç 
J 
NQ

T
éê
çé

Éê
íáÉ

ë 
ï
Éê
É 
ÇÉ

äáî
Éê
ÉÇ

 áå
íÜ
É 
ä~
ëí
 è
ì~

êí
Éê
I ã

~á
åä
ó 
~í

iç
îÉ

Dë
 c
~ê
ã
I Ä

ìí
 ~
äë
ç 
íÜ
É

o
~ã

ëÉ
ó 
d
ê~
åÇ

 `
áå
Éã

~ 
ëá
íÉ
I

~å
Ç 
p
éê
áå
ÖÑ
áÉ
äÇ
 p
ÅÜ

çç
ä ë

áíÉ
K

n
o
q

a
áî
áë
áç
å
W 
m
ä~
å
å
áå
Ö

a
áî
áë
áç
å
~ä
 l

Ä
àÉ
Åí
áî
ÉW
 j

~ñ
áã

áë
É 
é
êç

îá
ëá
ç
å
 ç
Ñ 
~Ñ
Ñç
êÇ

~Ä
äÉ
 Ü
ç
ì
ëá
å
Ö
 ç
å
 ê
Éä
Éî

~å
í 
Ç
Éî

Éä
ç
é
ã
Éå

í 
ëá
íÉ
ë

h
Éó

 ^
Åí
áî
áíó
Eë
F 
çå

äó
 íç

 Ç
Éä
áî
Éê
 ë
Éê
îá
ÅÉ

 ç
Äà
ÉÅ

íáî
ÉW

h
Éó

 j
É~

ëì
êÉ
W

q
~ê
ÖÉ

íW
^
Åí
ì~

äW
c
çê
ÉÅ

~ë
íW

a
çq

GW
`
çã

ã
Éå

íW

a
Éî

Éä
çé

 `
çê
É 
p
íê
~í
ÉÖ

ó 
~å

Ç 
a
Éî

Éä
çé

ã
Éå

í `
çå

íê
çä

m
çä
áÅ
áÉ
ë 
a
m
a
 E
íç
 ë
Éí
 é
çä
áÅ
ó 
Ñê
~ã

Éï
çê
âF
L^
Çç

éí
m
ä~
åå

áå
Ö 
l
Ää
áÖ
~í
áç
åë

 p
m
a
 E
íç
 ë
Éí
 ë
éÉ

Åá
ÑáÅ

 í~
êÖ
Éí
ë 
~å

Ç

B
 ç
Ñ ~

ÑÑç
êÇ
~Ä

äÉ
 Ü
çì

ëá
åÖ

 E
Åç

ã
ã
áíã

Éå
íë
F 
çå

 è
ì~

äáÑ
óá
åÖ

 ë
áíÉ

ë 
EÅ
ìã

ìä
~í
áî
ÉF

QM
OR

KN
M

Eo
F

?

c
áÖ
ìê
É 
Çá
ëí
çê
íÉ
Ç 
Äó

 íÜ
É 
iç

îÉ
ë

c
~ê
ã
 Ç
Éî

Éä
çé

ã
Éå

í ï
ÜÉ

êÉ
 íÜ

É
éÜ

~ë
Éë

 å
çï

 Ä
Éá
åÖ

 Ç
Éî

Éä
çé

ÉÇ
Çç

 å
çí
 áå

Åä
ìÇ

É 
~Ñ
Ñç
êÇ
~Ä

äÉ
Üç

ìë
áå
ÖK

v
o
i

íÜ
êÉ
ëÜ

çä
Çë

FL
k
ÉÖ

çí
á~
íÉ
 p
NM

S 
^
Öê
ÉÉ

ã
Éå

íë
 E
íç
 Ç
Éä
áî
Éê

êÉ
èì

áêÉ
Ç 
~ã

çì
åí
ë 
çÑ
 ~
ÑÑç

êÇ
~Ä

äÉ
 Ü
çì

ëá
åÖ

F
B
 ç
Ñ Ü

çì
ëá
åÖ

 Å
çã

éä
Éí
áç
åë

 ç
å 
èì

~ä
áÑó
áå
Ö 
ëá
íÉ
ë 
íÜ
~í
 ~
êÉ
 ~
ÑÑç

êÇ
~Ä

äÉ
QM

QN
KS
M

Ed
F

?

^
ë 
~í
 j

~ê
ÅÜ

 O
MN

MK
o
Éë

ìä
í ë

~ã
É 
Ñç
ê 
~ä
ä ë

áíÉ
ë 
áå

a
áë
íê
áÅ
í ~

ë 
åç

 äç
åÖ

Éê
 ã

çå
áíç

êÉ
Ç

áå
 ^
j
o
 ë
Éé

~ê
~í
Éä
óK

v
o
i

G 
a
áêÉ

Åí
áç
å 
çÑ
 q
ê~
îÉ

ä J
 ë
Üç

ï
ë 
ÅÜ

~å
ÖÉ

 áå
 é
Éê
Ñç
êã

~å
ÅÉ

 ë
áå
ÅÉ

 ä~
ëí
 è
ì~

êí
Éê
I ï

ÜÉ
êÉ
 ~
éé

äáÅ
~Ä

äÉ
O

130



S
O

C
IA

L 
W

E
LL

-B
E

IN
G

 (
u

p
 t

o
 3

1
st

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

1
1

) 
A

N
N

E
X

 B
 

 

1
 

O
b

je
ct

iv
e 

 
C

o
m

m
e

n
ts

 f
ro

m
 a

p
p

ro
p

ri
a

te
 H

e
a

d
 o

f 
S

e
rv

ic
e

 
T

o 
pr

om
ot

e 
ac

tiv
e 

lif
es

ty
le

s 
A

ch
ie

ve
m

en
ts

: 
L

ei
su

re
 C

en
tr

es
: 

 A
dm

is
si

on
s 

re
co

rd
ed

 a
 3

%
 in

cr
ea

se
 o

ve
ra

ll 
on

 2
00

9/
10

 w
ith

 S
t 

N
eo

ts
 a

ttr
ac

tin
g 

an
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 7
2,

00
0 

vi
si

to
rs

 in
 

th
e 

ye
ar

 (
44

3,
00

0 
in

 t
ot

al
) 

de
sp

ite
 o

nl
y 

ha
lf 

a 
ye

ar
 o

pe
ni

ng
 f

or
 s

om
e 

of
 t

he
 f

ac
ili

tie
s.

 T
he

 s
uc

ce
ss

 o
f 

th
e 

ne
w

 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t 
ca

nn
ot

 b
e 

un
de

re
st

im
at

ed
 a

nd
 a

ve
ra

ge
 m

on
th

ly
 I

m
pr

es
si

on
s 

at
te

nd
an

ce
 h

as
 r

is
en

 f
ro

m
 4

,0
00

 t
o 

9,
40

0 
in

 t
he

 p
as

t 
6 

m
on

th
s.

 O
ve

r 
11

,0
00

 m
em

be
rs

 v
is

ite
d 

S
t 

N
eo

ts
 I

m
pr

es
si

on
s 

in
 M

ar
ch

 (
a 

re
co

rd
 f

or
 a

ny
 o

f 
th

e 
si

te
s)

.  
H

un
tin

gd
on

 a
ttr

ac
te

d 
an

 a
dd

iti
on

al
 2

8,
00

0 
us

er
s 

ac
ro

ss
 a

 b
ro

ad
 r

an
ge

 o
f 

ac
tiv

iti
es

. 
R

am
se

y 
an

d 
S

aw
tr

y 
re

m
ai

ne
d 

st
ab

le
. T

ot
al

 d
oe

s 
no

t i
nc

lu
de

 5
79

,0
00

 s
ch

oo
ls

 a
nd

 n
on

-p
ar

tic
ip

at
in

g 
ad

m
is

si
on

s.
 

 T
he

 r
is

e 
in

 v
is

ito
rs

 w
as

 r
ef

le
ct

ed
 in

 t
he

 n
um

be
r 

of
 c

ar
d 

ho
ld

er
s 

(n
ow

 a
t 

10
5,

00
0)

 a
nd

 t
he

 n
um

be
r 

of
 li

ve
 c

ar
d 

ho
ld

er
s 

at
 3

3,
86

9.
 K

io
sk

 v
is

its
 n

ow
 to

ta
l o

ve
r 

18
,0

00
 p

er
 m

on
th

 w
ith

 o
ve

r 
3,

00
0 

m
em

be
rs

 n
ow

 u
si

ng
 th

is
 fa

ci
lit

y 
an

d 
ov

er
 6

,6
00

 w
eb

 b
oo

ki
ng

s 
w

er
e 

m
ad

e 
in

 M
ar

ch
 2

01
1 

(2
,9

00
 in

 M
ar

ch
 2

01
0)

. 
 E

n
vi

ro
n

m
en

ta
l a

n
d

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

H
ea

lt
h

 S
er

vi
ce

s:
 

 A
ct

iv
e 

at
 5

0,
 C

ar
di

ac
 R

eh
ab

ili
ta

tio
n 

pr
og

ra
m

m
e,

 H
ea

lth
 W

al
ks

 a
nd

 o
th

er
 r

eg
ul

ar
 a

ct
iv

iti
es

 h
it/

ex
ce

ed
ed

 ta
rg

et
s.

 
 

Is
su

es
 o

r 
ac

tio
ns

 
fo

r 
ne

xt
 q

ua
rt

er
: 

L
ei

su
re

 C
en

tr
es

: 
 68

.5
%

 o
f 

al
l c

ou
rt

s 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

w
er

e 
us

ed
 (

do
w

n 
fr

om
 6

8.
9%

) 
an

d 
sw

im
m

er
s 

pe
r 

ho
ur

 f
el

l t
o 

21
.1

 f
ro

m
 2

2.
8

 (
to

ta
l 

sw
im

s 
dr

op
pe

d 
by

 4
,0

00
 to

 4
33

,0
00

) 
bu

t t
he

 fi
na

l q
ua

rt
er

 im
pr

ov
ed

 o
n 

pr
ev

io
us

 y
ea

r.
 

 A
 f

al
l 

in
 a

dm
is

si
on

s 
at

 S
t 

Iv
es

 o
f 

36
,0

00
 (

do
w

n 
to

 5
81

,0
00

) 
re

fle
ct

s 
a 

la
ck

 o
f 

in
ve

st
m

en
t 

in
 t

he
 f

ac
ili

ty
 

(s
w

im
m

in
g,

 s
po

rt
s 

ha
ll 

an
d 

ou
td

oo
r 

fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
al

l 
ex

pe
rie

nc
ed

 r
ed

uc
tio

ns
 a

lth
ou

gh
 a

 s
ev

er
e 

w
in

te
r 

pa
rt

ia
lly

 
ex

pl
ai

ns
 th

e 
dr

op
 a

t t
he

 O
ut

do
or

 c
en

tr
e 

w
ith

 m
an

y 
pi

tc
h 

ca
nc

el
la

tio
ns

).
 

 E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l a
n

d
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
H

ea
lt

h
 S

er
vi

ce
s:

 
 T

ar
ge

ts
 

ha
ve

 
be

en
 

m
is

se
d 

du
e 

to
 

a 
sl

ow
 

st
ar

t 
to

 
th

e 
D

A
S

H
 

sc
he

m
e 

(D
el

iv
er

in
g 

A
ct

iv
ity

 
an

d 
S

po
rt

 
in

 
H

un
tin

gd
on

sh
ire

) 
m

ea
ni

ng
 th

ro
ug

hp
ut

 a
t f

irs
t w

as
 lo

w
er

 th
an

 in
iti

al
ly

 fo
re

ca
st

. 
 

R
is

ks
: 

  

T
o 

ac
hi

ev
e 

a 
lo

w
 le

ve
l o

f 
ho

m
el

es
sn

es
s  

A
ch

ie
ve

m
en

ts
: 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 S
er

vi
ce

s:
 

 88
 h

ou
se

ho
ld

s 
w

er
e 

pr
ev

en
te

d 
fr

om
 b

ec
om

in
g 

ho
m

el
es

s 
in

 Q
4 

of
 t

he
 y

ea
r,

 c
om

pa
re

d 
to

 9
9 

in
 Q

4 
la

st
 y

ea
r.

 A
 

to
ta

l o
f 3

97
 s

uc
ce

ss
fu

l p
re

ve
nt

io
ns

 in
 2

01
0/

11
 c

om
pa

re
d 

to
 3

76
 in

 th
e 

sa
m

e 
pe

rio
d 

th
e 

pr
ev

io
us

 y
ea

r.
 A

lth
ou

gh
 

an
 in

cr
ea

se
 in

 t
he

 t
ot

al
 n

um
be

r,
 f

ew
er

 w
er

e 
ac

hi
ev

ed
 b

y 
he

lp
in

g 
ho

us
eh

ol
ds

 in
to

 p
riv

at
e 

se
ct

or
 t

en
an

ci
es

 (
16

8 
in

 2
01

0/
11

 c
om

pa
re

d 
to

 1
80

 in
 th

e 
pr

ev
io

us
 y

ea
r)

. 
 

Is
su

es
 o

r 
ac

tio
ns

 
fo

r 
ne

xt
 q

ua
rt

er
: 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 S
er

vi
ce

s:
 

 39
 h

ou
se

ho
ld

s 
w

er
e 

ac
ce

pt
ed

 a
s 

ho
m

el
es

s 
in

 Q
4 

th
is

 y
ea

r 
co

m
pa

re
d 

to
 4

1 
in

 th
e 

sa
m

e 
pe

rio
d 

la
st

 y
ea

r.
 A

 to
ta

l 
of

 1
69

 h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

w
er

e 
ac

ce
pt

ed
 a

s 
ho

m
el

es
s 

in
 2

01
0/

11
 c

om
pa

re
d 

to
 1

37
 in

 th
e 

pr
ev

io
us

 y
ea

r.
 

 76
 h

ou
se

ho
ld

s 
in

 te
m

po
ra

ry
 a

cc
om

m
od

at
io

n 
at

 th
e 

en
d 

of
 th

e 
qu

ar
te

r 
co

m
pa

re
d 

to
 6

4 
at

 th
e 

st
ar

t.
 

 S
ee

ki
ng

 C
ab

in
et

 a
pp

ro
va

l o
f t

he
 H

om
el

es
sn

es
s 

S
tr

at
eg

y.
 

 

131



S
O

C
IA

L 
W

E
LL

-B
E

IN
G

 (
u

p
 t

o
 3

1
st

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

1
1

) 
A

N
N

E
X

 B
 

 

2
 

O
b

je
ct

iv
e 

 
C

o
m

m
e

n
ts

 f
ro

m
 a

p
p

ro
p

ri
a

te
 H

e
a

d
 o

f 
S

e
rv

ic
e

 
R

is
ks

: 
H

o
u

si
n

g
 S

er
vi

ce
s:

 
 A

ct
ua

l 
ac

ce
pt

ed
 h

om
el

es
s 

ca
se

s 
m

ay
 i

nc
re

as
e 

be
yo

nd
 t

he
 a

bi
lit

y 
to

 p
ro

vi
de

 t
em

po
ra

ry
 a

nd
 l

at
er

 p
er

m
an

en
t 

ac
co

m
m

od
at

io
n.

 A
ny

 l
ac

k 
of

 s
ui

ta
bl

e 
pe

rm
an

en
t 

ac
co

m
m

od
at

io
n 

w
ill

 r
es

ul
t 

in
 i

nc
re

as
ed

 u
se

 o
f 

te
m

po
ra

ry
 

ac
co

m
m

od
at

io
n  

du
e 

to
 b

ed
 b

lo
ck

in
g.

 
 A

ll 
no

rm
al

 s
ou

rc
es

 o
f 

te
m

po
ra

ry
 a

cc
om

m
od

at
io

n 
m

ay
 b

ec
om

e 
fu

ll.
 A

dd
iti

on
al

 s
ou

rc
in

g 
ef

fo
rt

s 
m

ay
 n

ot
 p

ro
vi

de
 

su
ffi

ci
en

t  a
cc

om
m

od
at

io
n.

 
 

T
o 

en
ab

le
 th

e 
pr

ov
is

io
n 

of
 a

ffo
rd

ab
le

 h
ou

si
ng

 
A

ch
ie

ve
m

en
ts

: 
H

o
u

si
n

g
 S

er
vi

ce
s:

 
 E

nd
 o

f y
ea

r 
to

ta
l w

as
 3

67
, i

nc
lu

di
ng

 3
1 

ex
tr

a 
ca

re
 u

ni
ts

 a
nd

 3
 in

te
rm

ed
ia

te
 c

ar
e 

un
its

 a
t P

ar
k 

V
ie

w
, H

un
tin

gd
on

. 
T

hi
s 

is
 a

 r
ec

or
d 

nu
m

be
r .

 
 

Is
su

es
 o

r 
ac

tio
ns

 
fo

r 
ne

xt
 q

ua
rt

er
: 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 S
er

vi
ce

s:
 

 A
ss

es
s 

th
e 

ou
tc

om
e 

(if
 a

va
ila

bl
e)

 o
f b

id
s 

fo
r 

gr
an

t f
un

di
ng

 o
f a

ffo
rd

ab
le

 h
ou

si
ng

 to
 th

e 
H

om
es

 a
nd

 C
om

m
un

iti
es

 
A

ge
n c

y.
 

 

R
is

ks
: 

P
la

n
n

in
g

 S
er

vi
ce

s:
 

 A
s 

st
at

ed
 p

re
vi

ou
sl

y 
th

e 
m

os
t 

ob
vi

ou
s 

ris
k 

is
 t

he
 p

ot
en

tia
l 

im
pa

ct
 o

f 
a 

lo
ng

er
 t

ha
n 

ex
pe

ct
ed

 d
ow

nt
ur

n 
in

 t
he

 
ho

us
in

g/
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t 
m

ar
ke

t. 
T

o 
da

te
 H

un
tin

gd
on

sh
ire

 h
as

 r
em

ai
ne

d 
‘c

om
pa

ra
tiv

el
y 

bu
oy

an
t’ 

bu
t 

th
e 

po
te

nt
ia

l 
im

pa
ct

s 
of

 a
ny

 f
ur

th
er

 r
ed

uc
tio

n 
in

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
ac

tiv
ity

 c
ou

ld
 b

e 
up

on
 le

ve
ls

 o
f 

pl
an

ni
ng

 f
ee

 in
co

m
e,

 h
ou

si
ng

 
de

liv
er

y 
an

d 
th

e 
sc

al
e,

 c
on

te
nt

 a
nd

 th
e 

po
te

nt
ia

l v
ia

bi
lit

y 
an

d 
de

liv
er

y 
of

 S
10

6 
co

nt
rib

ut
io

ns
. 

 
 

132



^
åå

Éñ
 ^
 J
 b
Åç

åç
ã
áÅ
 t

Éä
äJ_

Éá
åÖ

 n
ì~

êí
Éê
äó
 o

Éé
çê
í

PN
 j

~ê
ÅÜ

 O
MN

N

`
ç
ã
ã
ì
å
áí
óL
`
ç
ì
å
Åá
ä ^

áã
W 
q
ç
 áã

é
êç

îÉ
 ç
ì
ê 
ëó

ëí
Éã

ë 
~å

Ç
 é
ê~
Åí
áÅ
Éë

l
Ä
àÉ
Åí
áî
ÉW
 b
ÑÑ
ÉÅ

íá
îÉ

 é
~ê
íå
Éê
ëÜ

áé
a
áî
áë
áç
å
W 
m
Éç

é
äÉ
I m

Éê
Ñç
êã

~å
ÅÉ

 C
 m
~ê
íå
Éê
ëÜ

áé
ë

a
áî
áë
áç
å
~ä
 l

Ä
àÉ
Åí
áî
ÉW
 a

Éî
Éä
ç
é
I ~

Ç
ç
é
í 
~å

Ç
 ë
ì
é
é
ç
êí
 í
Ü
É 
Ç
Éä
áî
Éê
ó 
ç
Ñ 
~ 
ëì

ëí
~á
å
~Ä

äÉ
 Å
ç
ã
ã
ì
å
áí
ó 
ëí
ê~
íÉ
Ö
ó 
Ñç
ê 
e
ì
å
íá
å
Ö
Ç
ç
å
ëÜ

áê
É

h
Éó

 ^
Åí
áî
áíó
Eë
F 
çå

äó
 íç

 Ç
Éä
áî
Éê
 ë
Éê
îá
ÅÉ

 ç
Äà
ÉÅ

íáî
ÉW

h
Éó

 j
É~

ëì
êÉ
W

q
~ê
ÖÉ

íW
^
Åí
ì~

äW
c
çê
ÉÅ

~ë
íW

a
çq

GW
`
çã

ã
Éå

íW

b
åë

ìê
É 
~å

 ~
éé

êç
éê
á~
íÉ
 é
Éê
Ñç
êã

~å
ÅÉ

 ã
~å

~Ö
Éã

Éå
í

B
 ç
Ñ í
ÜÉ

ã
~í
áÅ
 Ö
êç
ìé

ë 
êÉ
îá
Éï

áå
Ö 
íÜ
Éá
ê 
éÉ

êÑ
çê
ã
~å

ÅÉ
 ~
åÇ

 Ç
Éä
áî
Éê
ó

NM
M

RM
 E
o
F

>

k
çí
 ~
ää 
íÜ
Éã

~í
áÅ
 Ö
êç
ìé

ë 
Ü~

îÉ
ã
Éí
 áå

 íÜ
É 
ä~
ëí
 é
Éê
áç
ÇK
 q
ÜÉ

 i
p
m

áë
 ì
åÇ

Éê
 ê
Éî

áÉ
ï
K

n
o
q

ëó
ëí
Éã

 Ñç
ê 
íÜ
É 
p
ìë

í~
áå
~Ä

äÉ
 `

çã
ã
ìå

áíó
 p
íê
~í
ÉÖ

ó 
~å

Ç
éê
çî

áÇ
É 
éç

äáÅ
ó 
ëì

éé
çê
í Ñ
çê
 íÜ

áë
 é
êç
ÅÉ

ëë
o
ÉÖ

ìä
~ê
 ê
Éé

çê
íë
 ç
å 
íÜ
É 
éÉ

êÑ
çê
ã
~å

ÅÉ
 ç
Ñ í
ÜÉ

ã
~í
áÅ
 Ö
êç
ìé

ë 
~ê
É 
ëì

Äã
áíí
ÉÇ

 íç
íÜ
É 
e
p
m
 b
ñÉ

Åì
íáî

É 
~å

Ç 
_
ç~

êÇ
 E
NZ

óÉ
ëI
 M
Zå

çF
N

M 
Eo

F
>

k
ç 
ã
ÉÉ

íáå
Öë

 ç
Ñ _

ç~
êÇ
 ~
åÇ

b
ñÉ

Åì
íáî

É 
áå
 ä~

ëí
 è
ì~

êí
Éê
K q

ÜÉ
ip

m
 áë

 ì
åÇ

Éê
 ê
Éî

áÉ
ï
K

n
o
q

a
áî
áë
áç
å
~ä
 l

Ä
àÉ
Åí
áî
ÉW
 b
ÑÑ
ÉÅ

íá
îÉ

 é
~ê
íå
Éê
ëÜ

áé
 Ñ
ê~
ã
Éï

ç
êâ

h
Éó

 ^
Åí
áî
áíó
Eë
F 
çå

äó
 íç

 Ç
Éä
áî
Éê
 ë
Éê
îá
ÅÉ

 ç
Äà
ÉÅ

íáî
ÉW

h
Éó

 j
É~

ëì
êÉ
W

q
~ê
ÖÉ

íW
^
Åí
ì~

äW
c
çê
ÉÅ

~ë
íW

a
çq

GW
`
çã

ã
Éå

íW
a
Éî

Éä
çé

I á
ã
éä
Éã

Éå
í ~

åÇ
 ã

çå
áíç

ê
ëí
ê~
íÉ
Öá
ÅL
çé

Éê
~í
áç
å~

ä é
~ê
íå
Éê
ëÜ

áé
 ê
Éî

áÉ
ï
 é
êç
Öê
~ã

ã
É

m
~ê
íå
Éê
ëÜ

áé
 ê
Éî

áÉ
ï
 é
êç
Öê
~ã

ã
É 
çå

 í~
êÖ
Éí
 E
NZ

óÉ
ëI
 M
Zk

çF
N

N 
Ed

F
?

^
ää 
ëí
ê~
íÉ
Öá
Å 
é~

êí
åÉ

êë
Üá
éë

 Ü
~î

É
ÄÉ

Éå
 ê
Éî

áÉ
ï
ÉÇ

n
o
q

`
ç
ã
ã
ì
å
áí
óL
`
ç
ì
å
Åá
ä ^

áã
W 
q
ç
 äÉ

~ê
å
 ~
å
Ç
 Ç
Éî

Éä
ç
é

l
Ä
àÉ
Åí
áî
ÉW
 q
ç
 Ä
É 
~å

 b
ã
é
äç
óÉ

ê 
m
Éç

é
äÉ
 t

~å
í 
íç
 t

ç
êâ
 c
ç
ê

a
áî
áë
áç
å
W 
m
Éç

é
äÉ
I m

Éê
Ñç
êã

~å
ÅÉ

 C
 m
~ê
íå
Éê
ëÜ

áé
ë

a
áî
áë
áç
å
~ä
 l

Ä
àÉ
Åí
áî
ÉW
 q
ç
 ~
íí
ê~
Åí
 ~
å
Ç
 ê
Éí
~á
å
 ë
í~
ÑÑ

h
Éó

 ^
Åí
áî
áíó
Eë
F 
çå

äó
 íç

 Ç
Éä
áî
Éê
 ë
Éê
îá
ÅÉ

 ç
Äà
ÉÅ

íáî
ÉW

h
Éó

 j
É~

ëì
êÉ
W

q
~ê
ÖÉ

íW
^
Åí
ì~

äW
c
çê
ÉÅ

~ë
íW

a
çq

GW
`
çã

ã
Éå

íW

m
êç
ã
çí
áå
Ö 
Ñê
çã

 ï
áíÜ

áå
 ï
ÜÉ

êÉ
îÉ

ê 
éç

ëë
áÄ
äÉ

få
íÉ
êå
~ä
 é
êç
ã
çí
áç
åë

 ~
ë 
éÉ

êÅ
Éå

í~
ÖÉ

 ç
Ñ ~

ää 
î~

Å~
åÅ

áÉ
ë 
Ñáä
äÉ
Ç

PP
PP

KP
M

Ed
F

>
n
o
q

o
ÉÅ

êì
áíã

Éå
í é

~Å
â~

ÖÉ
B
 ç
Ñ å

Éï
 É
ã
éä
çó

ÉÉ
ë 
ëí
áää
 áå

 é
çë

í ~
ÑíÉ

ê 
NO

 ã
çå

íÜ
ë

VM
UR

KT
M

E^
F

≅
n
o
q

B
 ç
Ñ å

Éï
 É
ã
éä
çó

ÉÉ
ë 
ëí
áää
 áå

 é
çë

í ~
ÑíÉ

ê 
OQ

 ã
çå

íÜ
ë

UM
TV

 E
^
F

≅
n
o
q

o
Éí
~á
åá
åÖ

 ~
åÇ

 ê
Éä
É~

ëá
åÖ

 É
ã
éä
çó

ÉÉ
ë 
~é

éê
çé

êá~
íÉ
äó

p
í~
ÑÑ 
íì
êå
çî

Éê
 >
 B

 ç
Ñ Å

çå
íê
~Å

íÉ
Ç 
Éã

éä
çó

ÉÉ
ë 
äÉ
~î

áå
Ö 
íÜ
É 
`
çì

åÅ
áä

NM
SK
PR Ed
F

?

iÉ
~î

Éê
ë 
áå
Åä
ìÇ

É 
Ñáñ

ÉÇ
 íÉ

êã
Éã

éä
çó

ÉÉ
ë 
çå

 Å
çå

íê
~Å

íë
 íÜ

~í
Ü~

îÉ
 É
åÇ

ÉÇ
 ~
åÇ

 É
ã
éä
çó

ÉÉ
ë

äÉ
~î

áå
Ö 
ìå

ÇÉ
ê 
s
o
p

n
o
q

p
ìÅ

ÅÉ
ëë
Ñì
ä ï

Éä
äÄ
Éá
åÖ

 áå
áíá
~í
áî
Éë

 ï
Üá
ÅÜ

 ~
êÉ
 áã

éê
çî

áå
Ö

~í
íÉ
åÇ

~å
ÅÉ

 ê
~í
Éë

B
 ~
ííÉ

åÇ
~å

ÅÉ
 ç
Ñ e

a
`
 É
ã
éä
çó

ÉÉ
ë 
~ 
êç
ääá
åÖ

 N
O 
ã
çå

íÜ
 ~
îÉ

ê~
ÖÉ

K  
q
~ê
ÖÉ

í
Ä~

ëÉ
Ç 
çå

 `
fm
a
 Ñç

ê 
éì

Ää
áÅ
 ë
ÉÅ

íç
ê 
Éã

éä
çó

ÉÉ
ëK

VS
VT

KP
V

Ed
F

>
n
o
q

G 
a
áêÉ

Åí
áç
å 
çÑ
 q
ê~
îÉ

ä J
 ë
Üç

ï
ë 
ÅÜ

~å
ÖÉ

 áå
 é
Éê
Ñç
êã

~å
ÅÉ

 ë
áå
ÅÉ

 ä~
ëí
 è
ì~

êí
Éê
I ï

ÜÉ
êÉ
 ~
éé

äáÅ
~Ä

äÉ
N

133



^
åå

Éñ
 ^
 J
 b
Åç

åç
ã
áÅ
 t

Éä
äJ_

Éá
åÖ

 n
ì~

êí
Éê
äó
 o

Éé
çê
í

PN
 j

~ê
ÅÜ

 O
MN

N

`
ç
ã
ã
ì
å
áí
óL
`
ç
ì
å
Åá
ä ^

áã
W 
q
ç
 ã

~á
å
í~
áå
 ë
ç
ì
å
Ç
 Ñ
áå
~å

ÅÉ
ë

l
Ä
àÉ
Åí
áî
ÉW
 j

~ñ
áã

áë
É 
Ä
ì
ëá
å
Éë

ë 
~å

Ç
 áå

Åç
ã
É 
ç
é
é
ç
êí
ì
å
áí
áÉ
ë 
áå
Åä
ì
Ç
áå
Ö
 É
ñí
Éê
å
~ä
 Ñ
ì
å
Ç
áå
Ö
 ~
å
Ç
 Ö
ê~
å
íë

a
áî
áë
áç
å
W 
i
Éá
ëì

êÉ
a
áî
áë
áç
å
~ä
 l

Ä
àÉ
Åí
áî
ÉW
 j

áå
áã

áë
É 
å
Éí
 Å
ç
ëí
 ç
Ñ 
äÉ
áë
ì
êÉ
 Å
Éå

íê
Éë

h
Éó

 ^
Åí
áî
áíó
Eë
F 
çå

äó
 íç

 Ç
Éä
áî
Éê
 ë
Éê
îá
ÅÉ

 ç
Äà
ÉÅ

íáî
ÉW

h
Éó

 j
É~

ëì
êÉ
W

q
~ê
ÖÉ

íW
^
Åí
ì~

äW
c
çê
ÉÅ

~ë
íW

a
çq

GW
`
çã

ã
Éå

íW

j
áå
áã

áë
É 
åÉ

í Å
çë

í ç
Ñ ä
Éá
ëì

êÉ
 Å
Éå

íê
Éë

k
Éí
 Å
çë

í ç
Ñ ä
Éá
ëì

êÉ
 Å
Éå

íê
Éë

 Å
çã

é~
êÉ
Ç 
íç
 Ä
ìÇ

ÖÉ
í E
Åì

ã
ìä
~í
áî
É 
èì

~ê
íÉ
êäó

í~
êÖ
Éí
F

?
RK
QS

ã
?
RK
US

ã
Ed

F
?

p
íê
çå

Ö 
éÉ

êÑ
çê
ã
~å

ÅÉ
 ~
í p

í
k
Éç

íë
 Ñç

ääç
ï
áå
Ö 
êÉ
ÇÉ

îÉ
äç
éã

Éå
í
n
o
q

a
áî
áë
áç
å
W 
m
Éç

é
äÉ
I m

Éê
Ñç
êã

~å
ÅÉ

 C
 m
~ê
íå
Éê
ëÜ

áé
ë

a
áî
áë
áç
å
~ä
 l

Ä
àÉ
Åí
áî
ÉW
 q
ç
 Ä
É 
~ï

~ê
É 
ç
Ñ 
~é

é
êç

é
êá
~í
É 
Ñì
å
Ç
áå
Ö
 ç
é
é
ç
êí
ì
å
áí
áÉ
ë 
~å

Ç
 Å
ç
ã
ã
ì
å
áÅ
~í
É 
íç
 í
Ü
É 
~é

é
êç

é
êá
~í
É 
ëÉ

êî
áÅ
É

h
Éó

 ^
Åí
áî
áíó
Eë
F 
çå

äó
 íç

 Ç
Éä
áî
Éê
 ë
Éê
îá
ÅÉ

 ç
Äà
ÉÅ

íáî
ÉW

h
Éó

 j
É~

ëì
êÉ
W

q
~ê
ÖÉ

íW
^
Åí
ì~

äW
c
çê
ÉÅ

~ë
íW

a
çq

GW
`
çã

ã
Éå

íW
B
 ç
Ñ Ä

áÇ
ë 
ï
Üá
ÅÜ

 ~
ííê
~Å

í Ñ
ìå

Çá
åÖ

 E
óÉ

~ê
 íç

 Ç
~í
ÉF

TM
κ
Λ⊥

a
~í
~ 
åç

í ~
î~

áä~
Ää
É 
~í
 íÜ

áë
 íá
ã
É

n
o
q

`
ç 
çê
Çá
å~

íÉ
 ~
åÇ

 ã
~á
åí
~á
å 
~ 
ëó
ëí
Éã

 ç
Ñ á
åí
Éê
å~

ä Å
çå

íê
çä

îá
~ 
b
ñí
Éê
å~

ä c
ìå

Çá
åÖ

 ë
íê
~í
ÉÖ

óI
 äá
~á
ëÉ

 ï
áíÜ

 ~
éé

êç
éê
á~
íÉ

çÑ
ÑáÅ

Éê
ëI
 é
êç
îá
ÇÉ

 Ñì
åÇ

áå
Ö 
~Ç

îá
ÅÉ

 ~
åÇ

 ~
ëë
áë
í~
åÅ

É 
áå

Åç
ã
éá
ä~
íáç

å 
çÑ
 Ä
áÇ
ë 
~ë

 ê
Éè

ìá
êÉ
Ç

B
 ç
Ñ b

ñí
Éê
å~

ä c
ìå

Çá
åÖ

 ~
Åí
áç
åë

 ç
å 
íê
~Å

â
VM

UR
 E
^
F

≅

N 
~Å

íáç
å 
åç

í ç
å 
íê
~Å

âW
íç
 áÇ

Éå
íáÑ
ó 
Ñì
åÇ

áå
Ö 
Ö~

éë
 ~
åÇ

çé
éç

êí
ìå

áíá
Éë

 íç
 Ñì

êí
ÜÉ

ê 
íÜ
É

çÄ
àÉ
Åí
áî
Éë

 ç
Ñ í
ÜÉ

 p
ìë

í~
áå
~Ä

äÉ
`
çã

ã
ìå

áíó
 p
íê
~í
ÉÖ

ó 
J 
çå

 Ü
çä
Ç

éÉ
åÇ

áå
Ö 
~ 
êÉ
îá
Éï

 ç
Ñ í
ÜÉ

 Ñì
íì
êÉ

çÑ
 íÜ

áë
 ï
çê
âK

n
o
q

G 
a
áêÉ

Åí
áç
å 
çÑ
 q
ê~
îÉ

ä J
 ë
Üç

ï
ë 
ÅÜ

~å
ÖÉ

 áå
 é
Éê
Ñç
êã

~å
ÅÉ

 ë
áå
ÅÉ

 ä~
ëí
 è
ì~

êí
Éê
I ï

ÜÉ
êÉ
 ~
éé

äáÅ
~Ä

äÉ
O

134



E
C

O
N

O
M

IC
 W

E
LL

-B
E

IN
G

 (
u

p
 t

o
 3

1
st

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

1
1

) 
A

N
N

E
X

 B
 

 

1
 

O
b

je
ct

iv
e 

 
C

o
m

m
e

n
ts

 f
ro

m
 a

p
p

ro
p

ri
a

te
 H

e
a

d
 o

f 
S

e
rv

ic
e

 
T

o 
en

ab
le

 e
ffe

ct
iv

e 
pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

ps
 

A
ch

ie
ve

m
en

ts
: 

 
Is

su
es

 o
r 

ac
tio

ns
 

fo
r 

ne
xt

 q
ua

rt
er

: 
P

eo
p

le
, P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 &

 P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

s:
 

 R
ev

ie
w

 o
f 

th
e 

H
un

tin
gd

on
sh

ire
 S

tr
at

eg
ic

 P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 is
 b

ei
ng

 u
nd

er
ta

ke
n 

to
 c

on
si

de
r 

its
 a

dd
ed

 v
al

ue
 in

 h
el

pi
ng

 
th

e 
C

ou
nc

il  
an

d 
ou

r 
P

ar
tn

er
s 

ta
ke

 fo
rw

ar
d 

pr
io

rit
ie

s 
an

d 
ad

dr
es

s 
cu

rr
en

t c
ha

lle
ng

es
. 

 

R
is

ks
: 

 

T
o 

be
 a

n 
em

pl
oy

er
 

pe
op

le
 w

an
t t

o 
w

or
k 

fo
r 

A
ch

ie
ve

m
en

ts
: 

P
eo

p
le

, P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 &
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
s:

 
 V

ol
un

ta
ry

 R
el

ea
se

 S
ch

em
e 

(V
R

S
) 

w
as

 s
uc

ce
ss

fu
l w

ith
 8

0 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 r

ec
ei

ve
d,

 5
7 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
ns

 a
pp

ro
ve

d 
an

d 
in

di
ca

tiv
e 

sa
la

ry
 s

av
in

gs
 o

f a
ro

un
d 

£1
.7

m
ill

io
n 

pe
r 

ye
ar

. M
os

t s
ta

ff 
le

av
in

g 
un

de
r 

th
e 

V
R

S
 h

ad
 a

 r
el

ea
se

 d
at

e 
of

 
M

ar
ch

 2
01

1  
an

d 
a 

re
tir

em
en

t/l
on

g 
se

rv
ic

e 
ce

re
m

on
y 

w
as

 h
os

te
d 

to
 m

ar
k 

a 
to

ta
l o

f 2
21

 y
ea

rs
 o

f s
er

vi
ce

. 
 S

tr
uc

tu
re

 c
ha

rt
s 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
up

da
te

d 
fo

r 
th

e 
w

ho
le

 o
rg

an
is

at
io

n 
an

d 
po

st
ed

 o
n 

th
e 

in
tr

an
et

. 
 

Is
su

es
 o

r 
ac

tio
ns

 
fo

r 
ne

xt
 q

ua
rt

er
: 

P
eo

p
le

, P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 &
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
s:

 
 C

on
su

lta
tio

ns
 h

av
e 

co
m

m
en

ce
d 

in
 th

re
e 

di
vi

si
on

s 
w

he
re

 p
os

ts
 m

ay
 b

e 
at

 r
is

k,
 s

up
po

rt
ed

 b
y 

H
R

. 
 R

ec
ru

itm
en

t i
s 

pi
ck

in
g 

up
 a

ga
in

 a
s 

st
af

f r
et

ire
 a

nd
 1

3 
em

pl
oy

ee
s 

ar
e 

du
e 

to
 g

o 
on

 M
at

er
ni

ty
 L

ea
ve

. 
 

R
is

ks
: 

 

T
o 

m
ax

im
is

e 
bu

si
ne

ss
 

an
d 

in
co

m
e 

op
po

rt
un

iti
es

 
in

cl
ud

in
g 

ex
te

nd
ed

 
fu

nd
in

g 
an

d 
gr

an
ts

 

A
ch

ie
ve

m
en

ts
: 

L
ei

su
re

 C
en

tr
es

: 
 A

ll 
en

d 
of

 y
ea

r 
da

ta
 is

 y
et

 t
o 

be
 f

in
al

is
ed

 b
ut

 t
he

 c
ur

re
nt

 p
os

iti
on

 is
 v

er
y 

en
co

ur
ag

in
g.

 I
nc

om
e 

ac
hi

ev
ed

 t
ar

ge
t 

de
sp

ite
 t

he
 l

at
e 

op
en

in
g 

at
 S

t 
N

eo
ts

 a
nd

 t
ot

al
 e

xp
en

di
tu

re
 r

os
e 

by
 j

us
t 

0.
3%

 o
ve

r 
th

e 
ye

ar
. 

N
et

 p
os

iti
on

 
cu

rr
en

tly
 s

ta
nd

s 
at

 £
77

3k
 o

n 
an

 o
rig

in
al

 b
ud

ge
t o

f £
1,

35
6k

. 
 T

he
 s

uc
ce

ss
 i

n 
ad

m
is

si
on

s 
at

 S
t 

N
eo

ts
 w

as
 m

at
ch

ed
 b

y 
its

 f
in

an
ci

al
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 a

nd
 t

he
 c

en
tr

e 
ge

ne
ra

te
d 

ov
er

 £
36

0k
 m

or
e 

th
an

 t
he

 p
re

vi
ou

s 
ye

ar
 (

m
os

t 
of

 w
hi

ch
 c

am
e 

in
 p

os
t-

O
ct

ob
er

 o
pe

ni
ng

 p
er

io
d)

. 
Im

pr
es

si
on

s 
in

co
m

e 
at

 S
t 

N
eo

ts
 a

ve
ra

ge
d 

£2
3.

9k
 p

er
 m

on
th

 in
 2

00
9/

10
 a

nd
 c

ur
re

nt
ly

 a
ve

ra
ge

s 
£3

7.
3k

 w
ith

 t
he

 e
xp

ec
ta

tio
n 

th
at

 t
hi

s 
w

ill
 r

is
e 

in
 t

he
 f

irs
t 

fu
ll 

ye
ar

 t
o 

a 
£5

0k
 p

cm
 a

ve
ra

ge
. 

In
 t

he
 f

in
al

 3
 m

on
th

s 
of

 t
he

 y
ea

r 
th

e 
ce

nt
re

 t
oo

k 
£4

68
k 

co
m

pa
re

d 
w

ith
 £

26
1k

 in
 th

e 
pr

ev
io

us
 y

ea
r.

 
 A

t 
S

t 
Iv

es
, 

in
co

m
e 

in
cr

ea
se

d 
by

 
£7

0k
 

an
d 

ex
pe

nd
itu

re
 

de
cr

ea
se

d 
by

 
£1

05
k,

 
cu

lm
in

at
in

g 
in

 
a 

£1
76

k 
im

pr
ov

em
en

t. 
S

ta
ff 

vo
lu

nt
ar

y 
re

du
nd

an
ci

es
, w

hi
ch

 ta
ke

 e
ffe

ct
 d

ur
in

g 
20

11
/1

2,
 w

ill
 a

ss
is

t i
n 

fu
rt

he
r 

im
pr

ov
in

g 
th

is
 

pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

. T
he

 o
th

er
 3

 c
en

tr
es

 a
ll 

ex
pe

rie
nc

e d
 in

co
m

e 
gr

ow
th

 (
H

un
tin

gd
on

 b
y 

ov
er

 £
10

0k
).

 
 Im

pr
es

si
on

s 
in

co
m

e 
re

ac
he

d 
a 

ne
w

 h
ig

h 
of

 £
1.

95
m

ill
io

n,
 a

 g
ro

w
th

 o
f 

£2
35

k 
(1

4%
) 

an
d 

a 
pr

of
it 

of
 £

1.
2m

ill
io

n.
 

S
ch

oo
ls

 in
co

m
e 

re
ac

he
d 

£5
52

k 
(a

n 
in

cr
ea

se
 o

f 
£1

7k
) 

al
th

ou
gh

 b
ud

ge
ta

ry
 p

re
ss

ur
es

 m
ak

e 
th

is
 le

ve
l 

un
lik

el
y 

to
 

be
 m

ai
nt

ai
ne

d 
in

 t
he

 c
om

in
g 

ye
ar

. 
A

ll 
ce

nt
re

s 
be

ne
fit

te
d 

fr
om

 a
n 

N
N

D
R

 r
ev

al
ua

tio
n 

w
ith

 a
pp

ro
xi

m
at

el
y 

£1
40

k 
be

in
g 

re
im

bu
rs

ed
 a

s 
an

 o
ve

r-
pa

ym
en

t o
n 

pr
ev

io
us

 y
ea

rs
. 

 S
ta

ff 
ex

pe
nd

itu
re

 d
ec

re
as

ed
 b

y 
ov

er
 £

12
2k

 a
cr

os
s 

th
e 

si
te

s 
co

m
pa

re
d 

to
 p

re
vi

ou
s 

ye
ar

, 
te

st
im

on
y 

to
 a

 g
en

er
al

 
tig

ht
en

in
g 

up
 o

f 
ro

ta
s 

an
d 

al
l 

st
af

f 
ta

ki
ng

 o
n 

ad
di

tio
na

l 
op

er
at

io
na

l 
re

sp
on

si
bi

lit
ie

s.
 1

2 
st

af
f 

to
ok

 v
ol

un
ta

ry
 

re
du

nd
an

cy
 a

nd
 w

ill
 le

av
e 

be
tw

ee
n 

M
ar

ch
 a

nd
 A

ug
us

t. 
 

135



E
C

O
N

O
M

IC
 W

E
LL

-B
E

IN
G

 (
u

p
 t

o
 3

1
st

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

1
1

) 
A

N
N

E
X

 B
 

 

2
 

O
b

je
ct

iv
e 

 
C

o
m

m
e

n
ts

 f
ro

m
 a

p
p

ro
p

ri
a

te
 H

e
a

d
 o

f 
S

e
rv

ic
e

 
P

eo
p

le
, P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 &

 P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

s:
 

 E
xt

er
na

l f
un

di
ng

 s
ec

ur
ed

 u
nt

il 
D

ec
em

be
r 

20
11

 fo
r 

'M
a

k
e

 it
 Y

o
u
r 

M
a
rk

e
t’ 

in
it
ia

ti
v
e

. 
 

Is
su

es
 o

r 
ac

tio
ns

 
fo

r 
ne

xt
 q

ua
rt

er
: 

L
ei

su
re

 C
en

tr
es

: 
 D

ev
el

op
in

g 
bu

si
ne

ss
 c

as
e 

fo
r 

in
ve

st
m

en
t a

lo
ng

si
de

 in
no

va
tiv

e 
re

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t a

t S
t I

ve
s.

 
 P

eo
p

le
, P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 &

 P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

s:
 

 W
or

ki
ng

 c
lo

se
ly

 w
ith

 C
am

br
id

ge
sh

ire
 B

ro
ad

ba
nd

 T
og

et
he

r 
on

 a
 C

ou
nt

y-
le

d 
(L

E
P

 e
nd

or
se

d)
 a

pp
lic

at
io

n 
fo

r 
B

D
U

K
 (

B
ro

ad
ba

nd
 D

el
iv

er
y 

U
K

) 
fu

nd
in

g.
 

 

R
is

ks
: 

P
eo

p
le

, P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 &
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
s:

 
 Li

m
ite

d 
ca

pa
ci

ty
 t

o 
pr

ov
id

e 
ex

te
rn

al
 f

un
di

ng
 a

dv
ic

e 
in

 t
he

 s
ho

rt
 t

er
m

 f
ol

lo
w

in
g 

re
ce

nt
 s

ta
ffi

ng
 r

ed
uc

tio
ns

 i
n 

P
ol

ic
y.

 
 

  

136



^
åå

Éñ
 ^
 J
 b
åî

áêç
åã

Éå
í~
ä t

Éä
äJ_

Éá
åÖ

 n
ì~

êí
Éê
äó
 o

Éé
çê
í

PN
 j

~ê
ÅÜ

 O
MN

N

`
ç
ã
ã
ì
å
áí
óL
`
ç
ì
å
Åá
ä ^

áã
W 

 ̂`
äÉ
~å

I d
êÉ
Éå

 ~
å
Ç
 ^
íí
ê~
Åí
áî
É 
m
ä~
ÅÉ

l
Ä
àÉ
Åí
áî
ÉW
 q
ç
 Ü
Éä
é
 ã

áí
áÖ
~í
É 
~å

Ç
 ~
Ç
~é

í 
íç
 Å
äáã

~í
É 
ÅÜ

~å
Ö
É

a
áî
áë
áç
å
W 
b
å
îá
êç

å
ã
Éå

í~
ä j

~å
~Ö

Éã
Éå

í
a
áî
áë
áç
å
~ä
 l

Ä
àÉ
Åí
áî
ÉW
 ^
Ç
~é

íá
å
Ö
 í
ç
 Å
äáã

~í
É 
ÅÜ

~å
Ö
É

h
Éó

 ^
Åí
áî
áíó
Eë
F 
çå

äó
 íç

 Ç
Éä
áî
Éê
 ë
Éê
îá
ÅÉ

 ç
Äà
ÉÅ

íáî
ÉW

h
Éó

 j
É~

ëì
êÉ
W

q
~ê
ÖÉ

íW
^
Åí
ì~

äW
c
çê
ÉÅ

~ë
íW

a
çq

GW
`
çã

ã
Éå

íW
t
É 
ï
áää
 ì
åÇ

Éê
í~
âÉ

W ê
áë
â 
Ä~

ëÉ
Ç 
~ë

ëÉ
ëë

ã
Éå

í ç
Ñ

îì
äå
Éê
~Ä

áäá
íáÉ

ë 
íç
 ï
É~

íÜ
Éê
 ~
åÇ

 Å
äáã

~í
ÉI
 áÇ

Éå
íáÑ
ó 
éê
áç
êáí
ó

êáë
âë

 Ñç
ê 
ëÉ

êî
áÅ
Éë

 C
 É
ÑÑÉ

Åí
áî
É 
~Ç

~é
íáî
É 
êÉ
ëé

çå
ëÉ

ëI
áå
Åç

êé
çê
~í
É 
êÉ
ëé

çå
ëÉ

ë 
áå
íç
 Å
çì

åÅ
áä 
ëí
ê~
íÉ
Öá
Éë

 ~
åÇ

çé
Éê
~í
áç
åë

^
êÉ
 ï
É 
çå

 í~
êÖ
Éí
 íç

 ~
ÅÜ

áÉ
îÉ

 äÉ
îÉ

ä O
 Ä
ó 
j
~ê
ÅÜ

 O
MN

N\
 E
NZ

v
Éë

I M
 Z
 k

çF
N

N 
Ed

F
>

n
o
q

a
áî
áë
áç
å
~ä
 l

Ä
àÉ
Åí
áî
ÉW
 få

Åê
É~

ëÉ
 É
å
Éê
Ö
ó 
ÉÑ
Ñá
Åá
Éå

Åó
 C

 É
å
Åç

ì
ê~
Ö
É 
êÉ
å
Éï

~Ä
äÉ
 É
å
Éê
Ö
ó

h
Éó

 ^
Åí
áî
áíó
Eë
F 
çå

äó
 íç

 Ç
Éä
áî
Éê
 ë
Éê
îá
ÅÉ

 ç
Äà
ÉÅ

íáî
ÉW

h
Éó

 j
É~

ëì
êÉ
W

q
~ê
ÖÉ

íW
^
Åí
ì~

äW
c
çê
ÉÅ

~ë
íW

a
çq

GW
`
çã

ã
Éå

íW
p
ÅÜ

Éã
Éë

 ~
åÇ

 é
êç
ã
çí
áç
åë

 áå
Åä
ìÇ

ÉI
 b
~ë

íÉ
êå
 `

o
fI

^
åÖ

äá~
å 
d
ç 
t
~ê
ã
I m

e
fp
 ~
åÇ

 `
l
Ov

 e
çã

Éë
k
ìã

ÄÉ
ê 
çÑ
 É
åÉ

êÖ
ó 
ÉÑ
ÑáÅ

áÉ
åÅ

ó 
~å

Ç 
êÉ
åÉ

ï
~Ä

äÉ
 É
åÉ

êÖ
ó 
ã
É~

ëì
êÉ
ë 
Å~

êê
áÉ
Ç 
çì

í
~ë

 ~
 ê
Éë

ìä
í ç

Ñ e
a
`
 ë
ÅÜ

Éã
Éë

 ~
åÇ

 é
êç
ã
çí
áç
åë

I Å
ìã

ìä
~í
áî
É 
èê
í í
~ê
ÖÉ

í
NT

M
OO

N 
Ed

F
>

n
o
q

a
áî
áë
áç
å
W 
m
ä~
å
å
áå
Ö

a
áî
áë
áç
å
~ä
 l

Ä
àÉ
Åí
áî
ÉW
 q
ç
 É
å
Åç

ì
ê~
Ö
É 
ëì

ëí
~á
å
~Ä

äÉ
 Ñ
ç
êã

ë 
ç
Ñ 
Ç
Éî

Éä
ç
é
ã
Éå

í
h
Éó

 ^
Åí
áî
áíó
Eë
F 
çå

äó
 íç

 Ç
Éä
áî
Éê
 ë
Éê
îá
ÅÉ

 ç
Äà
ÉÅ

íáî
ÉW

h
Éó

 j
É~

ëì
êÉ
W

q
~ê
ÖÉ

íW
^
Åí
ì~

äW
c
çê
ÉÅ

~ë
íW

a
çq

GW
`
çã

ã
Éå

íW
a
Éä
áî
Éê
 ë
ìë

í~
áå
~Ä

äÉ
 é
çä
áÅ
ó 
áå
 ~
ÅÅ

çê
Ç 
ï
áíÜ

 i
çÅ

~ä
a
Éî

Éä
çé

ã
Éå

í p
ÅÜ

Éã
É 
OM

NM
K  
a
Éî

Éä
çé

ã
Éå

í
ã
~å

~Ö
Éã

Éå
í a

m
a
 g
ìä
ó 
OM

NN
K m

ä~
åå

áå
Ö 
m
êç
éç

ë~
äë

a
m
a
 a

ÉÅ
 O
MN

OK
 e

ìå
íáå

ÖÇ
çå

 t
Éë

í ^
^
m
 g
~å

 O
MN

NK
d
óé

ëó
 ~
åÇ

 q
ê~
îÉ

ääÉ
ê 
p
áíÉ

ë 
a
m
a
 ^
éê
áä 
OM

NP
K p

í k
Éç

íë
q
çï

å 
`
Éå

íê
É 
a
m
a
 g
ìå

É 
OM

NP
K

fë
 ~
Çç

éí
áç
å 
çÑ
 a

m
a
 Ç
çÅ

ìã
Éå

íë
 Å
çå

ëá
ëí
Éå

í ï
áíÜ

 íÜ
É 
~é

éê
çî

ÉÇ
 i
çÅ

~ä
a
Éî

Éä
çé

ã
Éå

í p
ÅÜ

Éã
É\

 E
NZ

v
Éë

I M
Zk

çF
N

N 
Ed

F
>

n
o
q

`
ç
ã
ã
ì
å
áí
óL
`
ç
ì
å
Åá
ä ^

áã
W 
a
Éî

Éä
ç
é
áå
Ö
 Å
ç
ã
ã
ì
å
áí
áÉ
ë 
ëì

ëí
~á
å
~Ä

äó

l
Ä
àÉ
Åí
áî
ÉW
 q
ç
 é
êç

ã
ç
íÉ
 Ç
Éî

Éä
ç
é
ã
Éå

í 
ç
é
é
ç
êí
ì
å
áí
áÉ
ë 
áå
 ~
å
Ç
 ~
êç

ì
å
Ç
 í
Ü
É 
ã
~ê
âÉ

í 
íç
ï
å
ë

a
áî
áë
áç
å
W 
m
Éç

é
äÉ
I m

Éê
Ñç
êã

~å
ÅÉ

 C
 m
~ê
íå
Éê
ëÜ

áé
ë

a
áî
áë
áç
å
~ä
 l

Ä
àÉ
Åí
áî
ÉW
 q
ç
 é
êç

ã
ç
íÉ
 Ç
Éî

Éä
ç
é
ã
Éå

í 
ç
é
é
ç
êí
ì
å
áí
áÉ
ë 
áå
 ~
å
Ç
 ~
êç

ì
å
Ç
 í
Ü
É 
ã
~ê
âÉ

í 
íç
ï
å
ë

h
Éó

 ^
Åí
áî
áíó
Eë
F 
çå

äó
 íç

 Ç
Éä
áî
Éê
 ë
Éê
îá
ÅÉ

 ç
Äà
ÉÅ

íáî
ÉW

h
Éó

 j
É~

ëì
êÉ
W

q
~ê
ÖÉ

íW
^
Åí
ì~

äW
c
çê
ÉÅ

~ë
íW

a
çq

GW
`
çã

ã
Éå

íW
a
Éä
áî
Éê
 i
b
p
 m
Üó

ëá
Å~

ä f
åÑ
ê~
ëí
êì
Åí
ìê
É 
a
Éî

Éä
çé

ã
Éå

í
~Å

íáî
áíá
Éë

 áå
 íÜ

É 
p
ìë

í~
áå
~Ä

äÉ
 b
Åç

åç
ã
áÅ
 a

Éî
Éä
çé

ã
Éå

í
ëÉ

êî
áÅ
É 
éä
~å

B
 ç
Ñ m

Üó
ëá
Å~

ä f
åÑ
ê~
ëí
êì
Åí
ìê
É 
a
Éî

Éä
çé

ã
Éå

í ~
Åí
áî
áíá
Éë

 ç
å 
íê
~Å

â
VM

UM
 E
o
F

?

o
~ã

ëÉ
ó 
b
åí
Éê
éê
áë
É 
`
Éå

íê
É 
ëí
áää

áå
 å
ÉÉ

Ç 
çÑ
 Ñì

åÇ
áå
Ö 
ÄÉ

Ñç
êÉ

Äì
áäÇ

áå
Ö 
Å~

å 
ÄÉ

 ë
í~
êí
ÉÇ

K
n
o
q

G 
a
áêÉ

Åí
áç
å 
çÑ
 q
ê~
îÉ

ä J
 ë
Üç

ï
ë 
ÅÜ

~å
ÖÉ

 áå
 é
Éê
Ñç
êã

~å
ÅÉ

 ë
áå
ÅÉ

 ä~
ëí
 è
ì~

êí
Éê
I ï

ÜÉ
êÉ
 ~
éé

äáÅ
~Ä

äÉ
N

137



^
åå

Éñ
 ^
 J
 b
åî

áêç
åã

Éå
í~
ä t

Éä
äJ_

Éá
åÖ

 n
ì~

êí
Éê
äó
 o

Éé
çê
í

PN
 j

~ê
ÅÜ

 O
MN

N

a
áî
áë
áç
å
W 
m
ä~
å
å
áå
Ö

a
áî
áë
áç
å
~ä
 l

Ä
àÉ
Åí
áî
ÉW
 q
ç
 é
êç

ã
ç
íÉ
 Ç
Éî

Éä
ç
é
ã
Éå

í 
ç
é
é
ç
êí
ì
å
áí
áÉ
ë 
áå
 ~
å
Ç
 ~
êç

ì
å
Ç
 í
Ü
É 
ã
~ê
âÉ

í 
íç
ï
å
ë

h
Éó

 ^
Åí
áî
áíó
Eë
F 
çå

äó
 íç

 Ç
Éä
áî
Éê
 ë
Éê
îá
ÅÉ

 ç
Äà
ÉÅ

íáî
ÉW

h
Éó

 j
É~

ëì
êÉ
W

q
~ê
ÖÉ

íW
^
Åí
ì~

äW
c
çê
ÉÅ

~ë
íW

a
çq

GW
`
çã

ã
Éå

íW
q
ç 
éê
çã

çí
É 
ÇÉ

îÉ
äç
éã

Éå
í ç

éé
çê
íì
åá
íáÉ

ë 
áå
 ~
åÇ

~ê
çì

åÇ
 j

~ê
âÉ

í q
çï

åë
 Ä
ó 
~ä
äç
Å~

íáå
Ö 
ä~
åÇ

 áå
~Å

Åç
êÇ
~å

ÅÉ
 ï
áíÜ

 íÜ
É 
Çá
êÉ
Åí
áç
å 
çÑ
 Ö
êç
ï
íÜ
I Ç

Éí
Éê
ã
áå
áå
Ö

fë
 ~
Çç

éí
áç
å 
çÑ
 a

m
a
 Ç
çÅ

ìã
Éå

íë
 Å
çå

ëá
ëí
Éå

í ï
áíÜ

 íÜ
É 
~é

éê
çî

ÉÇ
 i
çÅ

~ä
a
Éî

Éä
çé

ã
Éå

í p
ÅÜ

Éã
É\

 E
NZ

v
Éë

I M
Zk

çF
N

N 
Ed

F
>

n
o
q

éä
~å

åá
åÖ

 ~
éé

äáÅ
~í
áç
åë

 áå
 ~
 íá
ã
Éä
ó 
Ñ~
ëÜ

áç
å 
~å

Ç 
Äá
ÇÇ

áå
Ö

Ñç
ê 
Ñì
åÇ

áå
Ö 
íç
 É
å~

Ää
É 
ÇÉ

îÉ
äç
éã

Éå
í

p
ìÅ

ÅÉ
ëë
Ñì
ä Ç

Éä
áî
Éê
ó 
çÑ
  ~

Öê
ÉÉ

Ç 
ëé

Éå
Çá
åÖ

 é
ä~
å 
çÑ
 Ü
çì

ëá
åÖ

 Ö
êç
ï
íÜ
 Ñì

åÇ
\

EN
Zv

Éë
I M

Zk
çF

N
κ
Λ⊥

^
åå

ì~
ä ã

É~
ëì

êÉ
I Ç

~í
~ 
íç
 Ñç

ääç
ï

v
o
i

G 
a
áêÉ

Åí
áç
å 
çÑ
 q
ê~
îÉ

ä J
 ë
Üç

ï
ë 
ÅÜ

~å
ÖÉ

 áå
 é
Éê
Ñç
êã

~å
ÅÉ

 ë
áå
ÅÉ

 ä~
ëí
 è
ì~

êí
Éê
I ï

ÜÉ
êÉ
 ~
éé

äáÅ
~Ä

äÉ
O

138



E
N

V
IR

O
N

M
E

N
T

A
L 

W
E

LL
-B

E
IN

G
 (

u
p

 t
o

 3
1

st
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
1

1
) 

A
N

N
E

X
 B

 
 

1
 

O
b

je
ct

iv
e 

 
C

o
m

m
e

n
ts

 f
ro

m
 a

p
p

ro
p

ri
a

te
 H

e
a

d
 o

f 
S

e
rv

ic
e

 
T

o 
he

lp
 to

 m
iti

ga
te

 a
nd

 
ad

ap
t t

o 
cl

im
at

e 
ch

an
ge

 
A

ch
ie

ve
m

en
ts

: 
E

n
vi

ro
n

m
en

ta
l M

an
ag

em
en

t:
 

 A
lc

on
bu

ry
 fl

oo
d 

re
si

lie
nc

e 
m

ea
su

re
s 

ov
er

 5
0%

 c
om

pl
et

ed
. 

 E
ne

rg
y 

us
e 

re
du

ct
io

n 
tr

ia
l o

ng
oi

ng
 in

 2
 H

D
C

 c
ar

 p
ar

ks
. 

 W
or

k 
be

gu
n 

at
 t

he
 S

t 
Iv

o 
ou

td
oo

r 
ce

nt
re

 in
cl

ud
es

 a
 s

m
al

l s
ca

le
 P

V
 in

st
al

la
tio

n 
bu

t 
la

rg
el

y 
fo

cu
se

s 
on

 p
ro

vi
si

on
 

of
 p

itc
he

s,
 c

ha
ng

in
g 

ro
om

s ,
 e

tc
…

 
 

Is
su

es
 o

r 
ac

tio
ns

 
fo

r 
ne

xt
 q

ua
rt

er
: 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l M
an

ag
em

en
t:

 
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t o

f L
ow

 C
ar

bo
n 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t I
ni

tia
tiv

e 
(L

C
D

I)
 fo

r 
S

t N
eo

ts
. 

 R
ef

oc
us

in
g 

of
 p

rio
rit

ie
s 

to
 d

el
iv

er
 c

rit
ic

al
 b

us
in

es
s 

ne
ed

s 
an

d 
th

e 
lo

w
 c

ar
bo

n 
ag

en
da

. 
 

R
is

ks
: 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l M
an

ag
em

en
t:

 
 Lo

ss
 o

f 
m

om
en

tu
m

 o
f 

pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

pr
oj

ec
ts

 a
nd

 s
tr

at
eg

ic
 d

ire
ct

io
n 

fo
r 

th
e 

gr
ee

n 
an

d 
lo

w
 c

ar
bo

n 
ag

en
da

s 
as

 a
 

re
su

lt 
of

 b
ro

ad
er

 R
eg

io
na

l a
nd

 C
ou

nt
y 

cu
ts

 a
ffe

ct
in

g 
or

ga
ni

sa
tio

ns
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

H
or

iz
on

s,
 R

en
ew

ab
le

s 
E

as
t, 

et
c…

 
 

T
o 

pr
om

ot
e 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t 

op
po

rt
un

iti
es

 in
 a

nd
 

ar
ou

nd
 th

e 
m

ar
ke

t t
ow

ns
 

A
ch

ie
ve

m
en

ts
: 

P
la

n
n

in
g

: 
 T

he
 C

ou
nc

il 
ha

s 
no

w
 r

es
ol

ve
d 

to
 s

up
po

rt
 b

ot
h 

th
e 

S
ai

ns
bu

ry
’s

 a
pp

lic
at

io
ns

, f
or

 th
e 

re
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t o
f 

C
he

qu
er

s 
C

ou
rt

 a
nd

 f
or

 th
e 

ne
w

 s
to

re
 in

 H
un

tin
gd

on
 W

es
t, 

su
bj

ec
t t

o
 s

at
is

fa
ct

or
y 

co
m

pl
et

io
n 

of
 th

e 
re

la
te

d 
S

10
6 

an
d 

th
e 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t 

ag
re

em
en

ts
. 

P
os

iti
ve

 p
re

-a
pp

lic
at

io
n 

di
sc

us
si

on
s 

ha
ve

 a
ls

o 
be

en
 h

el
d 

w
ith

 C
hu

rc
hm

an
or

 E
st

at
es

 
re

ga
rd

in
g 

th
ei

r 
ow

n 
m

uc
h 

an
tic

ip
at

ed
 r

ed
ev

el
op

m
en

t p
ro

po
sa

ls
 fo

r 
th

e 
re

m
ai

nd
er

 o
f C

he
qu

er
s 

C
ou

rt
. 

 P
eo

p
le

, P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 &
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
s:

 
 B

us
in

es
s 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t D

is
tr

ic
t (

B
ID

) 
st

ak
eh

ol
de

r 
w

or
ks

ho
ps

 h
el

d,
 s

ur
ve

ys
 u

nd
er

ta
ke

n 
an

d 
re

po
rt

 c
om

pl
et

ed
 b

y 
co

ns
ul

ta
nt

s.
 M

ee
tin

g 
pl

an
ne

d 
fo

r 
m

id
 M

ay
 to

 d
is

cu
ss

 th
e 

w
ay

 fo
rw

ar
d.

 
 

Is
su

es
 o

r 
ac

tio
ns

 
fo

r 
ne

xt
 q

ua
rt

er
: 

  

R
is

ks
: 

P
eo

p
le

, P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 &
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
s:

 
 O

cc
up

an
cy

 o
f t

he
 C

re
at

iv
eX

ch
an

ge
 h

as
 r

ed
uc

ed
 a

nd
 th

e 
nu

m
be

r 
of

 te
na

nt
s 

co
nt

in
ue

s 
to

 d
ec

re
as

e,
 c

ur
re

nt
 r

en
t 

fo
re

ca
st

s 
m

ay
 n

ot
 b

e 
m

et
 u

nl
es

s 
in

co
m

e  
ge

ne
ra

tio
n 

is
 in

cr
ea

se
d.

 A
 m

ee
tin

g 
w

ith
 N

W
E

S
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

ar
ra

ng
ed

. 
 

 

139



140

This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 23RD JUNE 2011 
 

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT 
(Report by the Overview and Scrutiny Panels) 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Panels for Social Well-Being, Economic Well-Being 

and Environmental Well-Being have considered a report by the Head of People, 
Performance and Partnerships on the Council’s performance against its priority 
objectives. This report sets out the Panels’ views on the performance levels 
achieved. 

 
2. COMMENTS 
 
2.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Panels have endorsed the comments of the 

Corporate Plan Working Group, which are reflected in the following paragraphs.  
 

Social Well-Being 
 
2.2 The Working Group has accepted the reason given for the red rating for the 

target relating to affordable housing (commitments) on qualifying sites.  
 
2.3 Members have noted the performance levels achieved by the Council in 

preventing the number of households from becoming homeless. Some concerns 
have been expressed at the potential impact of budgetary cuts on the 
achievement of the aims and objectives of the Homelessness Strategy, which is 
due to be considered by the Cabinet at its meeting on 23rd June 2011. It has, 
however, been noted that the Council has recently approved a New Council Plan 
and “prevent and deal with homelessness” has been endorsed as a Council 
priority. In addition, it has been reported that the Government has announced 
that the Homelessness Prevention Grant paid to Council will continue in 2011/12 
and 2012/13 and may continue for the two following years. Furthermore, the 
grant has increased from £60k pa. to ££84 k pa. Having welcomed this, the 
Panel has indicated that it will look at the impact on the Council of changes to the 
Benefit system, which will reduce the Council’s homelessness prevention 
options. 

 
2.4 Members of the Working Group have noted the performance of the Leisure 

Centres over the reporting period.  
 

Economic Well-Being 
 
2.5 The Panel has noted the red rating for the targets relating to the key activity for 

the performance and delivery of the thematic groups and the submission of 
performance reports to the HSP Executive and HSP Board. This can be 
attributed to the cancellation of partnership meetings over the reporting period, 
including the HSP Executive and HSP Board. The Council’s partnership 
arrangements are currently being reviewed. Members have requested that they 
are involved in the review process. 

141



 
2.6 Further to previous queries raised by the Working Group, the Policy and 

Strategic Services Manager has reported on the level of employee absence from 
sickness experienced at the Council. The number of sick days per employee at 
the Council has been calculated as being 6.8 days, which compares favourably 
with the national and private sector comparisons of 9.6 and 7.7 days 
respectively. 

 
2.7 In noting the amber rating for the measure relating to the proportion of External 

Funding actions that are on track, Members have referred the action which has 
been identified as not being on track to the Social Well-Being Panel’s Voluntary 
Sector Working Group for further investigation. 

 
2.8 With reference to Annex B, the details of the “Make It Your Market” initiative have 

been circulated to Members for information purposes. In particular Members are 
interested in the project’s timescales and the long term benefits of the initiative. 

 
2.9 Clarification has been sought on the meaning of the comment that “Recruitment 

is picking up again” as reported by the Head of People, Performance and 
Partnerships in Annex B of the report. This refers to the fact that a number of 
posts that were being held vacant are now being advertised. 

 
Environmental Well-Being 

 
2.10 In noting the red rating for the proportion of Physical Infrastructure Development 

activities that are on track, the Working Group has received copies of the Local 
Economy Strategy, with a view to looking at this matter.  

 
2.11 Referring to Annex B, Members of the Working Group have queried the means 

by which energy reduction trials at two of the Council’s car parks are being 
undertaken. Information on this has been sought from the Head of Environmental 
Management. 

 
2.12 Whilst noting the achievements reported in Annex B relating to progress with the 

Business Improvement District scheme, clarification has been received by the 
Policy and Strategic Services Manager of the schemes’ objectives. 

 
2.14 In noting the risks reported in Annex B relating to occupancy levels at the 

CreativeXchange in St Neots, the Panel has invited the Head of People, 
Performance and Partnerships to a future meeting to discuss the project and the 
role of Partners within it. It was further agreed that an update should also be 
provided on the St Ives Enterprise Centre. 

 
3. NEW COUNCIL PLAN – FUTURE PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT 
 
3.1 Consideration is currently being given to the Council’s future performance 

monitoring mechanisms for the New Council Plan which was approved in April 
2011. Members have placed on record their wish to continue their involvement 
with the monitoring of the Plan. The actions and targets to be reported in the 
future is being discussed by Chief Officers and Heads of Service.  

 

142



3.2 Comment also has been made upon the impact of the transfer of responsibility of 
public health to the County Council and whether appropriate performance 
monitoring measures and mechanisms are in place? Additionally, the impact of 
this upon the scrutiny of the Local Strategic Partnership in the future has also 
been considered.  

 
3. CONCLUSION 
 
3.1 All three Overview and Scrutiny Panels have reviewed the performance levels 

that the Council has achieved in the period to 31st December 2010. The Cabinet 
is invited to consider the Panels’ comments as part of its deliberations on the 
report by the Head of People, Performance and Partnerships. 

 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
Notes of the Corporate Plan Working Group. 
 
Minutes and Reports of the meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Social Well-
Being), Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Environmental Well-Being) and Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel (Economic Well-Being). 
 
 
Contact Officer: Miss H Ali, Democratic Services Officer 
   � (01480) 388006 
   � Habbiba.Ali@huntingdonshire.gov.uk  
 

143



144

This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET       23rd JUNE 2011 
 
 

REPRESENTATION ON ORGANISATIONS 
(Report by the Head of Legal & Democratic Services) 

 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Council’s representation on a variety of organisations and 

partnerships is reviewed annually.  Listed in the attached schedule 
are those organisations/partnerships to which the Council appoints 
representatives for 2011/12: Part 1 refer to partnerships and Part 2 
to general external bodies/groups. 

 
1.2 A rolling review of partnerships – primarily to ensure that they have 

appropriate governance and contribute to Council or community 
objectives – is in place.  For appointments to organisations, following 
the review of the Council’s democratic structure a number of changes 
have been introduced including cross party consultation and the 
compilation of additional information from organisations as to their 
aims and any implications of representation.  External organisations 
are requested also to provide an induction process for newly 
appointed members. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 The Cabinet are therefore invited to make their nominations where 

required to the organisations referred to in the schedule appended 
hereto. 

 
2.2 In the event that changes or new appointments are required to the 

District Council’s representation during the course of the year, the 
Chief Executive, after consultation with the Deputy Leader and Vice-
Chairman of the Cabinet, be authorised to nominate alternative 
representatives as necessary. 

 
 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
File held in the Administration Division of the Central Services Directorate. 
 
 
Contact Officer: Helen Taylor, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
    (01480) 388008 

Agenda Item 13

145



146

This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

  
 

REPRESENTATION ON ORGANISATIONS 2011/12 -  
Part 1 

 

PARTNERSHIPS Nominating/ 
Appointing Panel 

Approx No. of 
Meetings 
Per Annum 

Allowance Payable 
S – Subsistence 
T - Travelling 

Representative(s) 
2010/2011 

Representative(s) 
2011/2012 HDC Contact Officer 

Cambridgeshire Health, Well-Being 
& Supporting People Member 
Group 

Cabinet   Cllr A Hansard 
(Deputy:  
Cllr L M Simpson 

Cllr R J West Head of Environmental and 
Community Health 
� 388280  

Cambridgeshire Horizons Cabinet 6 S & T Cllr I C Bates Cllr I C Bates July 
meeting thereafter 
Councillor N J Guyatt 

PA to the Executive Leader � 
388002 / Managing Director 
(Communities, Partnerships and 
Projects)� 388301 

Cambridgeshire Older People's 
Partnership Board 

Cabinet 4 S & T Cllr R West No longer need to 
appoint. 

Head of Housing � 388240 
Cambridgeshire Stronger and Safer 
Strategic Board – to be reformed as 
County- wide Community Safety 
Partnership (group subject to 
review) 

Cabinet 3/4  Cllr A Hansard Cllr T D Sanderson Head of Environmental and 
Community Health 
� 388280 

Children’s Trust for Huntingdonshire Cabinet 8 S & T Cllr K J Churchill Councillor P Downes Head of People, Performance & 
Partnerships � 388264 

Consultation on Treasury Matters Cabinet   Cllrs J A Gray,  
T V Rogers and  
L M Simpson 

Cllrs J A Gray, N J 
Guyatt and T V Rogers 

Head of Financial Services 

East of England Local Government 
Association 

Cabinet 4/5   Cllr I C Bates Cllr J D Ablewhite PA to the Executive Leader � 
388002 

Great Fen Project Steering 
Committee 

Cabinet 11 S & T Cllr D B Dew  Cllr D B Dew Head of Planning Services 
Greater Cambridge Partnership 
Board 

Cabinet 4/5 S & T Cllr I C Bates Cllr J D Ablewhite/ N J 
Guyatt 

Head of People, Performance & 
Partnerships � 388264 

147



2 
 

PARTNERSHIPS Nominating/ 
Appointing Panel 

Approx No. of 
Meetings 
Per Annum 

Allowance 
Payable 

S – Subsistence 
T - Travelling 

Representative(s) 
2010/2011 

Representative(s) 
2011/2012 HDC Contact Officer 

Huntingdonshire Local Strategic 
Partnership – 

   Head of People, Performance & 
Partnerships 
� 388264 

 Children and Young 
 People 

6 Cllr K J Churchill Cllr T D Sanderson  
 Economic Prosperity 
 and Skills 

8 Cllr K J Churchill Cllr J D Ablewhite or 
Cllr N J Guyatt 

Head of People, Performance & 
Partnerships 
� 388264 

 Environment Forum 3 Cllr C R Hyams Cllr J A Gray Head of Operations 
� 388635 

 Growth & Infrastructure 4 Cllr D B Dew Cllr N J Guyatt Head of Planning Services � 
388400 

 Health and Well-Being  Cllr A Hansard Cllr T D Sanderson Head of Environmental and 
Community Health Services 
� 388280 

 Inclusive, Safe &  Cohesive 
Communities Group 

Cabinet 

3 

S & T 

Cllr A Hansard Cllr T D Sanderson Head of Environmental and 
Community Health Services 
� 388280 

Huntingdonshire Strategic 
Partnership Board 

Cabinet 4/5 various 
locations – 
hosted by main 
partners 

S & T Cllr I C Bates 
(Deputy:   
Cllr L M Simpson) 

Cllrs J D Ablewhite and 
N J Guyatt 

Head of People, Performance & 
Partnerships 
� 388264 

Local Area Agreement Board for 
Cambridgeshire 

Cabinet 6 S & T Leader of the Council Leader of the Council Managing Director (Communities, 
Partnerships and Projects)� 
388301 

Neighbourhood Management Group -      
 Eynesbury 6 S & T Cllr A Hansard Cllr A Hansard Community Health Manager � 

388377 
 North Huntingdon (including 

the Oxmoor SRB Project 
Area and additional targeted 
areas in the North & East 
Huntingdon) 

Cabinet 6 S & T Cllrs J J Dutton and 
L M Simpson  
 

Cllrs J J Dutton and A 
Mckender-Lawrence 

Community Health Manager � 
388377 

148



3 
 

PARTNERSHIPS Nominating/ 
Appointing Panel 

Approx No. of 
Meetings 
Per Annum 

Allowance 
Payable 

S – Subsistence 
T - Travelling 

Representative(s) 
2010/2011 

Representative(s) 
2011/2012 HDC Contact Officer 

Neighbourhood Forums 
(formerly – Neighbourhood Policing 
Panels) 

    

 Huntingdon 4 Cllr T D Sanderson Cllr S Akthar Senior Democratic Services Officer 
� 388008 

 North-West Huntingdonshire 4 Cllr E R Butler Cllr E R Butler Senior Democratic Services Officer 
� 388008 

 Ramsey 4 Cllr P L E Bucknell Cllr P L E Bucknell Senior Democratic Services Officer 
� 388008 

 St Ives 4 Cllr J W Davies Cllr J W Davies Senior Democratic Services Officer 
� 388008 

 St Neots 

Cabinet 

4 

S & T 

Cllr B S Chapman Cllr R S Farrer Senior Democratic Services Officer 
� 388008 

Recycling in Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Board  
(formerly Waste Management and 
Environment Forum) 

Cabinet 6 S & T Cllr C R Hyams Cllr J A Gray Head of Operations � 388635 

St Neots Connect 2 Steering Group Cabinet 4 S & T Cllrs R S Farrer, 
A Hansard 
S M van de Kerkhove 
and  
Mrs M J Thomas 

Cllrs R S Farrer, A 
Hansard, S M Van de 
Kerkhove and Ms P 
Longford 

Transportation Team Leader 
� 388387 
 

Supporting People Joint Member 
Group 

Cabinet 4 S & T Cllr A Hansard Cllr T D Sanderson Head of Housing Services  
� 388240 

 
 
Part 2 
 
 

ORGANISATION Nominating/ 
Appointing Panel 

Approx No. of 
Meetings 
Per Annum 

Allowance Payable 
S – Subsistence 
T - Travelling 

Representative(s) 
2010/2011 

Representative(s) 
2011/2012 HDC Contact Officer 

Cambridgeshire Chambers of 
Commerce –  
Huntingdonshire Area 

Cabinet  S & T Cllr K J Churchill Cllr J D Ablewhite  Head of People, Performance & 
Partnerships 

Cromwell Museum Management Cttee Cabinet 2 S & T Cllrs M G Baker and  
Mr J Morgan 

Cllrs M G Baker and  
Mr J Morgan 

Senior Democratic Services Officer 
�388008 

149



4 
 

ORGANISATION Nominating/ 
Appointing Panel 

Approx No. of 
Meetings 
Per Annum 

Allowance 
Payable 

S – Subsistence 
T - Travelling 

Representative(s) 
2010/2011 

Representative(s) 
2011/2012 HDC Contact Officer 

Domestic Homicide Review  Panel     Cllrs C R Hyams and D 
B Dew 

Head of Environmental and 
Community Health Services 
� 388280 

Envar Ltd, St Ives Composting 
Facility – Site Liaison Forum 

Cabinet  S & T Cllr M F Newman Cllr M F Bull Head of Environmental and 
Community Health Services 
� 388280 

Home Improvement Agency – 
Advisory Committee 

Cabinet 4/5 S & T Cllr A Hansard Cllr N J Guyatt Head of Housing Services  
� 388240 

Huntingdon Business Against Crime Cabinet 4 S & T Mr J M Sadler 
Cllr K M Baker 

Cllr Mackender-
Lawrence 

Head of Environmental and 
Community Health Services 
� 388280 

Huntingdon Freemen's’ Charity Cabinet 11 S & T Mr J D Fell 
(until 10.05.14) 

Mr J D Fell Senior Democratic Services Officer 
� 388008  

Huntingdonshire Citizens’ Advice 
Bureau**** 

Cabinet General Meeting 
– 4 
Trustee Board – 
12 

S & T Cllr T V Rogers  
(General Meeting) and  
Cllr T D Sanderson 
Cllr L M Simpson 
(Trustee Board) 

Cllr T V Rogers 
(General Meeting) and 
Mr L M Simpson 
(Trustee Board) 

Community Health Manager � 
388377 

Huntingdonshire Flood Forum Cabinet 2 S & T Cllr J A Gray Cllr J A Gray Project and Assets Manager � 
388383 

Huntingdonshire Informal Adult 
Learning 

Cabinet 6 S & T Cllr L M Simpson No input from HDC 
required from now on 

Head of People, Performance and 
Partnerships 
� 388264 

Huntingdonshire Volunteer Centre - 
 
 District 

 
 
5 & AGM 

 
 
S & T 

 
 
Cllr D Harty 

 
 
Cllr D Harty/ Mr L M 
Simpson 

 
Cabinet 

    

Community Health Manager � 
388377 

150



5 
 

ORGANISATION Nominating/ 
Appointing Panel 

Approx No. of 
Meetings 
Per Annum 

Allowance 
Payable 

S – Subsistence 
T - Travelling 

Representative(s) 
2010/2011 

Representative(s) 
2011/2012 HDC Contact Officer 

Internal Drainage Boards – 
 

     
  Alconbury and Ellington 4 S & T Cllrs K M Baker, 

M G Baker, 
L M Simpson 
Messrs C Allen and 
 E K Heads 

Cllrs K M Baker, M G 
Baker, Messrs C 
Allen, E K Heads and 
L M Simpson 

Project and Assets Manager 
� 388383 

  Benwick 2 S & T Mr I Lack Mr P Lummis Project and Assets Manager � 
388383 

  Bluntisham 2 S & T Mr I Lack Mr P Lummis Project and Assets Manager � 
388383 

  Conington and Holme 1/2 S & T Cllrs P G Mitchell and 
J S Watt together with  
Mr C Allen 

Cllrs P G Mitchell and 
J S Watt together with  
Mr C Allen 

Project and Assets Manager � 
388383 

  Ramsey First (Hollow) 2 S & T Mr I Lack Mr N Orr Project and Assets Manager � 
388383 

  Ramsey Fourth  
  (Middle Moor) 

2 S & T Cllr P A Swales and  
Mr I Lack 

Cllr P A Swales and Mr 
N Orr 

Project and Assets Manager � 
388383 

  Ramsey, Upwood and  
  Great Raveley 

4 S & T Cllrs P A Swales and P 
L E Bucknell and Mr C 
Allen 

Cllrs P A Swales and P 
L E Bucknell and Mr C 
Allen 

Project and Assets Manager � 
388383 

  Sawtry 1 S & T Cllrs R G Tuplin and 
D Tysoe,  
Mr C Allen,  ***  
Chairman of Sawtry 
Parish Council and 
Mrs J Day 

Cllrs R G Tuplin and 
D Tysoe,  
Mr C Allen,  ***  
Chairman of Sawtry 
Parish Council and  Mrs 
J Day 

Project and Assets Manager � 
388383 

  Sutton and Mepal 2 S & T Mr I Lack Mr P Lummis Project and Assets Manager � 
388383 

  The Ramsey 4 S & T Cllrs E R Butler,  
P A Swales and 
Mr I Lack 

Cllrs E R Butler, P A 
Swales and Mr N Orr 

Project and Assets Manager � 
388383 

  Warboys, Somersham 
 and Pidley 

4 S & T Cllrs P M D Godfrey, 
M F Newman and 
Mr I Lack  

Cllrs P M D Godfrey, 
and Mr P Lummis 
Mr M F Newman or Cllr 
M F Bull 

Project and Assets Manager � 
388383 

  Whittlesey 4 S & T Mr C Allen Mr C Allen Project and Assets Manager � 
388383 

  Woodwalton 

Cabinet 

1/2 S & T Cllr M F Newman Mr M F Newman or Cllr 
M F Bull 

Project and Assets Manager � 
388383 

Little Gransden Aerodrome 
Consultative Committee 

Cabinet 2 S & T Cllr R J West Cllr R J West Head of Planning Services 
 � 388400 

151



6 
 

ORGANISATION Nominating/ 
Appointing Panel 

Approx No. of 
Meetings 
Per Annum 

Allowance 
Payable 

S – Subsistence 
T - Travelling 

Representative(s) 
2010/2011 

Representative(s) 
2011/2012 HDC Contact Officer 

Local Government Association – 
Rural Commission 

Cabinet 2 S & T Cllr K M Baker Cllr K M Baker Managing Director (Communities, 
Partnerships and Projects)� 
388301 

Luminus Homes  Cabinet 8 S & T Cllrs M G Baker,  
Mrs M Banerjee, and  
P K Ursell, 
Mr K Stukins and 
Mr K Walters 

Cllrs M G Baker, C R 
Hyams, P K Ursell, Mr 
Stukins and Mr L M 
Simpson. 

Head of Housing Services  
� 388240 

     
       Luminus group (parent) 5 Cllr K M Baker Mr L M Simpson Head of Housing Services  

� 388240 
        Oak Foundation 

 (sheltered/charitable)    

Cabinet 
3 

S & T 
Cllr P Godley Cllr P Godley Head of Housing Services  

� 388240 
Middle Level Commissioners Cabinet 2 (and Annual 

Inspection) 
S & T Mrs J Day Cllr P Mitchell Project and Assets Manager � 

388383 
National Sailing Academy Project 
Committee at Grafham Water 
Centre 

Cabinet 4 at Grafham S & T Mr A H Duberly Mr A H Duberly Senior Democratic Services Officer 
� 388008 

Oxmoor Community Action Group 
(OCAG) 

Cabinet  S & T Cllr. J J Dutton Cllr J J Dutton Community Health Manager � 
388377 

Pensions Consultative Group Cabinet 2/3 S & T Cllr T V Rogers Cllr T V Rogers Head of Financial Services  
� 388103 

Ramsey Market Town Strategy 
Member Steering Group 

Cabinet 4/6 S& T Cllrs P L E Bucknell 
and E R Butler 
and P A Swales 

No longer meeting Team Leader, Transportation � 
388387 

Red Tile Wind Farm Trust Fund Ltd 
(formerly Red Tile Wind Farm 
Community Fund) 

Cabinet 4 S & T Cllr P L E Bucknell Cllr P L E Bucknell Head of Environmental and 
Community Health Services 
� 388280 

Road Safety Committees –     
  Norman Cross Area  12 Cllrs E R Butler and  

J S Watt 
Cllrs E R Butler and J S 
Watt 

Team Leader, Transportation �  
388387 

  St. Ives Area  Cabinet 6 S & T Cllrs, M F Newman and  
T V Rogers and  
Mrs J Chandler 

Cllrs G Bull and T V 
Rogers and Mrs J 
Chandler 

Team Leader, Transportation � 
388387 

152



7 
 

ORGANISATION Nominating/ 
Appointing Panel 

Approx No. of 
Meetings 
Per Annum 

Allowance Payable 
S – Subsistence 
T - Travelling 

Representative(s) 
2010/2011 

Representative(s) 
2011/2012 HDC Contact Officer 

Stilton Children and Young People's 
Facilities Association 

Cabinet 6 S & T  Cllr P G Mitchell Cllr P G Mitchell Community Health Manager � 
388377 

Town Centre Initiatives Liaison 
Group 

Cabinet 2  Cllr S Cawley 
(Deputy:   
L M Simpson 

Cllr J D Davies Head of People, Performance and 
Partnerships 
� 388264 

Town Centre Management 
Initiatives/Partnerships/ 
Management Team – 

    
Head of Planning Services � 
388400 

 Huntingdon Town Partnership 11 Cllr S Cawley Cllr S Cawley  
 Ramsey Initiative 12 Cllr P A Swales Cllr P A Swales Head of People, Performance and 

Partnerships 
� 388264 

 St Ives Town Initiative 12 Cllr D Dew Cllr J D Davies Head of People, Performance and 
Partnerships 
� 388264 

 St Neots Town Centre 
Management Team 

Cabinet 

6 

S & T 

Cllr. Mrs M J Thomas Cllr P Longford Head of Financial Services 
�388103 

Trustees of Kimbolton School 
Foundation (3 year term expires 
June 2014) 

Cabinet 3 S & T Cllr J A Gray Cllr J A Gray Senior Democratic Services Officer 
� 388008 

Cambridgeshire Consultative Group 
for the Fletton Brickworks Industry 

Licensing  S & T Cllr E R Butler 
 

Cllr E R Butler Head of Environmental and 
Community Health Services - � 
388280 

Little Barford Power Station Liaison 
Committee 

Licensing  S & T Cllr A Hansard 
 

Cllr A Hansard 
 

Head of Environmental and 
Community Health Services- � 
388280 

Needingworth Quarry Local Liaison 
Committee 

Licensing  S & T Cllr T V Rogers and 
Cllr P M D Godfrey 
 

Cllr T V Rogers and 
Cllr P M D Godfrey 
 

Head of Environmental and 
Community Health  Services – 
 � 388280 

Warboys Landfill Local Liaison 
Committee 

Licensing  S & T Cllr P L E Bucknell 
 

Cllr P L E Bucknell 
 

Head of Environmental and 
Community Health Services- � 
388280 

 
 
*** Nomination should be Chairman of Sawtry Parish Council and not named individual. 
**** In nominating two representatives to the Bureau in this way the District Council is accepting its responsibilities as a member organisation 
 
 
 

 

 

153



154

T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	3 Consultation on Planning for Travellers Sites by the Local Government Department
	Report on Traveller PPS consultation O&S COMMENTS

	4 Local Enterprise  Partnership - Proposed Enterprise Zone
	5 Preliminary draft Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule
	B CIL Draft 13-06-2011
	C Huntingdonshire Infrastructure Project List Cabinet June 2011
	Report on CIL - O&S COMMENTS

	6 Homelessness Strategy
	Homelessness Strategy - Cabinet version June 2011

	7 Shared Home Improvement Agency Services
	8 One Leisure Finance
	9 Use of Consultants
	10 Consultation processes
	11 Performance management
	O&S PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT REPORT

	13 Representation on Organisations 2011/12
	Reps on Organisations 2011 to 12 updated 21 04 11


